
Agenda

City Executive Board

Date: Monday 8 August 2016

Time: 5.00 pm

Place: St Aldate's Room, Town Hall

For any further information please contact: 
Sarah Claridge, Committee and Member Services Officer
Telephone: 01865 529920
Email: executiveboard@oxford.gov.uk

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the 
Contact Officer know how you wish to do this before the start of the meeting.



HOW TO OBTAIN A COPY OF THE AGENDA

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no 
longer produce paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum requirements. 
Paper copies may be looked at the Town Hall Reception and at Customer Services, 
St Aldate’s.

A copy of the agenda may be:-
- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk
- Downloaded from our website
- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk

City Executive Board
Membership

Chair Councillor Bob Price Corporate Strategy and Economic 
Development

Councillor Ed Turner Finance,  Asset Management and 
Public Health

Councillor Susan Brown Customer and Corporate Services
Councillor Alex Hollingsworth Planning and Regulatory Services
Councillor Pat Kennedy Young People, Schools and Skills
Councillor Mike Rowley Housing
Councillor Christine Simm Culture and Communities
Councillor Dee Sinclair Community Safety
Councillor Linda Smith Leisure, Parks and Sport
Councillor John Tanner A Clean and Green Oxford

The quorum for this meeting is three, substitutes are not allowed.

Future items to be discussed by the City Executive Board can be found on the Forward Plan 
which is available on the Council’s website

http://10.206.136.158/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=345&RD=0
http://10.206.136.158/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=345&RD=0


AGENDA

PART ONE
PUBLIC BUSINESS

Pages

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

3  ADDRESSES AND QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
(15 MINUTES TOTAL)
Members of the public can submit questions in writing about any item 
for decision at the meeting. Questions, stating the relevant agenda 
item, must be received by the Head of Law and Governance by 
9.30am two clear working day before the meeting (eg for a Thursday 
meeting, the deadline would be 9.30am on the Tuesday). Questions 
can be submitted either by letter or by email 
(executiveboard@oxford.gov.uk).

Answers to the questions will be provided in writing at the meeting; 
supplementary questions will not be allowed. If it is not possible to 
provide an answer at the meeting it will be included in the minutes that 
are published on the Council’s website within 2 working days of the 
meeting.

The Chair has discretion in exceptional circumstances to agree that a 
submitted question or related statement (dealing with matters that 
appear on the agenda) can be asked verbally at the meeting. In these 
cases, the question and/or address is limited to 3 minutes, and will be 
answered verbally by the Chair or another Board member or an officer 
of the Council. The text of any proposed address must be submitted 
within the same timescale as questions.

For this agenda item the Chair’s decision is final.

4  COUNCILLOR ADDRESSES ON ANY ITEM FOR DECISION ON 
THE BOARD'S AGENDA
Oxford City Councillors may, when the Chair agrees, address the 
Board on an item for decision on the agenda (other than on the 
minutes). The member seeking to make an address must notify the 
Head of Law and Governance by no later than 9.30am at least one 
clear working day before the meeting stating the relevant agenda 
items. An address may last for no more than three minutes. If an 
address is made, the Board member who has political responsibility for 
the item for decision may respond or the Board will have regard to the 
points raised in reaching its decision.

mailto:executiveboard@oxford.gov.uk


5  COUNCILLOR ADDRESSES ON NEIGHBOURHOOD ISSUES (10 
MINUTES IN TOTAL)
At each meeting 10 minutes is available for any City Councillor to raise 
local issues on behalf of communities directly with the Board. The 
member seeking to make an address must notify the Head of Law and 
Governance by 9.30am at least one clear working day before the 
meeting, giving outline details of the issue. Priority will be given to 
those members who have not already addressed the Board within the 
year and in the order received. Issues can only be raised once unless 
otherwise agreed by the Board. The Board’s responsibility will be to 
hear the issue and respond at the meeting, if possible, or arrange a 
written response within 10 working days.

6  SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORTS
None

7  ITEMS RAISED BY BOARD MEMBERS
Items must be submitted within the same timescales as questions and 
will be for discussion only and not for a board decision. Any item which 
requires a decision of the Board will be the subject of a report to a 
future meeting of the Board.

8  HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 9 - 212

Lead Member: Councillor Hollingsworth, Executive Board Member for 
Planning and Regulatory Services
The Head of Planning and Regulatory has submitted a report to 
endorse the consultation required by regulations for the Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan.

Recommendations: That the City Executive Board resolves to:

1. AGREE that the legal tests have been met. 
2. ENDORSE the consultation on the submitted Headington 

Neighbourhood Plan 
3. PROCEED with the neighbourhood planning process by submitting 

with the outcome of the consultation exercise, the draft plan for 
independent examination

9  FURTHER LOAN FACILITY TO LOW CARBON HUB IPS 213 - 218

Lead Member: Councillor Turner, Executive Board Member for 
Finance, Asset Management and Public Health
The Chief Executive has submitted a report to consider the approval of 
a loan to the Low Carbon Hub (IPS) to support the construction of the 
hydroelectric renewable energy scheme at Sandford and to mitigate 
the clawback risk around the Intelligent Energy Europe grant 
arrangements.



Recommendations: That the City Executive Board resolves to:

1. Agree a loan to the Low Carbon Hub IPS of up to £100k at an 
interest rate of 1% for 3 years specifically to support the 
construction of the hydroelectric scheme at Sandford.  

2. Delegate the authority to enter into an appropriate loan agreement 
with the Low Carbon Hub (IPS) to the Section 151 Officer in 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer and Chief Executive.

10  MINUTES 219 - 226

Minutes of the meeting held on 14 July 2016

Recommendation: The City Executive Board NOTES the minutes of 
the meeting held on 14 July 2016 as a true and accurate record.

11  MATTERS EXEMPT FROM PUBLICATION
If the Board wishes to exclude the press and the public from the 
meeting during consideration of any of the items on the exempt from 
publication part of the agenda, it will be necessary for the Board to 
pass a resolution in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 
21(1)(b) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2000 on the grounds that their 
presence could involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
described in specific paragraphs of Schedule I2A of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

The Board may maintain the exemption if and so long as, in all the 
circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

PART TWO
MATTERS EXEMPT FROM PUBLICATION

12  CONFIDENTIAL APPENDIX_  LOAN FOR THE CARBON HUB 227 - 228

Lead Member: Councillor Turner, Executive Board Member for 
Finance, Corporate Asset Management and Public Health

This is exempt from publication by virtue of Paragraph 5, Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 for the following 
reasons: 

• Information in which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings.



DECLARING INTERESTS

General duty

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you.

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licences for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website.

Declaring an interest

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest.

If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed.

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public.

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself 
but also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or 
as if they were civil partners.



a)
b)



This page is intentionally left blank



.

To: City Executive Board
Date: 8 August 2016
Report of: Head of Planning and Regulatory Services 
Title of Report: Headington Neighbourhood Plan 

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To endorse the consultation required by regulations for 

the Headington Neighbourhood Plan 
Key decision: Yes
Executive Board 
Member:

Councillor Hollingsworth, Board Member for Planning and 
Regulatory Services 

Corporate Priority: None
Policy Framework: None

Recommendations: That the City Executive Board resolves to:

1. AGREE that the legal tests have been met. 
2. ENDORSE the consultation on the submitted Headington Neighbourhood 

Plan 

3 PROCEED with the neighbourhood planning process by submitting with the 
outcome of the consultation exercise, the draft plan for independent 
examination

Appendices
Appendix 1 Map of Neighbourhood Plan Area 
Appendix 2 Submission Materials Accompanying Neighbourhood Plan 
Appendix 3 Proposed Timetable to Referendum 
Appendix 4 Risk Register 

Introduction and background 
1. The Localism Act introduced new rights and powers to enable communities to get 

directly involved in planning for their areas.  Neighbourhood planning allows 
interested communities to come together through a Neighbourhood Forum to 
produce a neighbourhood plan.  Once a neighbourhood plan is adopted or ‘made’ it 

9

Agenda Item 8



will become part of the statutory development plan, and therefore an important 
consideration when making decisions on planning applications.

2. Regulations set out the requirements for the process prior to submission of a 
neighbourhood plan and once a neighbourhood plan is submitted.  

3. The draft neighbourhood plan was submitted by the Headington Neighbourhood 
Forum on 13 June 2016.  The contents of the Headington Neighbourhood Plan, 
has been shaped by the local community.  The draft plan and submission materials 
received are set out at Appendix 2.  The draft neighbourhood plan is for the area 
formally designated on 23 April 2014.  A map of this area is shown in Appendix 1.  

4. It is worth noting that the Plan as submitted has been produced by the Headington 
Neighbourhood Forum.  It is not the role of the City Council at this stage, to 
comment on the content of the Headington Neighbourhood Plan.  The City Council 
will be given the opportunity to provide comments and representations on the 
content of the plan as part of the consultation which it is recommended that the City 
Executive Board endorse.

Programme Timetable for the Headington Neighbourhood Plan 
5. Appendix 3 shows the proposed timetable going forward.  The reason for the 

Headington Neighbourhood Plan coming to this City Executive Board meeting is 
that it enables, potentially and should the timetable run to plan, a referendum that 
coincides with the elections in May 2017.  There are risks to the timetable and 
these are set out in the risk register at Appendix 4. 

Compliance 
6. On receipt of a draft Neighbourhood Plan the Council must consider whether the 

body that submitted it is authorised to do so.  The Headington Neighbourhood 
Forum was designated for this purpose by a prior meeting of CEB so is authorised.  
The Council must also consider whether any relevant regulations relating to that 
authorisation are complied with.  There is no relevant breach of regulations. 

7. The Council is required to consider whether the regulations made concerning 
neighbourhood planning have been complied with.

8. The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 include the supporting 
documentation that must be included when a Neighbourhood Plan has been 
submitted.  These documents are: 

 a map or statement which identifies the area to which the proposed 
neighbourhood development plan relates; 

 a consultation statement – which contains details of those consulted, how 
they were consulted, summarises the main issues and concerns raised and how 
these have been considered, and where relevant addressed in the proposed 
neighbourhood plan; 

 the proposed neighbourhood development plan; and 

 a statement explaining how the proposed neighbourhood development 
plan meets the ‘basic conditions’, i.e. requirements of paragraph 8 of Schedule 
4B to the 1990 Act;

10



a statement of reasons for determination under regulation 9(1) of the 
Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 that the 
proposal is unlikely to have significant environmental effects; 

 a Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening statement. 

9. The submission materials provided are attached in Appendix 2 and a map of the 
area is provided at Appendix 1.  

10. Officers are of the view that the submission materials meet those regulatory 
requirements.  It is important to note that the issue is whether these documents 
have been submitted, nothing more.  The Council is not, at this point, considering 
issues such as whether it agrees that the ‘basic conditions’ have been met.  If the 
Council is satisfied that it has received the required documents it is required to 
publicise the Plan proposal inviting representations which will be taken into account 
in the independent examination of the draft Plan.  

11. In addition to this, it is important that the Neighbourhood Plan has been produced 
in accordance with the requirements of the 2012 Regulations.  The previous 
statutory stage “Pre-submission consultation and publicity” requires that, before 
submitting a plan or proposal to the local planning authority, a qualifying body must: 

 Publicise, in a manner that is likely to bring to the attention of people who 
live, work or carry on business in the area – 

- Details of the proposal for a neighbourhood development plan; 
- Details of where and when the proposals for a neighbourhood 
development plan may be inspected; 
- Details of how to make representations; 
- The date by which those representations must be received being not less 
than 6 weeks from the date on which the draft plan is first publicised; 

 Consult any consultation body referred to in paragraph 1 of schedule 1 
whose interests the qualifying body considers may be affected by the proposals 
for a neighbourhood development plan; 
 Send a copy of the proposals for a neighbourhood development plan to 
the local planning authority.  

Pre-submission Consultation 
12. The consultation statement outlines the details of the various consultation stages 

including the statutory consultation stage.  
13. City Council officers have checked the submission material and are confident that 

all the relevant documentation is in order.  In legislative terms, officers are able to 
recommend that submission has ‘satisfied’ the requirements of the regulations.  
The plan was publicised in accordance with the Regulations. The City Council has 
been consulted and has provided input to the process through an on-going 
dialogue including meetings and email correspondence which has resulted in 
amendments and improvements to policies in the plan.

11



14. If the Council is satisfied that these requirements have been complied with it must 
notify the Headington Neighbourhood Forum and make arrangements for the 
independent examination of the draft Plan. 

Contents of the Plan 
15. The plan itself contains a vision for Headington.  The vision for the plan is as 

follows: 
Headington Neighbourhood Plan celebrates the diversity and identity of 
Headington.  Working with our partners and neighbours we plan to balance the 
opportunities in Headington to provide a healthy, positive and vibrant environment 
for people to live, work and study in.”

16. The plan also contains three objectives for the plan.  These are as follows: 

 Improving the quality of life for residents, workers and students;

 Establishing and promoting an identity which embraces the diverse nature of 
Headington; 

 Fostering beneficial development.
17. The plan contains two types of policies.  The first are planning policies which will, 

once adopted, form part of the statutory development plan for the area.  Planning 
policies have been labelled ‘P’ (i.e. TRP is a Transport Spatial Planning Policy). 

18. The second type of policies, are community policies.  These will not form part of the 
development plan, once adopted, and relate to the delivery of change within 
Headington.  Community Policies are distinctly labelled as ‘C’ (i.e. HGC is a 
Housing Community Policy) in order to set them apart from the planning policies.  

19. The Headington Neighbourhood Plan contains policies to guide the development of 
the Headington Neighbourhood Area.  The policy covers six different areas: 

 Green Spaces and Amenity (planning and community policies)

 Business and Retail (community policies only) 

 Character and Identity (planning and community policies)

 Education (planning policies only) 

 Housing (community policies only) 

 Transport (planning and community policies)
20. The Headington Neighbourhood Plan does not contain any site allocations.  
21. At this stage the role of the City Council is to be ‘satisfied’ that the legal 

requirements have been met.  The City Council will have the opportunity to provide 
comments on the content of the plan as part of the six week consultation stage 
following endorsement from CEB.  The types of comments that the City Council is 
likely to be providing will relate to the following : 

- Ensuring that the policies within the Headington Neighbourhood Plan 
align with both Oxford’s adopted Local Plan and future proofing them in 
order to ensure they do not prejudice the forthcoming Local Plan 2036. 

12



22. Our work with the Neighbourhood Forum has already led to the transformation of 
the Housing Planning Policy to a Community Policy where the Neighbourhood 
Forum will be raising awareness of the issue of the need for Key Worker Housing in 
the Local Plan 2036. 

Linkages between the Local Plan and the Neighbourhood Plan 
23. The Headington Neighbourhood Plan, once adopted (or ‘made’) will form part of the 

statutory development plan framework.  As such it will be considered alongside the 
existing Local Plan.  The National Planning Policy Framework provides that it is the 
most recent development plan document that takes precedence.  Therefore once 
made, the Headington Neighbourhood Plan will take precedence over the existing 
Local Plan if there is a non-strategic policy conflict. 

Environmental Impact 
24. A combined Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitat Regulations 

Assessment Screening Statement, has been submitted as part of the supporting 
evidence.  The conclusions of this statement consider that the Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan is unlikely to have significant environmental effects on the 
environment.  It also concludes that it is unlikely to impact on the Oxford Meadows 
SAC.  The accuracy or adequacy of these documents is to be assessed in 
subsequent parts of the neighbourhood planning process.  

Financial Implications 
25. The City Council must consult on the draft Plan, organise an examination and run 

the referendum.  These requirements will be met from the current resources of the 
Planning Policy Team supplemented by grants available from central government 
to district councils for each neighbourhood plan. 

26. It should also be noted that, on adoption of a neighbourhood plan, the local 
community will be entitled to an increase in the Neighbourhood Proportion of the 
CIL receipts that are to be spent in the locality with community input.  This will rise 
from 15% of CIL receipts to 25% of CIL receipts.  The City Council will retain all the 
CIL monies but engage with the communities where the development has taken 
place and agree with them how best to spend the neighbourhood funding element.  

Legal Issues 
27.   Officers consider that the information submitted by the Neighbourhood Forum is 

sufficient for the City Council to be “satisfied” and for the consultation to proceed 
and that the other statutory requirements are met so that, with the benefit of the 
outcome of that consultation, the draft Plan is to be submitted for independent 
examination. 

Level of risk
28. The risk register is attached at Appendix 4.  There are several risks associated with 

undertaking this timetable.  These are as follows: 
- The timetable assumes an examination that is undertaken by written 

representations and takes six weeks for the examiner to complete.  This 
is an unknown element of the timetable.  Depending on the amount of 

13



representations, and their complexity, the examination could take longer 
than the six weeks in the timetable.  The City Council has no control over 
this element of the timetable.  The six week period is a best-guess 
estimate from information provided from conversations with other local 
authorities who have produced neighbourhood plans and from information 
provided by Planning Aid on the likely length of examinations.  If the 
examiner decides that the Neighbourhood Plan should take place via 
hearing sessions, this length of time could be up to three months.  The 
majority of neighbourhood plans are undertaken by written 
representations; however it is necessary to highlight this as a potential 
risk to the timetable. 

- The timetable means that there is an overlap of one day between the end 
of one of the legal challenge periods – the CEB Decision Notice legal 
challenge period - and the start of the consultation on the referendum.  If 
there was a legal challenge at this stage then it is possible that the 
referendum would not go ahead as planned in May.  However the fact 
that the periods overlap would not preclude the fact that a legal challenge 
could come in at the end of the legal challenge period and if a legal 
challenge arose at this stage then we would have to deal with it, 
regardless of whether the periods overlapped or not. 

- There are several other risks to the timetable including only having three 
weeks for the City Council to agree any modifications to the 
Neighbourhood Plan with the Neighbourhood Forum once the Inspector’s 
Report is received.  Any delay in the receipt of the Inspector’s Report 
would reduce this period, which is currently set at 3 weeks.   If we stick to 
this timetable then the City Council requests that key representatives from 
the Neighbourhood Forum are available between the start of the week 
commencing 21 November 2016 until the end of the week commencing 5 
December 2016 for detailed discussions on any potential changes that 
the examiner recommends as part of their report.  

- With any plan that is written, there is a risk that it will not be found sound.  
If following the examination period, this is the case, then the plan would 
need to be resubmitted and the process started again.

Equalities Impact 
29. Consideration has been given to the public sector equality duty imposed by s149 of 

the Equalities Act 2010.  Having paid due regard to the need to meet the objectives 
of that duty the view is taken that the duty is met.  The consultation meets the 
requirements of the Statement of Community Involvement for Planning, which has 
undergone its own Equalities Impact Assessment.  Again, the impact of the Plan on 
these issues would be a matter for subsequent parts of the neighbourhood 
planning process

14



Report author Richard Wyatt

Job title Planner (Planning Policy)
Service area or department Planning Policy 
Telephone 01865 252704
e-mail rwyatt@oxford.gov.uk 

Background Papers: None

15

mailto:rwyatt@oxford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

HEADINGTON
NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM

(headingtonplan.org.uk)

CONSULTATION
STATEMENT

FOR OXFORD CITY COUNCIL 

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Consultation Statement

19



DOCUMENT CONTROL SHEET

HNF Document Control Sheet

Document Title HNF Consultation Statement

Draft Number v.4

Task Group and Authors Project Manager

Date of Version 6. July 2016

Status Final Draft

Date of Public Issue

Visibility For Oxford City Council official Consultation 

File Type PDF

File Name HNF Consultation Statement edit 6-7-16

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Consultation Statement

20



CONTENT

1. Introduction
2. Issues and Options Consultation 
3. Business Consulation
4. Draft Plan Consultation
5. Statutory Consultees Consultation
6. Conclusion 

Supporting Documents

Annex 1 – Community Engagement Strategy
Annex 2 – Issues and Options Consultation Report
Annex 3 – Draft Plan Consultation Responses and Feedback
Annex 4 – Steering Committee Meeting Notes in Response to Statutory Consultees Responses
Annex 5 – Statutory Consultee Responses Collated

Appendix 1 – Letter sent to Stakeholders
Appendix 2 – List of Businesses, Social and Community Organisations Consulted

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Consultation Statement

21



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1.  This Consultation Statement has been prepared to fulfil the legal obligations of the 
Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012.  Section 15(2) of Part 5 of the Regulations sets out what a 
Consultation Statement should contain: 

(a) contains details of the persons and bodies who were consulted about the proposed 
neighbourhood development plan; 
(b) explains how they were consulted; 
(c) summarises the main issues and concerns raised by the persons consulted; 
(d) describes how these issues and concerns have been considered and, where relevant, 
addressed in the proposed neighbourhood development plan. 

1.2. At the start of the process Headington Neighbourhood Forum (HNF) identified the 
importance of consultation, and produced a Community Engagement Strategy (Annex 1) to guide 
their consultation process. Following on from this, a much greater level of consultation has been 
undertaken than the legislation requires, and this is set out in detail in the reports that are submitted 
in support of this Consultation Statement.  It is not the intention of this Consultation Statement to 
replicate what is in these detailed reports. 

1.3. The aims of the Headington Neighbourhood Plan consultation process were: 
 to ‘front-load’ consultation, so that the Plan was informed by the views of local people and 

other stakeholders from the start of the neighbourhood planning process; 
 to ensure that consultation events took place at critical points in the process where 

decisions needed to be taken; 
 to engage with as wide a range of people as possible, using a variety of events and 

communication techniques; and 
 to ensure that results of consultation were fed back to local people and available to read 

(on the website) as soon as possible after the consultation events. 

1.4. Continuous engagement of various stakeholders has taken place throughout the 
neihgbourhood planning process, and has involved meetings, workshops and other events with the 
following consultees:

◦ Headington Forward (Oxford Brookes University, Oxford University, Oxford University 
Health Trust, Oxford Health Trust)

◦ Local Residents Associations and Groups
◦ Headington Neighbourhood Forum meetings which have been open to residents
◦ Oxford City Council

1.5. Formal consultation was undertaken by the Forum members of the Headington 
Neighbourhood Forum, with some facilitation provided by Symons Consulting.  Formal consultation 
events took place at the following stages in the neighbourhood planning process:
 

 an Issues and Options Consultation from September 2014 to October 2014 – 6 weeks;
 a series of focus groups with local businesses during October 2014;
 a statutory consultation stage in accordance with Regulation 14 on the draft Plan between 

30th May 2015 and 16th July 2015; and

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Consultation Statement

22



 a further consultation with statutory consultees in accordance in accordance with 
Regulation 14 on the draft Plan between 7th December 2015 and 25th January 2016.

1.6. This Consultation Statement provides an overview of each of the above stages of 
consultation in accordance with Section 15(2) of Part 5 of the Regulations.  Full details are provided in
the reports that support the Consultation Statement. 

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Consultation Statement

23



2. ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION

2.1. The Issues and Options Consultation was launched on the 11th September 2014, once the 
Forum had been officially designated by Oxford City Council. Although not a statutory requirement of 
the neighbourhood planning process under the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012, the 
consultation lasted until 24th October 2014, following the standard 6 week statutory consultation 
timescale.

2.2. Following the requirements set out in the Community Engagement Strategy, the I&O 
Consultation aimed to facilitate the community and stakeholder engagement needed to produce an 
informed and relevant community-led Neighbourhood Development Plan for Headington through the
following actions:

 All local media were informed of the consultation through press releases. 
 All households in the designated Headington Neighbourhood Forum Area (6,500) had a full 

colour 4–page A5 leaflet delivered to them, with a FREEPOST response with which 
responses could be returned.

 An online survey was developed, launched and publicised through publicity materials and 
the Headington Neighbourhood Forum website.

 The Headington Neighbourhood Forum website also contained further detailed information
to help explain the leaflet and online survey.

 Community engagement events were held across Headington to help publicise the 
consultation, engage with residents and give out consultation leaflets.

 A letter (See Appendix 1) and leaflets were sent to a range of interested parties including 
businesses and representative  social and community organisations (especially those 
representing 'hard to reach' groups - See Appendix 2).

 Meetings were held with various Headington stakeholder groups, including local education 
and healthcare institutions, to explore the issues highlighted in the consultation leaflet.

2.3. The results of this consultation helped us gather views about what should be included in 
the plan. Nearly 500 responses were received.

2.4. We analysed these responses, categorised them into specific areas, and submitted these 
responses to each of the six policy working groups in order for them to incorporate into their policy 
development process.

2.5. A report was produced to reflect the results of the consultation (Annex 2), and how HNF 
proposed to respond to the various consultation comments.

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Consultation Statement

24



3. BUSINESS CONSULTATION

3.1. In October 2014, the Business and Retail Policy Working Group contacted a large number 
of local businesses to try to understand some of the issues related to these organisations within the 
HNPA.

3.2. Each organisation was sent a questionnaire asking them about the most important issues 
for them in the local area. 32 responses were received, and these were collated in order to feed into 
the policy working group process.

3.3. Businesses in Headington were also asked whether they might be interested in a follow-up
meeting to discuss the issues raised. Of those who agreed to this, 9 businesses attended a follow-up 
focus group. The Business focus group meeting was held on 2nd February 2015. 

3.4. Parking was identified as the main issue by Headington businesses. Other issues raised 
were traffic, the security of businesses in relation to shop-lifting, and the need for a business 
association to represent businesses.

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Consultation Statement

25



4. DRAFT PLAN CONSULTATION 

4.1. The draft Headington Neighbourhood Plan was consulted on through a statutory 
consultation stage in accordance with Regulation 14 on the draft Plan between 30th May 2015 and 
16th July 2015. The following actions to publicise the consultation took place:

 All local media were informed of the consultation through press releases. 
 All households in the designated Headington Neighbourhood Forum Area (6,500) had a full 

colour 2–page A5 leaflet delivered to them, explaining the consultation, and where they 
could attend the consultation drop-in sessions.

 An online survey was developed, launched and publicised through publicity materials and 
the Headington Neighbourhood Forum website.

 The Headington Neighbourhood Forum website also provided further detailed information 
to help explain the leaflet and online survey.

 Six Plan Consultation drop-in sessions were held at the Hub on London Road to get 
feedback from residents on the proposed Plan.

 Leaflets were sent to a range of interested parties including businesses and representative  
social and community organisations, especially of hard to reach groups.

 Various social media and online forums were engaged to raise the profile of the 
consultation and to stimulate debate.

 Large poster boards and publicity materials were produced to provide information to drop-
in session attendees.

4.2. Over 280 specific responses from over 80 respondents were received through the various 
media channels used. These responses were once again fed into the policy working group process and
influenced which policies were to be put forward in the Final Plan. 

4.3. A full list of all responses is provided in Annex 3, with the proposed actions that the Forum
has taken to respond to these responses, including in one instance,  the deletion of one Plan Policy 
related to bus transport.

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Consultation Statement

26



5. STATUTORY CONSULTEES CONSULTATION 

5.1. A further consultation with statutory consultees, in accordance with Regulation 14, was 
held on the draft Plan between 7th December 2015 and 25th January 2016.

5.2. The following Statutory Consultees were sent the draft Plan for comment through email:

 Oxford City Council
 Oxfordshire County Council
 Risinghurst and Sandhills Parish Council 
 The Homes and Communities Agency
 Natural England
 The Environment Agency
 Historic England
 The Highways Agency 
 Vodafone and O2 
 Three 
 EE 
 Oxford University Health Trust
 Scottish and Southern Energy
 British Gas 
 Thames Water 

5.3. Responses were received from:

 Oxford City Council (verbally through formal meeting on 14th January 2016)
 Oxfordshire County Council
 The Environment Agency
 Historic England
 The Highways Agency
 Scottish and Southern Energy
 Thames Water 

5.4. The responses from these consultees has been collated in Annex 5.

5.5. The responses of these statutory consultees were reported to the Headington 
Neighbourhood Forum Steering Committee on the 8th March 2016 (See Annex 4 for meeting notes), 
and a series of recommendations to change the Plan were made following the results of this 
consultation.

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Consultation Statement

27



6. CONCLUSION 

6.1. This Consultation Statement and the supporting consultation reports are considered to 
comply with Section 15(2) of part 5 of the 2012 Neighbourhood Planning Regulations.

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Consultation Statement

28



HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD 
FORUM

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
STRATEGY

29



DOCUMENT CONTROL SHEET

HNF Document Control Sheet

Document Title Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Community Engagement Strategy

Draft Number v.2

Task Group and Authors Adam Symons (Project Manager)

Date of Version 18. August 2014

Status Working Draft

Date of Public Issue

Visibility For ISG and Consultation and Engagement Group

File Type Word Document  - exported to PDF

File Name HNF – Community Engagement Strategy

30



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

CONTENTS

1. Introduction 4

2. What is a Neighbourhood Plan 4

3. Why do we need an Engagement Strategy? 5

4. Why is community engagement so important in the 

neighbourhood planning process? 6

5. The Community Engagement Framework 7

6. Inform 7

7. Consult 9

8. Involve 9

9. Collaborate 10

10. Empower 10

11. Our Commitments 10

APPENDIX A – Headington Neighbourhood Plan Area Map

APPENDIX B – Action Plan 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY 331



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

1. Introduction

1.1 This  Strategy  has  been  prepared  to  help  guide  the  process  of  community  and 
stakeholder engagement needed to produce an informed and relevant community-led 
Neighbourhood  Development  Plan  for  Headington  (map  of  the  area  provided  in 
Appendix A).   It  explains the neighbourhood planning process,  and the relevance of 
community engagement within this process.

1.2 This document also sets out a range of activities and actions that will be taken to 
draw information from the community in and around Headington. Effective engagement 
with local residents, community groups, businesses, institutions and service providers in 
Headington and adjoining areas is a crucial aspect in creating a credible plan.

1.3 The  document  describes  the  processes  and  methods  that  may  be  employed  in 
community engagement activity; and presents a set of commitments to the community 
about how we will seek to inform, communicate with and involve them throughout the 
project. 

1.4 An Action Plan (Appendix B) is attached to the Strategy which sets out in greater 
detail  a proposed programme of community engagement activity and various actions 
needed to deliver that programme.  The Action Plan will evolve as the project develops 
over time.

2. What is a Neighbourhood Plan?

2.1 The Localism Act 2011 introduces statutory Neighbourhood Planning in England. It  
enables communities to draw up a Neighbourhood Plan for their area and is intended 
to give communities more of a say in the development of their local area (within certain  
limits and parameters). 

2.2 These plans will be used to decide the future of the places where people live and  
work, giving opportunities to: 

  choose where people want new homes, shops and offices to be built;

  have a say on what new buildings should look like; and

  grant planning permission for the new buildings you want to see go ahead. 

2.3 Neighbourhood plans allow local people to get the right type of development for 
their community, but the plans must still meet the needs of the wider area. This will  
mean  that  neighbourhood  plans  will  have  to  take  into  account  the  local  council’s 
assessment of housing and other development needs in the area. 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY 432



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

2.4 However,  it  goes  beyond  traditional  ‘land-use’  planning  activity,  which  tends  to 
focus  on  regulation  and  control  of  development.  Neighbourhood  planning  allows 
greater  scope  for  plan  makers,  acting  with  the  community,  relevant  agencies  and 
service providers to promote and manage change in an area. This is why we need to 
ensure  that  extensive,  appropriate  and  well-planned engagement  takes  place  at  all 
stages of the plan-making process. 

2.5 As with all  plan-making, the project requires leadership. Where Town and Parish 
Councils  do  not  cover  an  area,  The  Localism Act  has  given  that  leadership  role  to 
Neighbourhood  Forums.  Neighbourhood  forums  are  community  groups  that  are 
designated to take forward neighbourhood planning in areas without parishes. It is the 
role of the local planning authority to agree who should be the neighbourhood forum 
for  the  neighbourhood  area.  Oxford  City  Council  has  agreed  that  Headington 
Neighbourhood Forum should be the designated forum for the area outlined in the 
Headington Neighbourhood Area (see Appendix A).

2.6 This  carries  significant  responsibility  in  terms  of  producing  a  plan  that  is 
representative of the community. The way in which the process is led and implemented 
will need to secure confidence from the community in the Headington area and those 
organisations  and  businesses  that  serve  our  needs.  Confidence  in  the  process  and 
support  for  the  outcomes  will  be  more  certain  by  starting  this  process  in  a 
demonstrably transparent way and continuing in that way through all stages of plan 
preparation. We will do this by: 

  showing a willingness to openly encourage opinions and suggestions from all 
individuals and organisations within the community whether or not these present 
potentially conflicting, challenging or critical views of the Plan or the process;

  presenting a reasonable, realistic, evidence based and cogently argued case to support 
the Plan at each stage of its preparation;

  making every effort to understand all views expressed from all individuals and groups 
and respond clearly on all matters raised in a timely manner;  and

  demonstrating, in a form that is readily accessible and easily understood by the whole 
community, how the Plan reflects the views and opinions expressed during each stage 
of  engagement  and,  where  those  views  cannot  legitimately  be  taken  into  account, 
explaining why that is the case.

3. Why do we need an Engagement Strategy?

3.1 The Engagement Strategy is a way of explaining the steps we intend to take, from 
the start to the end of the process.  The Strategy has been prepared to demonstrate 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY 533



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

from the start that this is a process that  needs community involvement and that the 
community knows this.  

3.2 It  describes  the  processes  and  methods  that  may  be  employed  in  community 
engagement activity and presents a set of commitments to the community about how 
we will seek to inform, communicate with and involve them throughout the project. 

4. Why is community engagement so important in the neighbourhood planning process?

4.1 In  the  past  all  statutory  spatial  plans  have  been prepared by  the local  planning 
authority, Oxford City Council.  These plans are collectively known in legal terms as ‘the 
Local Plan’ and will  remain in place. These plans were prepared  in consultation with 
local communities. Neighbourhood Plans will be prepared by the community.

4.2 Through the Localism Act we will now have the opportunity to actually prepare the 
plan  that  shapes  how  the  Headington  area  looks.   We  can  say  what  type  of 
development we wish to encourage, how much development should take place (subject 
to  generally  conforming  with  higher  level  strategic  plans),  where  and  when  that 
development should take place, and what we want to see protected in the long term.  

4.3 We will do this by establishing what the community says it most expects the area to  
look like over the coming years. We will then look to establish how relevant delivery 
organisations in the private, public, community and voluntary sector are able to meet 
those expectations. 

4.4 Preparation of plans within a statutory framework will need to follow certain steps.  
These are normally prescribed in national  regulations, policy and guidance from the 
Government.   We will  need to follow those regulations at appropriate stages in the 
process and will be guided through this by Oxford City Council.

4.5 Provided  certain  steps  are  taken  during  the  preparation  of  the  Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan, it will have a clear legal status and be used to make decisions on 
all planning matters coming forward in Headington and its adjoining areas (in relation 
to development proposals that may have a potential impact upon the Headington area 
and its community).

4.6 The Engagement Strategy provides a framework to show how we will approach the 
task of ensuring community participation and involvement at all stages of the project. 
An Action Plan (Appendix B) sets out what these engagement steps are, including the 
legal requirements for adoption of a neighbourhood plan.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY 634



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

5. The Community Engagement Framework

5.1 Community and stakeholder participation in any planned activity can take place on a  
number of different levels.  These range from providing information to empowering 
individuals and groups to take decisions on relevant matters (and for those responsible 
for implementing plans to stand by those decisions).  Community participation in plan-
making is most likely to happen if the following processes and activities are planned to 
be included from the start of the project:

 Inform: Provide  information  about  processes,  events,  issues  and 
proposals;

 Consult: Obtain feedback and analysis on options and proposals;

 Involve: Work  directly  with  the  community  throughout  the  process  to 
ensure their issues and concerns are consistently understood and considered;

 Collaborate: Create partnership with the community in each aspect of decision 
making including development of options and analysis of alternatives; and

 Empower: Final decisions on all matters lie with the community.  

5.2 Each step is normally dependent upon previous activity having been carried out. For 
example,  successful  consultation  would  normally  follow  earlier  dissemination  of 
information, and so on. It is intended that this Engagement Strategy will focus action on 
ensuring  as  much  public  participation  and  community  engagement  as  possible  is 
achieved.  In designing each event we will ensure that involvement is encouraged by 
embedding all of the following key features in the process:

 awareness raising: to secure maximum participation.

 timely engagement: when involvement can make a difference.

 inclusive engagement: so everyone has a voice but none dominate.

 feedback: to show how participation makes a difference.

6. Inform

6.1 Participation and engagement can take place at an individual level; with self-forming 
groups having a shared interest; or through pre-arranged facilitated group discussion. 
Where groups form or are created as a result of the project, given sufficient support, 
these  can  usefully  evolve  to  the  extent  that  collaboration  takes  place  on  specific 
matters.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY 735



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

6.2 A number  of  interested members of  the community  have already formed policy 
groups in the following areas:

 Amenities 

 Education 
 Housing 
 Identity 
 Jobs and Development 
 Retail & Business 
 Transport   

6.3 Direct community involvement in the Headington Neighbourhood Plan is possible 
through  membership  of  these  policy  groups  or  participation  in  workshops  planned 
through these groups. 

6.4 These policy groups will provide the framework for informing the community about 
planned activities.  They will  effectively 'launch' the Headington Neighbourhood Plan 
through a programme of informal drop-in events in May and June 2014 across the plan 
area. The launch event  programme is designed to raise awareness of the Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan, and plan making process, and to encourage direct involvement in 
its preparation. 

6.5 This  should  be  the  start  of  a  continuous  process  of  information  sharing  and 
relationship building and should allow appropriate messages to get to the right people 
at the right time.  Techniques will include: 

 written correspondence:  letters, leaflets and newsletters giving information to 
individuals, groups and organisations; posters displayed in the local area.

 media  coverage:  drafting  press  releases,  advertisements  about  events  and 
maintaining dialogue as necessary to secure media coverage to maintain a public 
media profile throughout the life of the project.

 public  exhibitions:  mainly  in  the  form  of  informal  drop-in  sessions  where 
information can be provided and initial opinions gathered.

 face-to-face meetings:  planned discussions with local groups and people in the 
community. 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY 836

http://headingtonplan.org.uk/index.php/forum/policy-groups/transport-group/


Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

7. Consult

7.1 The  consultation  phase  of  the  project  will  include  two  formal  legally  required 
processes  to  consult the  community,  and  an  ongoing  informal  engagement  and 
consultation process. 

7.2 During  the  first  formal  process,  we  will  produce  a  draft  vision  and  aims  of  the 
neighbourhood plan. We will also identify, following on from the 'informing' process 
carried  out  through  the  policy  groups,  the  issues  and  options  in  the  Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan Area. This document, the Vision, Aims, Issues and Options Report, 
will help us gather views about what should be included in the plan. This process is 
programmed to start in July 2014 and to last for 6 weeks.

7.3 Once we have carried out our Community Engagement programme, and identified 
and  evaluated  all  the  available  evidence,  we  will  produce  a  draft  Headington 
Neighbourhood  Plan.  This  is  programmed  for  October  2014.  We will  then  formally 
consult on this plan for a further period of 6 weeks. Further comments and information 
provided by the community will be used to finalise the Plan. 

7.4 Once  the  final  Draft  Headington  Neighbourhood  Plan  is  produced,  which  is 
programmed for January 2015, Oxford City Council are required to consult on it for a  
further 6 weeks. They will publicise the document, inviting comments on the content of 
the document.

7.5 Throughout this process, we will continue to informally consult the community using 
a range of appropriate techniques:

 community  profiling:   creating  a  shared  picture  with  the  community  of  the 
physical,  human,  social,  economic  and  community  characteristics,  assets  and 
issues found in an area. 

 organised  discussion  groups: such  as  focus  groups  which  allow  small  group 
discussions that give in-depth consideration to relevant local issues surrounding 
specific topics.  

 surveys:  such as resident opinion polls and questionnaire based surveys where 
responses to questions about specific issues are gathered in writing.  These can 
take the form of door-to-door or street interviews; postal questionnaires; web-
based, electronic and social media hosted surveys; and telephone interviews.    

8. Involve 

8.1 Moving towards a position where we involve the community we will need further 
intensive dialogue with the community and will need to establish mechanisms to give a 
voice to those who wish to comment on or contribute towards plan-making, and to 
seek to engage with those who are often more difficult to reach. Techniques used when 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY 937



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

we inform and consult with the community will be relevant as will additional activities 
including:

 networking:   which  is  about  identifying  and  talking  to  a  range  of  different 
individuals and interest groups in the community and developing and nurturing 
relationships with those people  

 public events:  such as ‘Open House’ events which involve the use of a local 
venue as a drop-in centre, allowing people to gather information and share their 
views.   Interactive  displays  and  project  leadership  presence  offers  further 
opportunities to gather comments and information.  It also gives an opportunity 
to  develop  personal  relationships  with  people  and  groups  who may  wish  to 
increase their involvement 

9. Collaborate

9.1 An  initial  step  where  collaboration  has  already  taken  place  is  the  creation  of  a 
stakeholder group (the Forum) where various voices in the community have helped in 
forming a draft shared vision for the area.

9.2 As the project develops we can explore further opportunities to collaborate with the 
community.  This level of participation is generally resource intensive for both the lead 
plan-making body and the community  and is  likely to involve only  a  few dedicated 
groups or individuals.  We have not identified a formal process for collaboration, but 
welcome the opportunity to engage in this intensive discussion with stakeholders.

10. Empower 

10.1 The final decision as to whether the Headington Neighbourhood Plan is adopted lies 
in the hands of the community. We believe that through this engagement process we 
will  empower the  community  to  become  involved  in  developing  the  plan,  and  in 
agreeing it. A final referendum on whether the plan should be adopted will be held on 
the  7th May  2015,  and  all  people  registered  to  vote  in  local  elections  within  the 
Headington Neighbourhood Plan Area will be eligible to cast a vote as to whether this 
plan is adopted.

11. Our Commitments

11.1 Headington  Neighbourhood  Forum  as  the  lead  organisation  in  the  Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan project, through the wider Steering Group, has agreed to adopt a 
set of key commitments on community and stakeholder engagement revolving around 
transparency and inclusivity, but subject to proportionality.   These are presented as an 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY 1038



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

agreed  set  of  actions  and  approaches  to  engagement  that  we  will  offer  to  the 
community as part of this project:

 Undertake a Launch Event Programme to raise awareness of  the Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan and encourage engagement in the process

 Undertaking a 6 week consultations on a Vision, Aims, Issues and Options Report 
and a formal 6 week consultation on the Draft Headington Neighbourhood Plan

 A website will  be provided for information sharing prior to the launch of the 
project and will be maintained throughout the plan making process

 Regular press releases will be provided giving activity updates

 Information will be provided through local newsletters

 All information collected to inform plan making will be openly available

 Local permanent exhibitions and displays will be provided in accessible locations 
to support events and give information throughout the period of all publicised 
consultation events 

 Communication will take place in a form best suited to each person or group as 
expressed by them 

 An open agreement to meet with individuals and groups throughout the project 
whatever their views and opinions as resources reasonably allow

 Respond within a reasonable time to all written representations demonstrating 
how  comments  have  been  taken  into  account  and  how  the  plan  has  been 
informed by those comments

 Explore all opportunities to involve anyone in the community in preparing the 
plan at all stages of the project

 Where comments and suggestions are made that are not directly relevant to the 
Neighbourhood Development Plan we will record these and pass the comments 
on to the appropriate person or organisation for action

11.2 In  return  we  will  ask  only  that  anyone  seeking  to  participate  by  providing 
information, opinions or analysis of proposals at any stage of the project is prepared to 
do so in writing to ensure that all comments can be properly noted as a true record of 
their views.  Once we reach the stages in the process where statutory guidance has to 
be followed we will be required to publish comments made about the Plan. 

 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY 1139



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY 1240



Appendix A – Headington Neighbourhood Plan Area map

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY 13

41



Appendix B – Community Engagement Action Plan 

Date(s) Responsible Group Stakeholder/s Engaged Method of Engagement Method of Feedback Comments

29/01/14 ISG Forum Report Comments on Project 
Plan and CES

This is an Example

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY 14

42



HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD 
FORUM

ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION 
DRAFT REPORT

DOCUMENT CONTROL SHEET

43



HNF Document Control Sheet

Document Title Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Issues and Options Consultation 
Report

Draft Number v.1

Task Group and Authors Adam Symons (Project Manager)

Date of Version 26. November 2014

Status Working Draft

Date of Public Issue

Visibility For SG and Policy Working Groups

File Type Word Document  - exported to PDF

File Name HNF – Issues and Options Consultation Report

44



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

CONTENTS

1. Introduction and Background 4

2. Methodology  5

3. The Consultation Leaflet 6

4. Collecting Responses 7

5. Responses 8

6. Analysis 10

7. Discussion 14

8. Areas of Improvement 15

9. Conclusions 16

Annex A – Headington Neighbourhood Plan Area

Annex B – Press Releases to Promote Issues and Options Consultation

Annex C – Consultation Leaflet

Annex D – Proposed Community Engagement Events

Annex E – Business Survey Details

Annex F – Final Ranking Results

Annex G – Final Correlation Results

Annex H – Final Respondents Issues and Options

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 345



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

1. Introduction and Background

1.1 This Headington Neighbourhood Forum was designated as the neighbourhood forum for 
the Headington area (Annex A) on the 9th September 2014, the area having previously 
been designated on 28th March 2014.

1.2 In preparation for designation, the Interim Steering Group (ISG) of the proposed Forum 
produced  a  Project  Plan  which  set  out  the  timescales  and  milestones  of  the 
neighbourhood plan process. 

1.3 The ISG set out the need to undertake multiple public consultations in the Project Plan. 
A Community Engagement Strategy was produced by the Interim Steering Group of the 
proposed Forum on 18th August 2014. 

1.4 The Project Plan identified the need to carry out an initial consultation with Headington 
residents,  and other  stakeholders,  in  order  to identify  the most  important  issues  in 
Headington, as well as identify potential solutions. Hence, the title of the consultation 
was  the  ‘Issues  and Options  Consultation’  (I&O Consultation).  The  results  from this 
consultation are to inform the draft Headington Neighbourhood Plan.

1.5 The Forum, through forum discussions and community engagement, identified the need 
to develop six particular policy areas: transport, housing, education, retail & business, 
amenity & public space, and character & identity. For each of these policy areas a Policy 
Working Group (PWG) has been set up. 

1.6 Policy development for the Headington Neighbourhood Plan is delegated to these six 
PWGs.  They  examine  the  available  evidence,  consider  the  local  issues  and  propose 
potential policies. 

1.7 As part of this process, the PWGs have each identified three specific Headington issues 
which have been used during the consultation process. The PWGs have also produced 
materials for the consultation process, organised events, and helped to promote the 
consultation.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 446



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

2. Methodology

2.1 The I&O Consultation was launched on the 11th September 2014, once the Forum had 
been officially designated by Oxford City Council. Although not a statutory requirement 
of the neighbourhood planning process under the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 
2012, the consultation lasted until 24th October 2014, following the standard 6 week 
statutory consultation timescale. 

2.2 Following the requirements set out in the Community Engagement Strategy, the I&O 
Consultation aimed to facilitate the community and stakeholder engagement needed to 
produce an informed and relevant community-led Neighbourhood Development Plan 
for Headington.

2.3 All local media were informed of the consultation through press releases. (See Annex B)

2.4 All households in the designated Headington Neighbourhood Forum Area (6,500) had a 
full  colour  4–page  A5  leaflet  (See  Annex  C)  delivered  to  them,  with  a  FREEPOST 
response with which responses could be returned.

2.5 An online survey was developed, launched and publicised through publicity materials 
and the Headington Neighbourhood Forum website.

2.6 The  Headington  Neighbourhood  Forum  website  also  contained  further  detailed 
information to help explain the leaflet and online survey.

2.7 Community  engagement  events  (Annex  D)  were  held  across  Headington  to  help 
publicise the consultation, engage with residents and give out consultation leaflets.

2.8 Meetings  were  held  with  various  Headington  stakeholder  groups,  including  local 
education  and  healthcare  institutions,  to  explore  the  issues  highlighted  in  the 
consultation leaflet.

2.9 A  number  of  the  PWGs  also  carried  out  more  tailored  surveys  which  specific 
stakeholders during the consultation period. For example, the Business and Retail PWG 
surveyed local businesses about specific retail issues. The survey and results from this 
survey are included in this report, and can be found in Annex E.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 547



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

3. The Consultation Leaflet

3.1 The  consultation  leaflet,  and  associated  information,  was  produced  by  the  ISG  in 
partnership  with  the  PWGs.  The  ISG  provided  the  structure  and  the  design  of  the 
consultation leaflet, while the PWGs each proposed three ‘Issues’ (18 in total) to help 
stimulate discussion (See Table 1 below for key), and which could be rated by residents 
and stakeholders.  

3.2 Residents and stakeholders were asked to rate each of the identified ‘Issues’ with a 
score from 1-5. (5 being highest importance, 1 being lowest importance).  Residents 
and stakeholders were also asked to state which ‘Issues’ had not been covered in the 
consultation leaflet, and to provide a ‘Solution’ to how to resolve the ‘Issues’ they had 
identified.

Table 1 – Proposed Issues
Issue Code Issue Text

E1 Increase number of places in schools.

E2 Bring providers together in order to raise educational attainment.

E3 Enhance provision of training and development, and apprenticeships.

A1 Strengthen Headington’s distinctive identity to foster a sense of community.

A2  Identify and develop the special characteristics of different districts.

A3 Balance conservation and innovation within planning and development.

C1 Conserve Green Spaces, and increase biodiversity and public access.

C2 Increase access to cultural & sports facilities in private and public ownership.

C3 Provide a community and cultural centre in central Headington.

T1 Reduce congestion by facilitating cycling, walking and car sharing.

T2 Reduce through traffic and speeds in residential streets.

T3 Strive to reduce noise and improve air quality.

R1 Improve provision of parking to encourage shopping.

R2 Strengthen the local shopping identity.

R3 Encourage retail variety.

H1 Provide housing mix and tenures to meet specific social needs.

H2 Ensure that Houses in Multiple Occupation comply with regulations.

H3 Build housing appropriate to the local character.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 648



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

4. Collecting Responses

4.1 Although the consultation was due to close on the 24th October, the deadline for the 
consultation close was extended to November 1st to allow for any late responses. 

4.2 Consultation leaflet responses were delivered to the Forum using a FREEPOST address 
printed on the consultation leaflet. It was also possible to return leaflet responses by 
hand. 

4.3 Online  responses  were  collected  using  Qualtrics  software  via  the  Headington 
Neighbourhood Forum website.

4.4 Some text based responses were also received via email.

4.5 Numeric responses were collated to identify the ranking of the issues that the PWGs had 
identified. Text based responses were categorized, then placed in subject groups (i.e. 
transport, housing, etc.)

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 749



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

5. Responses

5.1 A total  of 470 responses were received. 149 responses were received via the online  
survey.  317  responses  were  received  via  the  FREEPOST  leaflet.  4  responses  were 
received directly via email.

5.2 It  should be noted at this  stage that  although 470 responses were received,  not  all  
respondents completed all sections of the consultation. Some completed the numerical 
section,  and  provided  no  text  suggestions,  while  others  provided  text  suggestions 
without completing the numerical section

5.3 Chart 1 shows the breakdown of responses by means of response.

Online
Postal
Email

Chart 1 – Breakdown of 470 Consultation Responses

5.4 The online survey allowed respondents to identify what their relationship to Headington 
was. The results from this are presented below, and show that the majority of 
respondents (106/142) lived in Headington, and carried out a range of activities, while 
30 respondents worked in Headington but did not live in the area.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 850



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

I live here
I work here but don't live here
I work here and live here
I study here but don't live here
I study here and live here
I travel through Headington
Other

Chart 2 – Breakdown of the situation of Online Consultation Respondents 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 951



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

6. Analysis

6.1 The I&O Consultation focused primarily on identifying the most important issues for 
residents and stakeholders in Headington. In order to facilitate this, the PWGs identified 
18 of what they considered to be the most important issues in Headington, and asked 
consultation respondents to rate the importance of  these issues,  from 1-5 (5 being 
highest importance, 1 being lowest importance).  

Highest Ranking Issues

6.2 Of the 470 respondents, 46 provided no numerical response whatsoever, with a further 
significant  number  providing  partial  numerical  responses.  Out  of  the  18  issues 
identified,  the  most  responded  to  issue  was  ranked  410  times,  while  the  least 
responded to issue was ranked 370 times.

6.3 The issue which was ranked as the most important was ‘Conserve Green Spaces, and 
increase biodiversity  and public  access’  which had an  average  score  of  4.47 with a 
standard deviation of 0.95.  The issue which was ranked as the least  important  was 
‘Identify and develop the special characteristics of different districts’ which had a score 
of 2.83 with a standard deviation of 1.37.

6.4 The full  result  of  this  ranking process, together with the standard deviations can be 
found in Annex F. A graphical representation of these results is shown below in Chart 3.

Chart 3 – Average Rating and Standard Deviation for each Proposed Issue

6.5 Spearman’s correlation was used to assess how closely respondents viewed each issue. 
A full analysis of the consultation results using this analysis can be found in Annex G. 

6.6 The two issues which ranked closest (0.58 correlation coefficient) were ‘Strengthen the 
local shopping identity’ with ‘Encourage Retail Variety’. The two issues which ranked 
least close (-0.12 correlation coefficient) were ‘Improving the provision of parking to 
encourage shopping’ and ‘Reduce congestion by facilitating cycling, walking and car-
sharing’.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 1052



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

Other Issues Identified by Residents

6.7 254  out  of  470  respondents  responded  to  the  consultation  with  additional  text 
comments about issues.  A total of 311 comments were made, which were categorized 
into 105 categories.  These categories  were then ordered into policy  areas,  and are 
presented in Annex H 

6.8 The most mentioned issue was that there were ‘Too many supermarkets/lack of retail 
variety’ in Headington, with 26 respondents identifying this issue.

6.9 A graph showing the top 14 issues mentioned is set out below (Chart 4).

Other Options Identified by Residents

6.10 260  out  of  470  respondents  responded  to  the  consultation  with  additional  text 
comments about options. A total of 309 comments were made, which were categorized 
into 175 categories.  These categories  were then ordered into policy  areas,  and are 
presented in Annex I.

6.11 The most mentioned option was to ‘Install Speed Indicator Devices/Humps/Chicanes/ 
Cameras/Signs/Mirrors/Trees’ to reduce speeding, with 14 respondents identifying this 
option.

6.12 A graph showing the top 10 options mentioned is set out below (Chart 5).

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 1153



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

Chart 4 – Top Issues Raised by Respondents during Consultation 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 12

54



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

Chart 5 – Top Options Raised by Respondents during Consultation 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 13

55



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

7. Discussion

7.1 The PWGs and the Forum SG are meeting on the 29th November to discuss the results 
from the consultation.  Without wanting to prejudice the discussion, there are some 
interesting trends which will be pointed out to help discussions:

• Not only did the proposed issues ‘Conserve Green Spaces, and increase biodiversity 
and public access’ have the highest rating, but it had the lowest standard deviation, 
meaning that respondents uniformly thought that this was the most important is-
sue.

• That proposed issues in their policy groups were more closely correlated generally.

• That the proposed issues which were least closely correlated tended to be those 
which proposed dealing with transport issues and those which proposed improved 
facilities for retail use.

• Respondents tended to identify issues which had an immediate to themselves and 
their local community, such as shopping, traffic congestion, speeding a litter. In con-
trast, respondents were more ‘imaginative’ in what options could be employed to 
deal with these issues, and therefore there were 70% more options identified than 
issues.

• That a significant number of respondents did not add any additional issues or op-
tions to the proposed issues list published in the consultation leaflet.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 1456



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

8. Areas of Improvement for the Consultation Process

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 1557



Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Planning for the future

9. Conclusion and Next Steps

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 1658



Annex A – Headington Neighbourhood Plan Area map

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 17

59



Annex B – Press Releases to Promote Issues and Options Consultation

Annex C – Consultation Leaflet

Annex D – Proposed Community Engagement Events

Annex E – Business Survey Details

Annex F – Final Ranking Results

Annex G – Final Correlation Results

Annex H – Final Respondents Issues and Options

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION REPORT 18

60



Email Responses

Email Consultation Responses from Draft Plan Consultation

Consultee Policy Area Comment Suggested Changes Forum Response

Joanne Carr, Oxford 
Brookes General

Oxford Brookes is supportive of the vision and objectives of the draft Headington Neighbourhood Plan and appreciates 
the opportunity to comment on its policies and proposals. No change required NOTED

General
The plan provides a thorough examination of some of the key considerations for the Headington community but we 
have a number of comments to make on individual policy proposals and these are outlined below. NOTED

General

In addition, we would like to flag the inopportune timing of this consultation. Unfortunately, holding a consultation at 
this time of year effectively excludes a large proportion of our student population who, as you note in the plan, are an 
important constituent part of the Headington community.  To add to this, whilst efforts have been made to publicise 
this consultation to staff through our internal newsletter, again the timing of the consultation is such that many are not 
on campus.  We would ask that future consultation events of this nature are held at a time which enables more 
thorough involvement of University staff and students who have much to contribute on these important issues

Our previous consultation was held in October 
last year in particular to cover this constituent 
part of Headington. We have tried to run 
consultations to cover all constituent elements 
of Headington.

GSP1

The University is supportive of the need to protect the character of Headington and agrees that green space is an 
integral part of this.  However, it would seem sensible to include a caveat in this policy which states that there is a 
presumption against development on green space unless there are accompanying plans to adequately re provide this 
green space elsewhere within the Neighbourhood Plan area.

The proposed policy provides that: 'Development will not be permitted 
where it results in the loss of publicly accessible green space unless it 
can be demonstrated that development on that space is unavoidable 
and:
i. a publicly accessible green space(s) of an equivalent size and 
amenity in an identified area(s) of need in the HNPA is provided; and or
ii. improvements and enhancements are made to existing publicly 
accessible green space(s) in the HNPA; and or  
iii. access to new publicly accessible green space(s) of an equivalent 
size and amenity  in the HNPA are provided;  and or
iv. access to the public of existing private green space(s) of an 
equivalent size and amenity in the HNPA are provided.

These comments, together with other 
comments have been taken on board, and the 
suggested changes have been made to the 
Policy.

GSP2

Again, whilst Oxford Brookes supports the retention of green space in the neighbourhood, the figure of 20% here is 
considered too great.  The existing 10% requirement is more appropriate.  In addition, the University would not support 
the designation of all green space on its halls of residences as publicly available.  It is important that students feel safe 
in their dwellings and this requirement would bring with it a number of considerations including the potential need for 
additional security patrols.

Consideration of the 20% figure and a need to justify the figure in the 
written text. 

The Policy has been amended to reduce the 
requirement for green space and to clarify 
where publicly accessible green space should 
be provided.

GSP4
The first two lines of this policy are contradictory and we would suggest including a caveat to state – all mature trees 
will be conserved where possible.

Policy suggested to be amended to read 'All mature trees will be 
conserved unless their removal is unavoidable as a result of 
development. In such instances, the developer will ensure that an 
equal number of appropriate varieties are planted at  designated 
site(s) within the Headington Neighbourhood Plan area.

This Policy has been amended to provide 
clarification and protection of mature trees.

GSP6
The university supports this policy but suggests an additional emphasis should be placed on the management of 
drainage once schemes are implemented – particularly drainage on public highways.

This could help to differentiate and build on Policy CS11 of the Core 
Strategy.  

This Policy has been removed as it was felt that
it did not fit well within the Plan.

AMP2
The University actively encourages community use of its facilities on campus.  It must be noted, however, that there are 
some facilities on campus where the University would charge for usage. NOTED

GSC2
Oxford Brookes is working towards a series of space reduction targets and does not own significant plots of land which 
could be made available for use as allotments. NOTED

Page 1

61



Email Responses

Business and 
Retail

Further development of this section would be helpful, including some details on issues such as deliveries and 
servicing.

Agree, this is a small section for such a big topic area. If it is to remain 
a small section, it should have some explanation as to why it is so brief.

Additional text and Policies have been 
developed for this section.

CIP1
The University welcomes policy CIP3: Innovative design and would ask that innovation be reflected in CIP1 as a 
consideration alongside layout, form and other factors.

NOTED – although innovation not reflected in 
CIP1.

EDP1
It is restrictive to limit this policy to provision for those in the Headington Neighbourhood Plan area.  The policy should 
reflect the wider role Headington plays in the life of the city and  region.

The Plan needs to explain that it specifically for the Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan area.

NOTED – although the Plan only covers the 
HNPA. The aim of the Education Group is to 
allow the expansion or addition of new facilities 
within the general context of local education 
provision. Changes will be allowed, but the 
policy only encourages provision aimed at 
education for which at least some part is 
intended for local children.

TRP1 A clarification of the term ‘adequate unused capacity’ would be helpful here. Need to clarify 'adequate unused capacity.' Term clarified in supporting text.

TRP4

The University recommends that businesses are also specifically referenced here as having a duty to complete travel 
plans.  It is right that residential developments should be required to develop a travel plan but the requirement should 
be proportionate and a minimum unit number should be applied to this policy – for example 2 bed developments 
should not face the same requirements as significantly larger-scale developments. Such a policy would be difficult to enforce.

Policy changed to reflect comments and to 
provide a minimum threshold for developments.

TRP6

Provision of cycle storage should be proportionate and evidence-based.  The number of spaces required will depend 
on location, the type of development and the other sustainable transport options available to site users (e.g. 
Brookesbus).  The University is dedicated to ensuring adequate cycle storage provision for staff and students but 
strongly opposes the application of one figure (75%) across the board.  In reality, encouraging sustainable travel 
options is more complex than this and provision should be based on the information available in travel plans.

Many policies provide figures that developments must conform to i.e. 
the number of parking spaces allowed, the amount of green space to b
provided and so on.  All these figures require justification and 
background evidence as to why they are given.  

The Policy has been changed to more closely 
reflect the need for storage of bicycles, and to 
encourage increased use, rather than a specific 
figure across the board.

TRC1

We would encourage the Headington Neighbourhood Plan to ask for evidence-based promotion of car-sharing 
schemes rather than the application of a one size fits all approach.  The policy adopted by each organisation needs to 
reflect a number of considerations. The PWG may want to consider this point.

This section has been changed to provide a 
more flexible approach to delivering active 
transport proposals.

TRP3

The University supports this policy but there may well be exceptions making certain routes unsuitable for conversion to 
Public Rights of Way.  It is therefore recommended that a caveat is added, stating ‘These routes should be made 
Public Rights of Way where practicable.’  It would also be helpful to include section references for the Oxford Local 
Plan. The PWG may want to consider this point.

This section has been changed to provide a 
more flexible approach to delivering active 
transport proposals.

TRC5

The University knows that the Gipsy Lane stop for London services is very popular and is concerned that the removal 
of this stop from the route could exacerbate rather than reduce vehicle traffic.  The University recommends that a 
thorough assessment and audit of the benefits and potential impacts of such proposals be undertaken prior to any 
implementation.

The PWG may want to consider this point and if supported may 
suggest that an impact assessment be undertaken.

This section has been changed to provide a 
more flexible approach to delivering active 
transport proposals.

TRC8

Oxford Brookes is moving towards the introduction of a charge-per-use policy as a result of consultation with staff on 
use of cars.  However, the University would advise against a blanket policy of this nature as such an approach would 
not necessarily have the desired outcomes across the piece.  Institutions need to be able to make their own evidence-
based decisions on these issues and the University would suggest that the focus of the Headington Neighbourhood 
Plan should be to encourage individual institutions and businesses to regularly consider ways they might reduce car 
journeys to site based on their knowledge of the contributory factors. The PWG may want to consider this point.

This section has been changed to provide a 
more flexible approach to delivering active 
transport proposals.

Page 2

62



Email Responses

Rebecca Horley, 
Oxford University General

In our review of the HNP, we have some general concerns about the approach being taken currently with 
regard to the drafting of the policies.  We also have some concerns regarding the conclusions that are 
drawn by the assessors undertaking the tasks required for the character assessments that form part of 
the HNP as they have drawn opinions rather than made objective assessments.  The University has a 
particular interest in Character Area 10 relating to Highfield and Old Road though we make reference to 
other character assessments when highlighting examples. 

There have been many proposed changes to the drafting of policies 
and it may be appropriate to undertake another consultation following 
the changes that have been proposed.

Significant changes have been made to both 
the policies and the Character Assessments, in 
particularly CA10 to reflect concerns from all 
consultees. 

GSP1

Policy GSP1 regarding the retention of public accessible green spaces, for example, is considered to be 
too rigid and would not allow for the flexibility required to address scenarios which, when balanced 
against other equally important issues, would point to the loss of a green space being the preferred 
option.  There may be situations where, for example, some other contribution could off-set the loss or 
remaining land could be improved as a result of the loss of some green spaces.  

The proposed policy provides that: 'Development will not be permitted 
where it results in the loss of publicly accessible green space unless it 
can be demonstrated that development on that space is unavoidable 
and:
i. a publicly accessible green space(s) of an equivalent size and 
amenity in an identified area(s) of need in the HNPA is provided; and or
ii. improvements and enhancements are made to existing publicly 
accessible green space(s) in the HNPA; and or  
iii. access to new publicly accessible green space(s) of an equivalent 
size and amenity  in the HNPA are provided;  and or
iv. access to the public of existing private green space(s) of an 
equivalent size and amenity in the HNPA are provided .'

These comments, together with other 
comments have been taken on board, and the 
suggested changes have been made to the 
Policy.

GSP2

Throughout the HNP, there are several examples where we consider that the principle of “conformity” has 
not been observed.  For example, policy GSP2 states that it seeks to set a higher standard for 
development (the requirement for 20% of the total site area to be given over for publicly accessible green 
space is double the Core Strategy requirement). This is unlikely to be acceptable to the City Council. In 
our view, the principles laid down in section one of the HNP, relating to where development opportunities 
lie, what they should be like, and providing general support for appropriate new development have not 
been carried through to the draft policies which appear to be more restrictive.  It is noted that the HNP 
aims to provide opportunities to “provide a framework for these opportunities” but this is not apparent from 
the rest of the document.  

The proposed amended policies now positively set out what 
development would be welcomed or encouraged.  For the most, they 
now state what could be done to mitigate against any loss or harm  if 
development was to occur. This should all ensure that the policies are 
not overly restrictive.  D94

The Policy has been amended to reduce the 
requirement for green space and to clarify 
where publicly accessible green space should 
be provided.

GSP3

Policy GSP3 would benefit from some clarification of the words ‘significant’ and ‘direct or indirect harm’ to 
ensure that the effects are enforceable and measurable and to enable the developer to anticipate and 
mitigate if necessary. 

It has been suggested that the the meaning of 'significant' needs to be 
clarified. Examples of  'direct or indirect harm' could also be provided in 
the written text.

Clarification of these terms has been made 
within the Policy.

GSP4

Policy GSP4 is an example of the lack of flexibility in the policy which may cause problems for users of 
the HNP in the future. It suggests that all mature trees will be conserved without any qualification.  It may 
be necessary to remove trees for reasons other than as a result of development.  Being a living entity, 
trees will inevitably change and may become unsafe if diseased or dying.  It should be further noted that 
age may not be a measure of biodiversity value. The PWG may want to consider this point.

This Policy has been amended to provide 
clarification and protection of mature trees.

Page 3

63



Email Responses

GSP6

Policy GSP6 is an example of a policy which pre-judges a situation and we cannot agree to the first and 
last statements in the policy. There may be other engineering solutions to a problem.  It is concerning 
that the reasoning given relates to erosion of the Lye Valley SSSI when this is unproven.  The usual 
reason for the requirement of SuDs is for highway safety.  More technical evidence is required to enable 
a proper understanding of this assertion and the document does not provide this.  Ordinarily the planning 
application process would enable this sort of consideration to be made in a balanced fashion as it would 
generally be weighed against other equally important interests of acknowledged importance.  It is likely 
that all projects at the Park Hospital will demonstrate a decrease in infiltration but will be fully compliant 
with the Environment Agency limits on the site. The PWG may want to consider this point.

This Policy has been removed as it was felt that
it did not fit well within the Plan.

AMP1

Policy AMP1 is an example of where there may be possible conflicts with legal requirements.  It is not 
appropriate to seek “developer contributions” which could conflict with the NPPF (reference paragraph 
204).  Planning obligations should only be sought where they meet all of the following tests: necessary to 
make the development acceptable in planning terms; directly related to the development; and fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

It has been suggested that the policy only seeks developer 
contributions for 'residential developments' of a particular size. The 
PWG has been asked to consider what size developments should 
provide developer contributions and provide a reasoned justification for 
that size.

The Policy has been adjusted to ensure that 
equivalent replacement facilities are provided.

AMP2

Similarly Policy AMP2 could lead to unlawful situations because the NPPF makes it clear in paragraph 
206 that planning conditions should only be imposed where they are necessary, relevant to planning and 
to the development to be permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects.  The 
current drafting of Policy AMP2 pre-empts all those considerations.  Paragraph 15 of the NPPF states 
that “Policies in Local Plans should follow the approach of the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development so that it is clear that development which is sustainable can be approved without delay. All 
plans should be based upon and reflect the presumption in favour of sustainable development, with clear 
policies that will guide how the presumption should be applied locally”.  It is considered that this policy, 
as currently drafted, conflicts with this advice.  

The proposed conditions of policy AMP2  may not be 'relevant' to a 
development on the sites stipulated.  Moreover, it is not 'reasonable' to 
enforce such conditions on 'any' development on these sites. AMC1 
encourages access to private on site sports and leisure facilities of 
major institutions and this is more appropriate. This Policy has been removed.

GSC2

The comments made above with regard to policy GSP1, relate also to Policy GSC2.  As such, as 
currently worded we cannot give our support to it.  It suggests that if there were any land available then it 
should be given over for allotments which would then take precedent over perhaps a better use.

This policy could be clarified to read '• the major institutions in 
Headington will be encouraged to increase the level of public 
access to their green spaces and encouraged to make land 
available for allotments for the benefit of their staff and of 
Headington residents.'

The Policy has been adjusted to reflect the 
Suggested Changes proposed.

GSC4
We fully support Policy GSC4 and it is certainly the University’s intention to increase the corridor value of 
the Old Road Campus. NOTED

CIP1 – AREA 
10

Consideration has been given to the terminology used under the section which identifies the issues in this 
area.  The use of the term “institutional creep” has negative connotations and does not hold meaning in a 
planning sense.  It suggests that development is oversized and unplanned when it is neither, being 
controlled by the requirements for planning permission.  The institution, referring to the University as well 
as the hospitals, is part of the community and cannot be readily sectioned off in the way that is described 
because it only serves to highlight the differences as opposed to celebrating the long-standing 
interactions, both social and physical, that exist with the residential areas.   

This term has been removed, and the Characte
Assessments adjusted to reflect the concerns 
expressed.

Page 4

64



Email Responses

It is implied that the “institutions” are the cause of many of the negative issues identified in the 
neighbouring residential areas including reduction of privacy, loss of sunlight, harm to views, noise 
pollution, light pollution, harm to ecosystems, contamination, increased traffic, rat-running and on road 
parking.  However, all these are addressed by the requirements for planning permission which balances 
these issues against the development needs before making an assessment.  In many ways, the future 
development at Old Road Campus may provide an opportunity to improve these long standing problems 
or issues through the outline planning permission and the masterplan, but that has not been appreciated 
in the HNP.

The Character Assessments have been 
adjusted to more accurately reflect the issues 
within each area.

The Old Road Campus includes the building known as Boundary Brook House, one of the Park Hospital 
buildings.  Under the section “Proposed Assets”, Boundary Brook House is highlighted as a Heritage 
Asset but as far as the University is aware it has not been considered under the Heritage Asset 
assessment process and is not included on the local list of approved assets nor on the list awaiting 
consideration.  Further, the planning consent issued under 12/02072/OUT approves a Masterplan layout 
which shows that it will be demolished in accordance with condition 3.  It would be difficult to reconcile 
the statement in the HNP with this planning permission which was granted in accordance with the 
development plan.  It is for this reason that the University considers that the reference to Boundary Brook 
House should be removed from the heritage assets part of the HNP.

This reference has been removed, and the 
Character Assessments adjusted to reflect the 
concerns expressed.

This leads to the broader point as to whether or not any of the more architecturally or historically 
interesting houses, which are not actually heritage assets, should be noted and listed under the heading 
“Heritage Assets”.  This approach has the appearance of instantly elevating their status.  It is suggested 
that the heading remain simply “Assets” given that “Heritage Assets” is a technical term with legal 
meaning.  

Agree.  'Heritage Assets' is a formal designation used by English 
Heritage'.  It is strongly recommended that another terminology be 
adopted. Term changed to 'Historical Assets'

Another theme which appears to feature throughout the assessments is the tendency to make subjective 
judgements of the present to determine what should happen in the future without all the evidence.  We 
set down below some examples:

Subjective judgements have been removed 
from the Character Assessments.

CIP1 – AREA 
15

Under the issues statement, it is stated (and highlighted) that “Large scale development of any of these nearby sites could 
compromise the special atmosphere of the Meadow.”  We consider that by highlighting sections draws attention to the statement and 
inappropriately elevates its significance.  Also, this statement is pre-judging the situation as a development scheme could emerge 
which may not compromise the Meadow.  The University is of the view that the document should focus on describing the character of 
the area noting points of interest that should be reflected in future development.  It is not considered appropriate to take a subjective 
view on potential future outcomes.  This is supported by Government guidance which states that the documents should positively 
support Local Plan policies and not promote less development (Reference: paragraphs 183 to 185 of the NPPF).

Subjective judgements have been removed 
from the Character Assessments.

In general terms we seek assurance that the HNP is not seeking to stifle development which would otherwise be 
appropriately considered under Policy SP59 of the Sites and Housing Plan which is permissive towards development 
for healthcare related facilities alongside other uses as listed in that policy.  

The Forum can assure the consultee that the 
HNP is not seeking to stifle development, but is 
looking to develop a better future for 
Headington.

Page 5

65



Email Responses

CIP1 – AREA 
20

Again, with reference to the “Issues” section, the University recognises that this is an environmentally sensitive area but 
that, in the spirit of the brief for developing neighbourhood plans, statements such as the following should be avoided 
because they are expressions of opinion and not statements of fact: “Any new development within the catchment of 
springs – i.e. within plan areas Warneford, Churchill Hospital, Girdlestone and areas of adjacent Wood Farm – may be 
detrimental to the Lye Valley fen via reduction in spring water. SUDs are only short term solutions”.  This statement 
leaves no opportunity to provide evidence to address the identified issue or to contradict the summation.  Ordinarily 
this would form part of a planning application offering an opportunity to perhaps improve an ongoing issue. We would 
suggest that this should be re-worded in a more positive way to state that any development/redevelopment at the sites 
should seek to maintain the level of run off to the Lye Valley fen. 

Subjective judgements have been removed 
from the Character Assessments.

HOUSING

Returning to the core document of the HNP, we sympathise with the views expressed under the Housing chapter but 
cannot agree to the approach being taken with regard to seeking to “supersede” the requirements of the City Council’s 
policies.  We agree that there is an urgent need to review the development of housing for key workers and indeed to 
acknowledge a broader definition but the University would suggest that this is not an appropriate forum to open such a 
debate as we consider this to be a strategic matter. In the meantime, it should be noted that the University is keen to 
encourage and support development and the provision of key worker housing.

Agree. It has been suggested that the policy does not supersede that o
the Core Strategy but rather works within its remits.  However, the 
Neighbourhood Plan does have powers to propose policies on key 
worker housing.  The proposed two options for this policy provide 
provision for both affordable and key worker housing.  

This Policy has been adjusted to enable the 
provision of affordable homes for key workers.

TRP1

With regard to the transport planning policies, reference is made to Policy TRP1 and the University shares the goals of the HNP 
to reduce traffic congestion and transport related emissions of carbon and air pollutants; these are key aims of the 
University’s Transport Strategy so we are already working towards shared objectives.   As required by the NPPF,   any 
development likely to generate movement in the area would be subjected to a Transport Assessment (TA) which will 
determine what, if any, impact the proposals would have on the highways network and devise an appropriate 
movement solution and Travel Plan as necessary.   Section 32 of NPPF states that “Development should only be 
prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe.”     
Furthermore, the “Parking Standards, Transport Assessment and Travel Plans Supplementary Planning Document” 
adopted in 2007 and a material consideration in the determination of planning applications, specifies the maximum 
allowable number of parking spaces according to floorspace and/or staff numbers.  Therefore, this policy appears to 
run counter to the Local Plan and is unnecessary given the requirements in the NPPF to ensure that the development 
is sustainable in the first place which will be met through a TA and Travel Plan.  

The PWG may want to consider this point.  However, it could be 
argued that TRP1 is in general conformity with the Local Plan.

Clarification of this Policy has been made in the 
supporting text to reflect comments by a 
number of consultees. Traffic is an important 
concern of Headington residents, and the 
Forum will continue to promote car parking 
controls if the highway  network is unable to 
accommodate traffic growth.

TRP2

Whilst policy TRP2 may not directly impact on the University, as a general point we would support the 
concept of car club bays in residential developments but we are unsure where the figure of 1 car per 10 
spaces is derived from and therefore how robust it is.

It would be useful for the written text of the policy to provide evidence 
for the figures of 1 car per 10 spaces. 

Additional information has been provided in the 
supporting text.

TRP3

We support the statement in TRP3 but would expect the TA and Travel Plan process to identify these 
connections in any case.  We would like clarity that further development contributions would not 
unreasonably be sought. NOTED

TRP4

Again the University supports this policy statement in TRP4 but would expect it to happen as part of the 
planning process, as part of the TA.   It should be noted that the Local Plan specifies thresholds per land 
use category over which the Travel Plan would be required and for developments below the threshold a 
Travel Plan would only be required if significant traffic was expected to be generated.  As a general point, 
the provision of information to employees on travel options is something the University would do 
regardless of the size of the development through its own Transport Strategy.

Policy changed to reflect comments and to 
provide a minimum threshold for developments.

TRP5
We fully support policy TRP5 regarding the provision for people with disabilities to use active forms of 
transport. NOTED

Page 6

66



Email Responses

TRP6

We consider, with regard to policy TRP6, the requirement to have enough cycle parking spaces for 75% 
of employees to be unrealistic and substantially in excess of the current cycle parking standards of 1 
space per 5 staff.   The University has historically exceeded this requirement by providing 1 space for 2.8 
staff at Old Road Campus, which ties in with the current commuting mode share for cycling across the 
University of 32%.   We would welcome a policy that would seek to regularly review cycle parking 
provision so it continually stays ahead of observed mode share, perhaps increasing the current 1 in 5 to 1 
in 3 to match existing but stepping up at each Plan review period.   A target of 75% may be counter-
productive as it would likely result in unutilised cycle parking, suggesting to casual observers that not 
many people were cycling to the site and not making best use of the development site nor resources.

The requirements for the numbers of cycle parking spaces should be 
backed up by evidence.  The City Council may hold such evidence.  
The policy may need to be revised accordingly.  The written text will 
need to cite such evidence. 

The Policy has been changed to more closely 
reflect the need for storage of bicycles, and to 
encourage increased use, rather than a specific 
figure across the board.

TRC8
The University is generally supportive of the community policies regarding transport.  With regard to 
TRC8 we observe that: NOTED

The University currently operates a parking charging system based on an annual permit which is very 
effective in both managing demand and fairly allocating spaces.

We would not currently support a per-use charging system due to the administrative and infrastructure 
costs of dispensing with an effective system and replacing with an unproven and costly arrangement.
Instead, we will shortly be consulting upon increasing the current parking charges.

Wayne Heal – 
Oxford Health (NHS) General

We have some general concerns about the degree of conformity between the HNP and the adopted Local Plan, which comprises the 
Oxford Core Strategy 2012 and the Oxford Sites and Housing Development Plan Document 2013. In these representations, we 
support the intent of many of the HNP policies but request changes to the wording so that the policies can be applied flexibly in the 
future to ensure that balanced planning decisions can be reached.

More flexibility should be added to the proposed policies which 
generally state what development proposals would be welcomed, what 
proposals would not be permitted, and what could be done if 
development was unavoidable.

The Suggested Changes have been taken on 
board to make the proposed policies more 
flexible, and to address any issues related to  
general conformity. 

General
We consider that the HNP should be reviewed to ensure that all its policies reflect the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development contained within the NPPF.

This review was part of the way in which the 
Forum has responses to consultee responses.

GSP1-2

Policy GSP1 requires that all currently publicly accessible green space in the HNP area will be retained as  publicly accessible green 
space. Policy GSP 2 requires that developments of ten or more residential units will provide at least 20% of the total site area as 
publicly accessible green space.  These policies raise the issue of conformity with the Local Plan. The requirements of Policies CS 2
and HP9 in respect of the provision of green space are significantly more flexible than the HNP policies. These policies are not 
in conformity with the Local Plan either in their general intent or in the specific requirement to provide 20% 
open space which is twice the level of provision required in the Local Plan. We therefore respectfully 
request that these policies are revised to provide more flexibility and to conform to the Local Plan 
requirements.

A proposed policy has been put to the PWG to develop policy GSP1 in 
the instance that development is unavoidable and would result in the 
loss of publicly accessible green space.  If GSP1 is developed then this
will provide more flexibility and general conformity with the Oxford Loca
Plan.  With regard to GSP2, the PWG has been advised to provide 
evidence and justification for this figure.  The NPPF requires that 
'Neighbourhood Plans must be in general conformity with the strategic 
policies of the Local Plan' (NPPF 184)  It can be argued that policy 
GSP2 is in general conformity with strategic policy CS21 as strategic 
policy CS21 provides that  'The City Council will seek to maintain an 
overall average of 5.75 ha of
publicly accessible green space per 1,000 population.''  The policy doe
therefore not provide a requirement figure for green space.  

For GSP1, these comments, together with other
comments have been taken on board, and the 
suggested changes have been made to the 
Policy. For GSP2, the Policy has been 
amended to reduce the requirement for green 
space and to clarify where publicly accessible 
green space should be provided.

Page 7

67



Email Responses

GSP4

Policy GSP4 of the HNP requires that all mature trees will be conserved. However, mature trees may be diseased or dying or be of 
low biodiversity value such that they could be removed and replaced for the long term benefit of the landscaping and biodiversity val
of the site. In the Oxford Core Strategy, several policies which allocate sites for major development state that ‘important trees’ should 
be retained. This wording in the Core Strategy provides an opportunity for a professional assessment of each tree to be undertaken 
to determine the importance of each tree and for the findings to be considered both for the site as a whole and for the individual trees. 
It is recommended that similar wording is used in the HNP. The PWG may want to consider this point.

This Policy has been amended to provide 
clarification and protection of mature trees.

GSP6

The requirement in respect of surface water run-off set out in the HNP is therefore considerably more 
stringent than that set out in the Local Plan and should be amended to conform to the Local Plan 
requirements. The PWG may want to consider this point.

This Policy has been removed as it was felt that
it did not fit well within the Plan.

AMP1-2

While we understand the intent of this policy, it should be noted that Paragraph 204 of the NPPF sets out the tests which should be 
applied to developer contributions. The tests are whether the developer contributions are: Necessary to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms;Directly related to the development; andFairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development.  Similarly, Policy AMP 2: Provision of Public Access to Sports and Leisure Facilities, requires provision of public 
access to on site private sports and leisure facilities on new developments at the major commercial, health and educational sites in 
Headington, which includes Warneford Hospital.   We submit that the requirements of Policies AMP 1 and AMP 2 are currently highly 
prescriptive and pre-empt  the NPPF requirements and we respectfully request that the policies are re-worded to provide more 
flexibility so that appropriate developer contributions can be made which meet the tests set out in the NPPF, while making a 
contribution to the provision of new community facilities. 

The proposed conditions of policy AMP2  may not be 'relevant' to a 
development on the sites stipulated.  Moreover, it is not 'reasonable' to 
enforce such conditions on 'any' development on these sites. AMC1 
encourages access to private on site sports and leisure facilities of 
major institutions and this is more appropriate. 

AMP1 - The Policy has been adjusted to ensure
that equivalent replacement facilities are 
provided. AMP2 – This policy has been 
removed.

GSC4

Our client fully supports Policy GSC4: Headington Biodiversity Plan and will seek to increase the biodiversity  value of the Warneford 
Hospital. As you may be aware we have implemented an Ecological Management Plan for the recently acquired Meadow and have 
recently commissioned an ecological assessment of Warneford Hospital. NOTED

CIP1 – AREA 
15

Policy CIP 1: Development to Respect Existing Local Character refers to the character studies which have  been carried out as part 
the evidence base of the plan. The Area 15 Character Study relates specifically to the Warneford Hospital site. Our client objects to 
the statement which refers to the sites at the Warneford and Churchill Hospitals, Southfield Golf Course and Hill Top Road, which is 
both in bold and italic font on page 5 of the report that: “Large scale  development of any of these nearby sites could compromise 
the special atmosphere of the Meadow”. The use of this font is pejorative and increases the significance of the potential impact of 
these developments.

Subjective judgements have been removed 
from the Character Assessments.

CIP1 – AREA 
20

We suggest that the wording of the character appraisal is restrictive and does not reflect the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development contained in the NPPF, as referred to earlier in these representations. The wording should be revised to ensure that the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development is reflected in the Issues sections of Character Appraisals 15 and 20, for the 
Warneford Hospital and the Lye Valley respectively.

Wording to the Character Assessments has 
been revised to reflect the comments.

HOUSING

Our client supports the intention of the housing policies in the HNP to increase the amount of key worker  housing. However, while we 
agree that there is an urgent need for a review of the local key worker housing policy in Oxford, we recommend that until such time as 
that review takes place, the Neighbourhood Plan should conform to the policies set out in the Oxford City Sites and Housing Plan on 
affordable/social housing.

This Policy has been adjusted to enable the 
provision of affordable homes for key workers.

Page 8

68



Email Responses

TRP1

Policy TRP 1 states that “Proposals for additional car parking spaces at major employment sites in  Headington will only be supporte
if they can demonstrate strong evidence that Headington’s road network has adequate unused capacity at peak times.” The policy as 
currently worded does not conform to the requirements of Section 32 of the NPPF which states that:   “development should only be 
prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe.”   Oxford City 
Council’s Supplementary Planning Document (2007) ‘Parking Standards, Transport Assessment and Travel Plans’ is a material 
consideration in determining planning applications. It sets out maximum parking standards and the requirements for transport 
assessments to support applications.   Our client supports the intention of the policy, to reduce traffic congestion. However, this polic
fails to conform to the requirements of the City Council’s SPD and to the thresholds set out in the NPPF.   It is suggested that the 
policy is therefore re-worded to reflect national and local policy, while still seeking to achieve its laudable intentions. 

The PWG may want to consider this point.  However, it could be 
argued that TRP1 is in general conformity with the Local Plan.

Clarification of this Policy has been made in the 
supporting text to reflect comments by a 
number of consultees. Traffic is an important 
concern of Headington residents, and the 
Forum will continue to promote car parking 
controls if the highway  network is unable to 
accommodate traffic growth.

TRP2

Our client supports the concept of the provision of a car sharing club as set out in Policy TRP 2 and of a parking space for a car club 
vehicle. However, we request that the supporting text to this policy clarifies how the figure of one space per development for a car 
club has been reached. 

Many policies provide figures that developments must conform to i.e. 
the number of parking spaces allowed, the amount of green space to b
provided and so on.  All these figures require justification and 
background evidence as to why they are given.  

Additional information has been provided in the 
supporting text.

TRP4

Policy TRP 4 requires multi-unit developments to develop travel plans showing how residents and/or employees may minimise car 
usage. The NPPF requires all developments that generate significant amounts of movement to be supported by a Travel Plan. Oxford 
City also sets out thresholds, identifying when a Transport Assessment and Travel Plans may be required. This process should 
therefore happen as part of the planning process and is not required as a separate policy in the HNP. 

Policy changed to reflect comments and to 
provide a minimum threshold for developments.

TRP6

The standard of cycle parking provision set out in Policy TRP6, which requires that there is sufficient cycle parking for 75% of 
employees, is unrealistic and does not conform to the standards set out in the adopted Local Plan, which require one space per 5 
employees for business and retail uses. While our client supports the principle of increasing cycle parking provision, this policy could 
lead to a surplus provision of cycle parking on sites and does not represent an efficient use of space. Further, it could lead to a 
perception that few people cycle, if many of the racks are empty.

The requirements for the numbers of cycle parking spaces should be 
backed up by evidence.  The City Council may hold such evidence.  
The policy may need to be revised accordingly.  The written text will 
need to cite such evidence. 

The Policy has been changed to more closely 
reflect the need for storage of bicycles, and to 
encourage increased use, rather than a specific 
figure across the board.

Chris Shipton – 
Resident General

I think that the plan should be balanced between social, economic and transport factors. I don't think the plan is balanced 
enough. I think it could do with more creativity and vision. I think it is missing out on business and 
economy aspects so critically it needs to be added to a lot.

The Forum has attempted to provide a more 
extensive vision for the Plan and increase the 
business and economy elements with new 
supporting text and new policies.

GSP1 – 5 all seem sensible and well thought out. NOTED

AMP1-2 all seem sensible and well thought out. NOTED

GSC1-4 all seem sensible and well thought out. NOTED

AMC1 seems unworkable the way its phrased. NOTED

Business and 
Retail

seems very light indeed - I find it amazing businesses in the area would not have more to say. Generally I 
feel the policies in this document are ‘anti business’. This is a terrible shame and omission. I think the 
whole process needs to be halted to build this up as it is the lynchpin of the community.

Agree, this is a small section for such a big topic area. If it is to remain 
a small section, it should have some explanation as to why it is so brief.

The Forum has attempted to provide a more 
extensive vision for the Plan and increase the 
business and economy elements with new 
supporting text and new policies.

Page 9

69



Email Responses

Where is the protection for commercial property being turned into residential? If this is permitted 
Headington could permanently lose its shops and businesses as residential property is worth so much 
more than commercial? Its a one way street. Will there be anything about fast food shops and litter? How 
can this plan prohibit betting shops? and god forbid sex shops? Is there scope for encouraging rate relief, 
perhaps linked to BRC2. Is it possible to have Christmas rolled into this - the decorations for Headington. 
Or is that out of scope? What about the eternal question of switching Shop units - this is not addressed. 
Can there be a presumption an occupied commercial unit is better than a not occupied one? Switching 
from A1/A2/A3 to be permitted? It would create a more fluid High St and allow more independent retailers. 
Otherwise the only people who can survive are mini-supermarkets. Essentially mini supermarkets can 
bend the supermarket rules to open ‘shops’ and have low enough margins to survive on a high cost high 
st. Flexibility in A1/A2/A3 combined with rate relief and a preferential treatment in planning would allow 
local entrepreneurs to re-invigorate Headington. Did none of that come up at all ???

The Forum has produced a new Business and 
Retail policy to consider the issues involved 
around the retail hierarchy. Although the Forum 
cannot directly alter rate relief, it has proposed 
to work closely with Oxford City Council, who 
set the rules for retail, to try and provide a more 
progressive approach.

BRC1 parking is a barrier to a successful High St. NOTED

BRC2

a good idea - but these are busy people they need to see tangible commercial advantages to being 
involved before engaging otherwise its a talking shop, and time they should be spending to make money 
to keep their businesses afloat NOTED

Character and 
Identity

what IS the local character? Is this too hard a question to actually answer? Surely this is where the Local 
Plan is bold and steps forward to say ‘this is what Headington is’.

Local character has been addressed in the 
Character Assessments, and has been linked to 
Character and Identity policies within the Plan.

CIP3
what no Grand Design’s style eco houses? Maybe they should be waived to be as wacky as they want if 
they are Cat6 super eco homes??

The Forum needs to balance sustainability with 
maintaining the Character of Headington.

Sheila Aldred, 
Oxford University 
Hospitals NHS 
Trust

Amenity and 
Green Spaces

We support the retention of green and amenity spaces.  The Trust has a large green area on the John Radcliffe  
Hospital site, which will remain undeveloped and is used as an overflow site for air ambulances.  The Trust has a large 
number of trees on all the sites, a number of which have Tree Protection Orders and there are no current plans to 
remove any of these.  

NOTED

Amenity and 
Green Spaces

The Trust are aware of and very protective of the SSSI site at the Churchill Hospital site and would be happy to 
participate in the Headington Biodiversity Plan.  Any wildlife on the Littlemore site is earmarked to be relocated to the 
Churchill site. NOTED

Amenity and 
Green Spaces

The Trust does not have any leisure facilities on our sites and encourages staff to use public sports and leisure 
facilities with reduced rates for NHS staff.

NOTED

Business and 
Retail

Many staff shop locally and we would welcome short term parking in order to encourage new businesses to Headington.
NOTED

Character and 
Identity

Any future development on the sites will take into account the surrounding area.  At the John Radcliffe Hospital any 
future development will take into account the surrounding buildings and also the locality near to the conservation area.  

NOTED

Character and 
Identity

The Churchill Hospital currently has vacant buildings and open spaces. Any future developments are likely to be more 
dense but will have appropriate green spaces and landscaping in accordance with planning regulations. NOTED

Page 10

70



Email Responses

Character and 
Identity

Before any development is agreed, Headington Forward will be informed of any proposals and the Trust will meet with 
local groups in advance of any planning applications and will also carry out public consultations in accordance with 
planning permission guidance.  

NOTED

Education

The Trust works closely with Brookes University who train student nurses and allied health professionals who work at 
our hospitals.  We therefore highly value the presence of the University in the local area and welcome the expansion in 
nursing numbers.

NOTED

Housing

The Trust very much supports Affordable Homes for Key Workers.  The Trust has a problem with recruitment and 
retention, due to the high price of housing in and around Oxford.  The Trust are currently negotiating with Grosvenor, 
the developer of Barton Park, to lobby the City Council to allow a number of Key Worker houses on the site.  The Trust 
is exploring a variety of ways in which it can support key worker housing for its staff.

This Policy has been adjusted to enable the 
provision of affordable homes for key workers.

Housing

The masterplan for the Churchill, which is currently being drafted, allows for a large number of units of key worker 
housing.

NOTED

Housing

Private rented sector and Houses of Multiple Occupation (HMOs). Many of our staff rent properties in the city so the 
Trust supports the measures taken by Oxford City Council to regulate private rented housing and HMOs to improve 
standards.

NOTED

Housing The Trust would be happy to work with Oxford Community Land Trust on affordable housing proposals.  NOTED

Transport

Transport issues are again a major concern for the Trust, as indicated previously.  The Trust has a Transport Policy, 
which is currently being updated, which limits the number of parking permits available to staff according to need, 
proximity and the availability of public transport alternatives and encourages the use of alternative methods of 
transport.  

NOTED

Transport

However, due to the cost of the Park & Ride (£2 per day and a further £2.40 for the bus), and the cost of public 
transport generally, the Trust subsidises staff travel.  

NOTED

Transport

The Trust would be very interested in combining with the University of Oxford to provide our own Park & Ride site with 
buses running to the Old Road Campus and  Churchill and John Radcliffe Hospitals, but there are no sites available 
nearby.

NOTED

Transport

The Trust has shown an interest in renting land near to the new Barton Park development, as staff could then walk to 
work, but again there appear to be no sites available.  This would help reduce the traffic flow from the A40 through 
Headington.

NOTED

Transport

The Trust have made several comments on the County Council’s Headington Transport Proposals and in particular in 
regard to the proposed traffic lights on the Headley Way roundabout and also on the one way of Churchill Drive, which 
the Trust strongly objects to.

NOTED

Transport

The Trust encourages alternative methods of travel including cycle to work schemes and  share a car schemes and 
therefore supports the proposals to increase cycle and pedestrian routes to the main hospital sites.

NOTED

Transport

A large number of the patients travelling to the three hospital sites have limited mobility and in the case of cancer 
patients at the Churchill may not be able to walk far.  The Trust is therefore working with the local councils to reduce 
on site staff car parking and increase patient car parking.  

NOTED

Page 11

71



Email Responses

Transport

The Trust does not support the idea of congestion charging as this would have an adverse effect on the Trust’s ability 
to recruit and retain staff, would have an adverse impact on our patients from outside Oxford, and could increase costs 
to the Trust if we have to pay some of the charges which would have a negative effect on healthcare locally as it would 
mean a reduction in spending on something else.

This section has been changed to provide a 
more flexible approach to delivering active 
transport proposals.

Page 12

72



Email Responses

Page 13

73



E-Forum Responses

E-forum Consultation 
Responses

http://forums.e-
democracy.org/group
s/oxford-hm

Consultee Policy Area Comment Suggested Changes Forum Response

Nigel Magnay TCS5

I am hereby registering my disagreement (if not actual disgust) with the part "and consider originating 
some long-distance bus services from Thornhill Park and Ride, fed by feeder services." in TCS5. This 
should be dropped. Bus services need to be, ideally – cheap – fast – convenient.

The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

The London and Airport busses - which are always the ones when this topic arises - already fail the first 
test. E.g: It's actually already cheaper to drive and pay the airport parking for many journeys. But it's what 
the market will bear (as there is even competition for the London routes) – and they're busy, so clearly 
are successful.

The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

They are not particularly fast. But forcing a change at Thornhill would make 
them even *slower*, and frankly put the final nail in the coffin, by making 
them much less convenient. And that's before considering how negatively it 
would impact other services as hundreds of extra passengers an hour load and 
unload suitcases and bicycles.

The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

Having a door-to-door bus service to central London and major airports is a 
significant benefit to residents of Headington. I cannot understand how 
considering making a public transport service *worse* can be compatible with 
the idea of promoting sustainable transport. It will merely serve to drive 
journeys back into cars - either for the entire journey, or to be 'dropped 
off/picked up' at the 'hub'.

The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

I understand Oxford colleges often lobby against public transport as being some sort of inconvenience to 
them - having this in the plan for Headington looks awfully like their long shadow trying to influence us. 
We should not even be considering ruining the one small bit of public transport that actually appears to 
work well.

The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

David Perkins I agree, it's a bonkers idea, which will only discourage public transport use. 
The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

David Clover

I agree completely with Nigel that it's an absurdity. If the professed intention is to reduce bus movements 
through Headington, it's still a nonsense because everybody who needs to travel to London would have to
get on a bus anyway (and often, with their heavy luggage for which there is no provision in the normal 
buses) just to get to the Park and Ride. And it would increase the number of people who use their cars to 
go to the Park and Ride and leave them in order to travel to London. Let's just drop this nonsense.

The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

Graham Tucker I completely agree with all of these comments as well. 
The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

Page 1

74



E-Forum Responses

Flora Alexander I agree with these comments. 
The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

Peter McCarter I, too, agree with all the previous comments. 
The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

Noam Bleicher I'll second that.
The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

Stephanie Jenkins

I was surprised when I saw this proposal at the Hub on Saturday, as I consider the London and airport 
bus service (and indeed all our wonderful local bus services) to be one of the best things about 
Headington.

The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

Roger Lai

I too completely agree that the bus plan is completely bonkers - and this is a plan that supposedly 
represents the interests of the local community! I used to commute via the London bus, and it is always 
busy and actually very reasonably priced for commuters. Back then it was 12-journey tickets that were the 
best value, but I'm sure things have moved on from there. If bus riders had to change at Thornhill, 
everyone would just start driving or take the train. Why wouldn't I just drive to Water Eaton (ahem, 
"Oxford Parkway") instead? Being able to get the coach to London/Heathrow/Gatwick from Bury Knowle 
is a huge benefit of living in Headington - why would we get rid of that?!?

The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

Tony Dee Totally agree. I have registered my objection to this proposal as Stephanie suggests.
The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

Miles Hobart

I already fed back to the people pulling together the plan that this "Replace the London buses with the 
equivalent number of 700 buses and have passengers change and lug their suitcases between buses at 
Thornhill" is completely preposterous on so many levels. I will vote against the plan if it remains in, which 
is a shame because other than that I thought it was a decent document.

The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

Mary Clarkson (Marston Ward Councillor)

I can understand the thinking behind the proposal but instead of a few relatively empty coaches crawling 
through Headington, what you will have instead is a lot more relatively empty cars making the same 
journey. People who return late at night - from the airports or London won’t want to wait in a lonely Park 
and Ride on the outskirts of Oxford for a shuttle bus, however attractive this might be during the day. At 
the moment, when I have evening meetings in London, I walk into Headington and I feel safe enough to 
walk home even after 11. I wouldn’t feel so safe if I was the only one waiting at Thornhill, where I doubt 
the shuttle bus frequency would be great after 11. If these proposals went ahead, I would definitely drive 
to Thornhill and I’m sure I wouldn’t be the only one.

The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

Rachael Farnsworth

In what universe could you possibly think this is a good idea? I suppose in the many-worlds interpretation 
of quantum mechanics there is a Headington set in a secluded enclave many miles from any cities where 
people flit about using only independent shops and eschewing coffee-chains or travel to anywhere else 
but last time I checked, it wasn't this one.

The comments have been taken on-board, 
and this policy has been removed.

Page 2

75



E-Forum Responses

Page 3

76



Online Responses

Online Responses
Consultee Policy Area Comment Suggested Changes Forum Response

Anon.
Green Spaces 
and Amenity yes NOTED

Anon.

I agree with the principles in GSP1-3, 5, 6 to maintain and extend green spaces. I am not so sure about 
maintaining all trees as GSP4 - mature trees can be a menace, I have a huge oak at the bottom of my 
back garden which dries out the garden and adversely affects light. GSC1: says the provision and 
retention of green front gardens will be encouraged. The current parking rules ensures exactly the 
opposite pertains, as more and more front gardens are concreted over due to the residential parking 
charges. 

PWG to consider whether policy GSP4 should 
apply to all mature trees.

This Policy has been amended to provide 
clarification and protection of mature trees.

Anon.
Yes I strongly support each element of the Amenity and Green spaces policy, which I hope will serve to 
protect and enhance green spaces and biodiversity NOTED

Anon.
Business and 
Retail it's important to encourage convenience stores (such as sainsbury's and tesco's) to flourish NOTED

Anon. No comments. 

Anon.

I strongly support the proposed changes to car parking charges (BRC1) as a way not only to support 
local businesses but also to reduce illegal and dangerous short term parking in the Headington shops 
area. Its disappointing that there is no mention of any policies to try and improve the range of shops in 
the central area Business PWG to consider enlarging their section.

The Forum has produced a new Business 
and Retail policy to consider the issues 
involved around the retail hierarchy. 
Although the Forum cannot directly alter 
rate relief, it has proposed to work closely 
with Oxford City Council, who set the rules 
for retail, to try and provide a more 
progressive approach.

Anon.
Character and 
Identity Brooke's university is a very important part of Headington and its needs (eg accommodation) must be taken into account NOTED – Brookes has been consulted

Anon. No comments. 

Anon.  I support the policies here, no specific comments NOTED

Anon. Education Brooke's University should be highlighted and its students welcomed into the area
NOTED – although the Plan has not 
specifically highlighted local constituents

Anon. No comments. 

Anon. I support the policies here NOTED

Anon. Housing A range of housing – including student accommodation – is required

NOTED – although other consultees have 
identified that large scale student housing 
could be seen as detrimental to the 
character of Headington

Page 1

77



Online Responses

Anon.

I agree that key worker housing is a priority. HMOs and student housing is a real issue locally. I'm not 
convinced that there are adequate limits on numbers: a % of student housing is fine but at times it 
seems that excessive numbers of houses become student homes, typically when an elderly resident 
sells up. This is of course exacerbated by the high property prices in Headington, so an open market 
solution is not viable and controls should be in place on numbers.

The PWG cannot control the housing given over to 
students by landlords.

NOTED – although the Plan does not feel 
that it can put controls on student numbers 
given that Oxford City Council has already 
put in place controls.

Anon.
I strongly support all the policies here and welcome the plan to encourage Oxford Community Land Trust 
to become active in Headington NOTED

Anon. Transport
cyclists should be banned where they break the law (eg going through red lights or riding on pavements) 
- cyclists should be kept off of pavements. NOTED

Anon.

I recently started a petition for a safe crossing place and traffic calming in Quarry Hollow. I believe the 
Headington Plan reinforces how important it is that measures are introduced to make Quarry safer for 
pedestrians and cyclists. In Quarry Hollow we do not have safe pavements or cycle paths, pavement 
quality is very poor and speeding, along with other forms of dangerous driving is commonplace. Parents 
are the preschool in Quarry Hollow often drive to school because they do not feel safe enough on the 
pavements with young children to walk. Quarry has long been overlooked in transport planning. As this 
route seems to have become a major access point into Headington, this must be redressed. Action is 
urgently required to make Headington Quarry safe. 

NOTED – the Transport policies aim to 
improve active transport solutions and 
therefore improve the safety of pedestrians.

Anon.

I'm unsure about parking provision at major employment sites. There are large numbers of shift workers, 
disabled or physically infirm, and those with family commitments who need to be able to park near work. 
There is an argument that a decent level of parking provision gets traffic off the roads. More practically, 
cycling in Headington is horribly hazardous and more needs to be done to devise safe cycling networks 
and to enable joined up journeys to be made without encountering busy traffic and HGVs. And some 
junctions are bonkers: road markings and signage for example at the junction of Old Road and Windmill 
Road are very confusing for cyclists, who appear to be allowed both on the road and on the pavement. A 
universal 20mph limit is fine if I had any confidence it was going to be enforced. Wharton Road for 
example is a racetrack as folk rush to get to the end, knowing that they will have to slow down for speed 
humps around the corner! 

This section has been changed to provide a 
more flexible approach to delivering active 
transport proposals.

Anon. TRC2

TRC2 - This statement is disappointingly weak. Some official cycle paths e.g. through Old Headington to 
the JR are dangerous, as nothing has been done to reduce traffic volume and to separate cyclists from 
other vehicles. There needs to be a policy of making all cycle paths safe and easy to use TRC3 I 
disagree with this policy. Existing 30mph limits should be retained on the main arteries, as traffic goes 
slower at peak times and 20mph limit would be ignored and not enforced at other times. TRC5 I support 
the idea of improving orbital connectivity. However I STRONGLY DISAGREE with the LUNATIC idea of 
feeder services instead of long distance bus services. This will greatly reduce the convenience of using 
the long distance buses as it will increase journey time, necessitate waiting for 2 buses and 2 luggage 
transfers. It is likely to increase car use as people drive to Thornhill or to Oxford Parkway station to catch 
the train to London. Because of this silly idea I can only broadly agree with the Plan overall

Policy TRC5 has been removed. Policy 
TRC3 has been retained for further 
consultation with the community.  The 
transport  section has been changed to 
provide a more flexible approach to 
delivering active transport proposals.

Anon. TRC3
TRC3 I disagree with this policy. Existing 30mph limits should be retained on the main arteries, as traffic 
goes slower at peak times and 20mph limit would be ignored and not enforced at other times. 

Policy TR3 has been retained for further 
consultation with the community.

Page 2

78



Online Responses

Anon. TRC5

TRC5 I support the idea of improving orbital connectivity. However I STRONGLY DISAGREE with the 
LUNATIC idea of feeder services instead of long distance bus services. This will greatly reduce the 
convenience of using the long distance buses as it will increase journey time, necessitate waiting for 2 
buses and 2 luggage transfers. It is likely to increase car use as people drive to Thornhill or to Oxford 
Parkway station to catch the train to London. Because of this silly idea I can only broadly agree with the 
Plan overall Policy TR5 has been removed.

Anon. General Commentit's all a bit 'trendy' buying into green policies ... is this what is needed?

Sustainable development is integrated into 
the Plan, and is an essential requirement, 
ensuring general conformity with the 
National Planning Policy Framework

Trevor Lambert

Well, it's a wish list but a) the devil is in the detail and some of the terminology involves value 
judgements b) 'he who pays the piper calls the tune' - I'm afraid I think that in the end money talks and a 
lot of these issues are hard to implement/control when property developers with money come talking! NOTED

Anon.

Thank you for all the time and effort people have put into this largely excellent plan. It is such a pity that it
includes a crazy proposal to rationalise bus services, which will destroy one of the very best things about 
living in Headington. I am worried that the current Tory Government's determination to reduce planning 
controls will mean that local plans like this are effectively negated. Policy TR5 has been removed.

Page 3

79



Public Events Comments

Public Events 
Comments
Consultee Policy Area Comment Suggested Changes Forum Response

Nicholas Rollin, 63 Old 
Road

Amenity and 
Green Spaces Trees need to be managed: e.g. low branches in residential roads; screen trees along main thoroughfares.

NOTED – although these issues are more 
about ongoing vegetation maintenance by 
landowners/OCC.

Heather Armitage, 50 St 
Anne's Road Housing

In Switzerland any residence which is empty is lent to a homeless family by the local authority. Let's have 
that here. The NP should press for the enforcement of their policy that Oxford University and Oxford 
Brookes should have no more than 3,000 students each in residential accommodation. A recent survey 
shows there are 10,000 students in residential accommodation. If these student numbers in private 
accommodation could be reduced (either by student accommodation or reduction in student numbers) then 
1,000 houses would be released for family/other professional use. The Oxford City Council is well aware of 
the large student numbers in residential accommodation because of non-payment of Council Tax. To return 
these houses to family accommodation would provide much needed boost to the council's Council Tax 
income.

The Plan cannot control the housing 
given over to students by landlords.

NOTED – although the Plan does not feel 
that it can put controls on student 
numbers given that Oxford City Council 
has already put in place controls.

Amenity and 
Green Spaces

Please give your definition of 'Green Space'/ This has been cut out of the original draft. I support the Green 
Spaces policies and would like additional protection as local green space for site 60, the open green space 
adjacent to Warren Crescent, which is (a) the only kickabout ball open space on Town Furze estate and (b) 
vital rainwater catchment and infiltration for the Lye Valley SSSI which is directly below it. Agree, definition should be given.

Definition has been provided in the 
supporting text.

AMP1 & AMP2
These policies are in the middle of the Green Spaces policies. They should be moved to be next to AMC1. 
The present arrangement is confusing.

The PWG may want to consider re 
structuring the Plan or at least further 
clarifying the structure of the Plan as it 
stands,

Green spaces and amenity are 
intrinsically linked, and therefore the link 
between the policies has been 
maintained.

Character and 
Identity

For Character Assessment 19 the title 'Girdlestone Road Estate' is incorrect. It should be 'Town Furze 
Estate'. The description fails to emphasise the importance and beauty of the land adjacent to Warren 
Crescent (site 60) which is the only football kickabout area in this estate. It is also used by children for 
picnics, building snowmen, informal leisure. It should be listed under Local Amenities e.g. There is a well 
maintained play park for young children. There is a well-used open green space, the only location suitable 
for ball games and informal leisure. A photograph of this is available on request. It is a beautiful green space 
- which local people want to preserve. This should replace the image of the allotment gate.

NOTED – changes have been made to 
Character Assessment 19 to 
accommodate these comments. The title 
of CA19 has been changed to Girdlestone 
Road Area as this reflects the location.

Character and 
Identity

Headington's stone walls should be protected. At present they are only protected if they are over 1 metre 
high and are in a conservation area. This has led to stone walls being damaged and/or removed for example 
in the Lye Valley.

Consideration was given to how this might 
take place. However, a blanket protection 
of a range of stone walls was not 
considered feasible.

Page 1

80



Public Events Comments

TRP6
This should be rephrased. It is unclear - 'or 75% of bed spaces in shared accommodation' - does this mean 
2 bicycle storage places per HMO - or what. Please clarify. Agree. Policy is not clear as it stands.

The Policy has been changed to more 
closely reflect the need for storage of 
bicycles, and to encourage increased 
use, rather than a specific figure across 
the board.

TRC3 I approve of limiting speed in Headington to 20mph throughout. NOTED  
TRC6 There is simply too much vehicular traffic in Headington and Oxford. NOTED  

TRC8
Reduce commuting by car. Shut the free commuter car parks on Warren Crescent and at the entrance to 
the Lye Valley LNR/LWS.

The Forum does not have the power to 
close car parks.

Hilary Rollin, 63 Old 
Road

Amenity & 
Green Spaces

Green space -= definition? Unclear to uninformed reader what this actually means i.e. grassland? What 
about insect friendly planting? Community herb garden? Spell this out. Just mention to flowers and 
vegetables is a loose term and does not imply this.

Definition of publicly accessible green 
space is required.

Definition has been provided in the 
supporting text.

TRC1 One shared car replaces around 8 private cars - suggest up to 8. PWG may wish to consider.

This section has been changed to provide 
a more flexible approach to delivering 
active transport proposals.

TRC2

Not all roads would seem able to accommodate mandatory cycle lane (am I right in thinking cars must not 
drive in mandatory cycle lanes even when no cars are there? Assuming this is so, the driveable area of road 
would be drastically and unrealistically reduced.

This section has been changed to provide 
a more flexible approach to delivering 
active transport proposals.

TRC3 This would eliminate uncertainty. Good. NOTED  

TRC4
Yes - N.B. Gateway entrance treatment to date has frequently resulted in the creation of 'lakes' as the 
treatment creates a dam. Water is unlikely to flow uphill. NOTED  

Transport
Pavements - cycle track symbol to be repeated frequently on shared pavements as a reminder, also needed 
for pedestrians joining the pavement part way along after the one and only symbol.

PWG to consider recommending 
improved signage as an action point.

This section has been changed to provide 
a more flexible approach to delivering 
active transport proposals.

TRC5
I wonder! 1 coach takes up less road space then the private cars which people would inevitably use (also 
taxis) when travelling with luggage. I fear a shuttle would not be much used. This Policy has been removed.

TRC6
Congestion charging - yes. Also access to Headington proposes removing grass verges along some roads. 
Avoid doing this on Old Road where grass verges are a distinctive feature. Reduce, OK; remove, No! NOTED  

Robert and Rev. 
Rosemary Davies

Character and 
Identity

St Ebbe's Church is not shown on map in Lime Walk while other churches are, though it is mentioned in the 
text, Area 10a. NOTED  

Cllr Ruth Wilkinson Housing
Is there a case for defining neighbourhood policy on number of students flats with nominations agreements 
in roads defined as residential.

NOTED – although the Plan does not feel 
that it can put controls on student 
numbers given that Oxford City Council 
has already put in place controls.

TRP3 Agree alleyways etc should be promoted - who would pay ongoing maintenance bills?
There would be no difference to current 
system.

Page 2

81



Public Events Comments

TRP4

Travel plans for major developments should be reviewed every time they are updated by the relevant 
planning committee (sometimes this is delegated, but figures can change significantly between revisions). I 
am asking OCC if this is possible. NOTED  

TRP6 Bicycle storage for 75% of employees - is this an overall number, or based on FTEs?

The Policy has been changed to more 
closely reflect the need for storage of 
bicycles, and to encourage increased 
use, rather than a specific figure across 
the board.

General

Issues raised in character assessments have not been addressed by plan policies or community policies. 
Major issues should be discussed by: Transport - on street parking and hospitals, Business and Retail - 
code of practice and informative, Housing/Character and Identity - storage of domestic bins and community 
statement. Lots of issues - piece of work needed to map these to PWGs.

Issues raised by Character Assessments 
were fed into the Policy Working Groups 
to consider. The issues raised are 
advisory, and not all can be taken forward 
in the Plan.

Transport

I am surprised there is no policy on reviewing resident parking zone areas as this features heavily in 
casework - current boundaries are too large and span both sides of London Road in same area. Would 
support this when funding available. Also reviewed short stay parking in central Headington.

This was not an issue which was raised in 
the Issues and Options consultation. This 
is felt to be an issue for Oxford City 
Council.

BRC1
Need to identify who the 'reps' of the Headington Business Community are if there is no Business 
Association. NOTED  

HGP1

Wording changes may be needed according to OCC as policy working may not match accompanying text. 
Reads as though accommodation is prioritised for people who work in Headington public sector rather than 
for local families with grown up children needing affordable housing, or for those working in Headington but 
in private sector, not public sector. Keyworkers in OCC parlance include those working at the Universities, 
is this what people want? Keyworkers should include care workers at private nursing homes, in my view.

Suggested changes already proposed to 
policy.  The Plan will need to cite who is 
a key worker.

This Policy has been adjusted to enable 
the provision of affordable homes for key 
workers.

HGC4 A lot of work is already being done on this by OCC. Often delays are due to probate and other legal issues. NOTED  

TRP2
Wording implies that proposed 10+ developments can still go ahead without car share space but would be 
encouraged. Is that what is intended? To consider clarifying

Additional information has been provided 
in the supporting text.

GSP4

need a definition of what is a 'mature' tree. Good tree management plan often includes a replanting plan. 
Equal number of trees at a designated site within the area - does 1 mature specimen tree equal a Leylandii 
or a cherry? Should designated sites specify list of approved species and who will designate these sites - 
the Forum? Policy says cover the cost of planting, not the cost of the trees themselves - amend to include 
this?

It would be useful to clarify what a 
'mature tree' is.

This Policy has been amended to provide 
clarification and protection of mature 
trees.

GSP2 I don’t think 20% is a workable figure. 10-15% is more reasonable. All figures require justification.

The Policy has been amended to reduce 
the requirement for green space and to 
clarify where publicly accessible green 
space should be provided.

Page 3

82



Public Events Comments

GSC2

Parks will be ….managed in accordance with their particular individual character - should character 
assessments be carried out on the Parks indicating what their individual character is? Does this include 
recreation grounds like Sandfield Road rec? Or only City Council Parks? Or could expand text here.

Character assessments would be carried 
out by OCC if they thought it was 
necessary.  A Planning Officer can make 
a judgement as to the individual 
character of an area with the help of 
policy guidance and other evidence. NOTED  

Glynis Phillips, 28 New 
High Street Housing

Please delete 'medical staff' from 'what we want to achieve'.  Suggest deleting from 'many of whom are 
medical staff'. Also this para should more accurately reflect the Policies and Projects which are all excellent.

Wording has been removed. This Policy 
has been adjusted to enable the provision 
of affordable homes for key workers.

Alastair Read, Windmill 
School Governor Transport Good that Lonodon Road has cycling lanes both sides - making cycling easier is a good objective. NOTED  

Mike Boon, Ramsay 
Road General No comment - will look at website (just moved to Headington). NOTED  

Mr G Bennetts
Amenity and 
Green Spaces

Supportive of maintaining green spaces and other policy proposals GSC1 and 2. Lye Valley would benefit 
from academic leadership and evidence. NOTED  

Character and 
Identity A good sense of identity in Headington and respecting local character - CIP1,2 and 4. NOTED  

Sheila Munday, Gurden 
Place

Amenity and 
Green Spaces Keep the current green spaces NOTED  

Housing
Supports affordable housing and does not like selling off affordable homes. Does not like students living in 
houses which could be used for other people. Students do not pay council tax bu the landowners should.

The HNP cannot control student housing 
in such a way.

NOTED – although the Plan does not feel 
that it can put controls on student 
numbers given that Oxford City Council 
has already put in place controls.

Transport Already uses public transport NOTED  
Business and 
Retail Reasonable to get local businesses together. NOTED  

Suzanne Engela, 35 
Ringwood Road Transport

Covered bike stores would be nice. Widen crossing outside Cancer Research as new buses and bicycles 
cant go through the lights side by side - its too narrow.

NOTED  - This section has been changed 
to provide a more flexible approach to 
delivering active transport proposals.

Business and 
Retail Independent shops lower rates to encourage - chair stores higher?

The Forum has produced a new Business 
and Retail policy to consider the issues 
involved around the retail hierarchy. 
Although the Forum cannot directly alter 
rate relief, it has proposed to work closely 
with Oxford City Council, who set the 
rules for retail, to try and provide a more 
progressive approach.

Page 4

83



Public Events Comments

Jackie Mundell, 19 
Northfield Road General Great ideas - very comprehensive. NOTED  

Steve Woolliams, 103 
Dene Road

Character and 
Identity

I note that in the Character Assessment for Area 19: Girdlestone Road Estate, there is no mention of the 
buildings planned for site 60 - the land adjacent to Warren Crescent. This area is currently open green 
space much valued and used by local people for walking, playing sports etc - usually there are groups of 
children playing football there. It is also vital for the survival of the immediately adjacent Lye Valley SSSI 
which depends on the free drainage of water - rainwater through the underlying limestone rock into the SSSI 
alkaline fen.

Changes have been made to CA19 to 
reflect comments made by a range of 
consultees.

Mary Wooliams, 103 
Dene Road

Amenity and 
Green  Spaces

Please remember neighbouring areas e.g. Lye Valley and how different neighbourhoods can work together 
to protect wildlife recreational areas etc. NOTED  

David Emery, 41 Osler 
Road Transport

Traffic and coaches to local public schools is a problem. Parking, turning and pickup should be provided on 
the schools extensive sites.

NOTED – although the Plan is not able to 
force public schools to use their own sites 
for traffic management.

Harry Walton, 2 
Abingdon Cottages

Amenity and 
Green Spaces Strong support for local biodiversity. NOTED  

Peter Forbes, 29 York 
Ave Transport

JR Parking for visitors - many come from 20-40 miles away for treatment. All new development must have 
underground parking - in Europe they all do.

NOTED – this is covered by section on 
travel plans for organisations.

Housing Much more housing for key workers/nurses/ambulance etc. now!

The housing Policy has been adjusted to 
enable the provision of affordable homes 
for key workers.

Stephanie Jenkins, 39 
Kennett Road Transport

London buses are one of the best things about Headington. But airport buses could go. They cause 
problems holding up traffic while loading luggage underneath the bus.  Very opposed to removing London 
buses from Headington - they are one of its best features. This Policy has been removed.

Housing
Headington is overdeveloped and no community facilities should be lost to flats which often tend to bring 
more people into the area.

NOTED – however the remit of 
neighbourhood planning is not to stop 
development occurring but to enable 
sustainable development.

Stuart Crook, 34 
Ramsay Road GSP1-3 Agree NOTED  

GSP4
Mature trees that are damaging the pavements and streets should be considered for removal and new 
planting considered to avoid excessive costs on maintenance and repair. PWG to consider 

This Policy has been amended to provide 
clarification and protection of mature 
trees.

AMP1-2
I could fill this space with comment on Margaret Road pavilion and other sport facilities. This is underway at 
present BUT I have concerns on the final plans and council delivery. NOTED  

Business and 
Retail

The centre of Headington has been slowly dying for a number of years. Short term parking is needed as a 
free provision to generate custom. However, disabled spaces need to be better policed and managed 
especially in and around the Coop area.

NOTED – The aim of Policy BRC1 is to 
enable better use of Headington's parking 
facilities.

Education
Primary school places need to be planned for using birth data to ensure local children are not overlooked 
and cramped in to ever increasing classes.

NOTED – this function is the 
responsibility of Oxfordshire CC.

Page 5

84



Public Events Comments

Michael and Anne 
Panter, 52 Quarry Road Transport

Sub hospital staff on Park & Ride (Thornhill) so that they can access work in hosp with shuttle buses to take 
them to their work. No congestion charges. We are happy to use buses to go into town instead of taking the 
car - these bus services are very important especially for the old people. We like the idea of establishing 
more walking opportunities and maintaining green spaces specifically. 

NOTED  - This section has been changed 
to provide a more flexible approach to 
delivering active transport proposals.

Amenity and 
Green Spaces

Very supportive of any policies to preserve green and wild areas in Headington. We use the parks with our 
grandchildren - they are so valuable to encourage children to play safely outdoors. NOTED  

Veronica Hurst, 9 Stoke 
Place

Business and 
Retail We need some more ideas for policies.

The Forum has attempted to provide a 
more extensive vision for the Plan and 
increase the business and economy 
elements with new supporting text and 
new policies.

TRP1 Any new build should have underground parking. 

NOTED – although considered that this 
would not be in general conformity with 
the Local Plan.

TRP2 But to prioritise the safety and convenience of pedestrians over cyclists right to use part of the footway. NOTED  

TRP3 Should be mandatory NOTED  

TRC5
No reduction in overall frequency of London buses but numbers could be reduced and cheaper fares 
available for people who get on at P&R. This Policy has been removed.

TRC4 Very important - pavements aren't safe for elderly residents and the patchwork of asphalt is unsightly. NOTED  

Housing
Conflicts with other policies potentially but with the right body overseeing planning throughout the 
neighbourhood area this could be avoided. All suggested policies are good in themselves.

The housing Policy has been adjusted to 
enable the provision of affordable homes 
for key workers.

Amenity and 
Green Spaces All good NOTED  

Character and 
Identity All good NOTED  

General

There is no room in neighbourhood planning for single issue fundamentalism; its essential to recognise that 
a successful neighbourhood is one where balance between communities, plans and practicalities has been 
established. NOTED  

Richard Bradley, 24 
Beaumont Road HGP1

The last para is confusing.  Could be better if worded as follows: @The proposed policy would remove the 
necessity of having 50% affordable housing. It could increase the viability of….'.

Proposed changes have already been 
made to this policy.

The housing Policy has been adjusted to 
enable the provision of affordable homes 
for key workers.

Page 6

85



Public Events Comments

Anonymous Visitor, 4 
Holyoake Road Housing

Mentioned the need to promote housing for old people, i.e. to move into the smallest accommodation where 
they could live in 'self-care' circumstances. NOTED  

Transport

Bus routes from Barton development across bypass into North Way Estate where roads not suitable may 
cause problems at busy times. Ideally a road from the bypass into the JR should still be considered to help 
Marston and Headley estates.

NOTED – awaiting proposals from new 
Barton extension.

Character and 
Identity

Quarry Gate pub replacement - example of slowness of getting ahead with development of non-greenfield 
site. Gravel from driveways on pavement e.g. Ash Grove - danger to pedestrians. Owners to be made 
responsible for clearing up. Lighting - outside lights on all night e.g. public toilet.

NOTED – although these were 
considered to be outside the scope of the 
Plan.

Lorna Hicks, 3 Gathorne 
Road

Amenity and 
Green Spaces

Trees in Gathorne Road - we have lost many of our pavement trees and we would like them replaced, but 
properly planted so the roots go down and don’t throw up the pavement.

NOTED – this could be considered as a 
future project for the Green Spaces 
Working Group.

TRC5

Please do not remove London buses from Headington. Many of us use them frequently and having to go out 
to P&R to catch them would add significantly to journey time which is often tight. Also, when coming back 
late at night, I would prefer not to be at P&R but able to walk home from Headington bus stop. This Policy has been removed.

Transport
20 mph speed limit should be obligatory throughout the city and should be rigorously enforced until 
everybody is used to it. Cycle lanes would be a good idea to stop cyclists using pavements. NOTED  

Neil Hicks, 3 Gathorne 
Road Transport

A lot of traffic congestion could be removed by creating a route direct to the JR Hospital from the ring road. 
Why not use the new bus route from Barton for this?

NOTED – awaiting proposals from new 
Barton extension.

J & C Hitchcock, 161 
Windmill road Transport Speed cameras on Windmill Road if no parking places left - safer for cyclists, pedestrians, residents.

NOTED – The Plan does not have control 
over traffic regulation and enforcement.

TRC5
Worried about ideas re coaches - would want to keep access to them - changing at Thornhill does not 
appeal - unlikely to get a seat! Particualrly relevant to airline coaches with lots of luggage. This Policy has been removed.

Transport
Cycling on pavements needs to be properly policed as breach of traffic regulations (mainly red lights) by all 
users (Buses, lorries, cars, cyclists)

NOTED – The Plan does not have control 
over traffic regulation and enforcement.

Chris Furness, 36 
Staunton Road TRC5

Do not support moving any long distance bus services to P&R because changing buses when carrying 
luggage is inconvenient (and impossible for some) and will inevitably impact on viability of these very useful 
services. This Policy has been removed.

Page 7

86



Public Events Comments

Tom Peacock, 22 Osler 
Road Transport

I was shocked to read about the plans to remove the grass verges on Osler Road. This is a residential 
street with elderly/infirm residents and small children (Plus a nursery). As a pedestrian I think it important to 
keep the grass verge as a buffer between me and the buses/cars. As a resident I wish to retain the green 
space and to preserve the character of my street. Please do not remove the grass verges. Also, I think it is 
very cynical to include the Osler Road proposals in the same consultation as the improvements for cyclists 
on the London Road/Windmill Road junction. Of course, we all want to improve this junction - but we dont 
want to conflate this improvement with the terrible plan to remove the verges on Osler Road.

NOTED – The Forum have responded to 
Oxfordshire County Council's consultation 
on increasing access to Headington, and 
has also expressed these views.

Kathryn Whitmore, Osler 
Road Transport

Look at access to the JR and link with Barton Park development junction on A40. A lot of the congestion in 
Headington is linked to the JR. By creating a link road with the new Barton Park junction, a lot of traffic will 
be taken away from Headington, easing it for residents and people travelling into Oxford.

NOTED – awaiting proposals from new 
Barton extension.

Character and 
Identity

Character Area 9 - Headington Centre - area boundary poorly defined as it includes residential streets with 
a commercial character area. This enables developers to justify changing the use of these residential 
streets into main thoroughfares including increasing volume of traffic to the JR – hence current proposal to 
remove grass verges, widen road to make 3 lane highway along Osler Road. The characterisation basically 
undermines the residential aspect of Osler and Stephen Roads.

NOTED – The Character Assessments 
are a guide to Policy to help maintain the 
identity of an area. This is not related to 
Oxfordshire County Council's consultation 
on widening roads, where the Forum has 
also expressed concern about the loss of 
verges.

Carol Smith, 6 Weyland 
Road TRC5

Happy with most of your ideas/proposals but not about stopping the London and airport coaches going 
through Headington. I use these services frequently and would like them kept as they are please, they are 
so convenient. Not keen on shuttle buses instead, would increase the volume of traffic, not decrease it. 
Very concerned about the TRC5 proposal. I am totally opposed to the idea of stopping the London and 
airport coaches from travelling through Headington. Having easy access to these routes (I live 12 mins walk 
away) is one of the many benefits of living in Headington. I know people who have moved here just because 
they can commute to London so easily. I dont want to catch a feeder bus, have my luggage loaded at 
Headington shops, then unloaded again at Thornhill 10 mins later. Also, the coaches run 24 hrs a day, 
whereas the 300, 400 and 500 dont, so these would need to be increased considerably. Please dont go 
forward with this idea. This Policy has been removed.

Anonymous Resident Transport
Cycle path south side London Road not fully marked - cyclists continue on pavement past St Andrew's 
school.

NOTED  - hence need for better cycle 
lanes as identified in TRC1

F McCormack Lime 
Walk Transport Move bus hub out of city. Develop separated cycle lane from other traffic. NOTED  

Rosemary Belton, 2 
Latimer Road Transport

Joined up thinking between city and county needed e.g. transport. Hope the neighbourhood plan will help 
achieve this. Personally feel a route straight into the back of the JR from the ring road and staff parking next 
to the ring road there would have big benefits to all (1) Emergency patients get to JR quicker. (2) Staff cars 
dont go through Headington/Marston (3) Patients have more chance to finding a space on site. 

NOTED – awaiting proposals from new 
Barton extension.

Business and 
Retail Agree with improving short stay car parking options. NOTED  

Page 8

87



Public Events Comments

Transport

Better cycle lanes preferably completely separate from both vehicles and pedestrians on at least mandatory 
and wide enough. Encourage employers (particularly large ones) to provide enough cycle parking, secure 
for their staff to use. PWG could consider.

NOTED – these elements are contained 
within the Transport Policies within the 
Plan.

Amenity and 
Green Spaces

Enhance green spaces and plant more trees and encourage small green spaces, encourage less paving 
over of front gardens.

Policies have covered most of these 
points. NOTED  

Character and 
Identity Keep varied character of the area. NOTED  

George McVicar, 6 
Bickerton Road General Very impressed with all the work of the volunteers. Housing No 1. NOTED  

E Tabour, OX3 7LR
Business and 
Retail What about a 'Linen Direct' shop in Headington. One is just closing down in the Westgate centre?

NOTED – not within the scope of the 
Plan.

Education And what is badly needed is another Secondary School.
NOTED – this function is the 
responsibility of Oxfordshire CC.

Transport No 4 bus service needs to become more reliable.
NOTED – not within the scope of the 
Plan.

W Blakey, 52 Lime Walk General Too crowded NOTED  

A Ryan, 181 Southfield 
Park General Good to see some proper thought going in! NOTED  

Tina O'Sullivan, 30b 
Eden Drive General Parking, Headington Shopping and eating options, Travel Plans. I would like to get involved! NOTED – Thanks.

Andrew Lewis TRC5 Supports retention of buses to London. This Policy has been removed.

Lyn Robertson, OX3 
9DL TRC5

I strongly disapprove of re-routing the coaches via N Oxford. I might move house if this is approved. N 
Oxford already have easy access to the railway station and for us this is inconvenient and would add (inc. 
both ways) 1 and a half hours extra to London. This Policy has been removed.

M Robertson TRC3 In favour of 20mph limits throughout. NOTED  

Eve Clare, Weyland 
Road

Amenity and 
Green Spaces More amenities for all ages in Central Headington. A swimming pool would be good. NOTED  

David Blackman, 24 
Quarry High Street EDP1 should deal with all aspects including international schools and FE Education

NOTED – the Plan does not have control 
over how these schools and colleges are 
run.

GSP6 is important NOTED  

HGP1 What can be done to house key hospital workers? Can there be PPFIs?

The housing Policy has been adjusted to 
enable the provision of affordable homes 
for key workers.

TRC3 - 4 Yes NOTED  

Character and 
Identity

Character Area 13 - development in garden of 26/28 Quarry High Street very deplorable (but was approved 
by Planning Committee) No mentioned of Holy Trinity churchyard. NOTED  

Andy, Weyland Road TRC3 Support 20mph limit throughout. NOTED  

Page 9

88



Public Events Comments

Ian Leonard, Stapleton 
Road General Very interested - will comment on website. May join forum. NOTED  

Theresa Frayn, 24 
Ramsay Road Transport

We need a crossing between Bury Knowle Park bus stop and surgery and park entrance and the corner of 
Wharton Road or Ramsay Road.

NOTED – this could be considered as a 
future project for the Transport Working 
Group.

TRC5
A minibus service between City Centre and P&R so that X90 and Tube and Airport buses don’t need to go 
through Headington. This Policy has been removed.

Stella Wedford, 33 Old 
High Street Transport

I've read that income from the Water Eaton P&R is very much reduced because there is a £2 charge to park 
a car and then fares have to be paid for the journey into Oxford. I wonder where those cars are parking. In 
Bath one only pays the bus fare. NOTED  

Mary Hope, 15 Bateman 
Street TRC5

Strongly advocate replacing London bound coaches with small minibuses to link up at coach parks on the 
ring road. The High Street and St Clements at present are frequently clogged with coaches to the detriment 
of local traffic and pedestrians - not to mention damaging this beautiful city which residents and visitors 
hope to remain so for future generations. This Policy has been removed.

Janet Isaac, 51 Kennett 
Road Housing

Please keep as much of the Victorian housing as possible. After seeing the mess made of the Park 
Hospital. The vicarage, the house at the end of Lime Walk.

NOTED – The Character Assessments 
are a guide to Policy to help maintain the 
identity of an area. 

Julia Boone, 89 Lime 
Walk General

Issues raised: (1) Housing for younger people i.e. 25-35 born and bred in Oxford; (2) Large Brookes 
developments; (3) Key worker housing; (4) Cycling on pavements; (5) More information i.e. not during hols; 
(6) Need a copy of Highfield and Old Road character assessment.

NOTED – many of the Policies within the 
Plan attempt to deal with these issues.

Charlotte Stranks
Character and 
Identity Heritage interest - will join group and research. NOTED  

Viv Miles, 25 Pitts Road
Character and 
Identity

A word like 'identify' as in 'identify empty shops and houses' is far too woolly - what will you do having 
identified?

Would be useful to clarify objective of 
policy. This Policy has been clarified.

Terry Wood, 50 St 
Anne's road

Amenity and 
Green Spaces Please can we have a list of green spaces in Headington and a definition.

A definition of Green Spaces has been 
provided in the supporting text. Oxford 
City Council holds a full list of green 
spaces across the City.

Mrs Trinder, Alderbarton 
Drive Education Schools policy in Headington. NOTED  

Anne Blackman TRC5 This seems sensible - taking London coaches off London road probably right. This Policy has been removed.

Page 10

89



Public Events Comments

Page 11

90



Twitter Feedback

Twitter Feedback
Consultee Policy Area Comment Suggested Changes Forum Response

David Deal Transport Most folk who illegaly park in the centre of Headington ( Barclays) dont give a toss about paying to park. NOTED

Rupert Wilson Housing
#housingstandards rental: compulsory registration,random inspection,enforcement of #HHSRS standards. 
End daft arbitrary #HMO

NOTED – issues for Oxford City Council 
HMO policies.

It's arbitrary: family of five in 1 house (thus not hmo), children in schools nearby, fear reporting dangerous 
condition..
They risk worse LL relations, likely eviction/section21 notice/moving.. big issue w several children + friends 
at school
Unrelated renters in safe, dry, heatable, affordable 3-bed: forced to lose 'too small' room.. worsening housing 
shortage
But OCC new #HMO def'n is arbitrary: worries about no. kitchen cupboards.. small bedrooms, size 
windows.. Pls prioritise!
Compulsory registration, random inspection & enforcement of #HHSRS solves 1-3. Prioritise: 
safe,dry,heatable homes..

Point is to register/random inspect all rental prop. & ditch arbitrary hmo
NOTED – issues for Oxford City Council 
HMO policies.

Christopher Jeram General
Headington seem a good model, having a go at community involvement via drop ins, exhibitions etc 
@ReptonPlan twitter.com/HeadingtonPlan… NOTED – thanks,

Headington Hub Transport
https://twitter.com/HeadingtonNews as an organisation the current parking situation stifles business - so we 
agree too!

NOTED – Policy BRC1 aims to improve 
parking flexibility in Headington.

Rachael Farnsworth Transport YES. Ludicrous that I have to pay 2 hours just to pop into Waitrose. #mostmiddleclasstweet
NOTED – Policy BRC1 aims to improve 
parking flexibility in Headington.

Christopher Law Transport I love the diagonal crossing idea - it's hard to make it across two roads in one change of lights sometimes! NOTED

Page 1

91



Email Consultation Responses on Character Assessments

Consultee CA number Comment Suggested Changes Forum Response
Ruth Wilkinson 8 Spelling of Gypsy. there are 2 occurrences of Gypsy and 2 of Gipsy.   The correct spelling has been now used.

Chris Clifford 

9

There are large numbers of dwellings in Windmill Road with original Edwardian house 
names, many carved or permanently marked into the buildings.  I believe Stephanie 
Jenkins may have a comprehensive list of these including where names have been lost. NOTED -  thanks

Chris Clifford 

9
A number of dwellings especially between Margaret and Gathorne Road have original 
terracotta detailing still present (seen also in St Anne's Road) on front elevations NOTED  - thanks

Noel Hodson

8, 10, 20

We are in Brookside in area 8. Our house straddles Boundary Brook. During 2006‐09 the 
Manor Hospital on London Road spilled untreated raw sewage down the arm of the 
brook that starts as springs under the ex‐football stadium & petrol station on London 
Road, opposite Lime Walk. There were about 100, hour long spillages down the brook. 
Thames Water engineers eventually tracked the sewage outlet. In the 3 year long 
process, detailed maps of Boundary Brook were produced. The complex brook network, 
adopted as part of The Thames, arises from clear springs and, pertinently, drains much of 
Headington’s surface water. It is bounded by ponds on Monks Wood, Shotover, crossing 
the by‐pass; by London Road to The White Horse pub, and by Old Road. It flows across 
Cowley Golf Course & Cowley Marsh and down to Donnington Bridge, by the Sea Scout’s 
boat house. Much of the brook is now underground. There is a long stretch through the 
NOC.  It emerges above ground at the end of Latimer Road, across Brookside then goes 
underground and takes a sharp left turn at the end of Highfield Avenue, under the 
recreation ground and Old Road, to emerge on the Churchill side – in Lye Valley. The 
brook races in full spate during sudden rain‐storms – sweeping Headington’s street litter 
down to the Thames. One day, perhaps, more of the brook could be uncovered and its 
banks gardened.    NOTED  - thanks

? 8, 9, 10 Part of Brookside does not appear on any map. Brookside is contained within CA 10

Andrew Carter 15

the Nurses Home referred to on page 2 was demolished in 1991!  Tidying that up would 
require deleting the sentence: A Nurses Home, by N. W. Harrison, was completed In 1914. 
 It appears on page 2 under the heading ‘Historical Development’, 3rd para, 2nd sentence. The reference to the Nurses Home has been removed.

Andrew Carter 15

a FoWM colleague has created an up‐to‐date map (attached) covering the Warneford site, 
showing the new Highfield Unit and outlining the extent of the town green.  Even if you don't 
think it is necessary to use it in place of the one currently in the character assessment, it 
might come in useful at some point. NOTED  - thanks

Heather Armitage 19

Please could you include an image of Warren Meadow (land adjacent to Warren Crescent) 
in your assessment?  I attach an example.  Do delete the image of the allotment site gates – 
the spiked fence is rather unattractive – albeit necessary ! Image of allotment site gates removed.

Heather Armitage 19

I don’t know if your C & I report should include negatives – but the free car park for 
commuters  seems to me to attract cars to Headington -  who wouldn’t park for nothing if 
they can? Image attached

NOTED - The Forum does not have the power to close car 
parks.

92



Heather Armitage 19

as far as we locals know, the roads leading off from Girdlestone Road are called Town Furze
Estate.  Across the Slade is Wood Farm.  Across Peat Moors and the Lye Brook is Peat 
Moors Estate.  The Tudor botanists must have come down Shotover Hill, past Titup Hall 
Drive and then through the Lye Valley on their way to Cowley and the Oxford Botanic 
Garden. (Or possibly vice versa). Noted – thanks

Colin Taylor 12

Use of Ramsey Road recreation ground:  The central area of the recreation ground is very 
open with its football/cricket sports use.  The recreation ground would be more 
attractive and pleasant if two or three large trees (possibly Cedar, Scots Pine and/or 
poplar) be planted on the western side.

NOTED – this could be considered as a future project for the 
Green Spaces Working Group.

Colin Taylor 11
Add to heritage assets: Most streets on the East of Windmill Road have street trees planted 
on footpaths at least every 40 m. 

Colin Taylor 11
Add to issues: Windmill Road is used as a main urban thoroughfare but space for 
pedestrians and cyclists is restricted.

Colin Taylor 11

Add to Guidance for new design: Pavements are particularly important as they are much 
used by long-distance bus/coach travellers. Pavement trees should be encouraged. 
Pavements should be friendly to suitcases on wheels.

Colin Taylor 11
Add to Guidance for new design: Most building is two storeys which seems appropriate for 
the area.

Colin Taylor 11
This area, having no parks or open areas, relies on nearby areas for its recreation grounds 
and open dog walking.

Colin Taylor 11

? Make some mention of Oxford Brooks student accommodation (Champneys Court) and the
recent flats at the back of no 84/82 Windmill Road  in Windmill Road?  This could be added 
near the reference to Martin Wigglesworth House.

Colin Taylor 11

The boundary of this area is controversial. It would be better to include Rock Edge down to 
Old Road in Area 11. Doesn't Windmill Road including the old windmill area beside Old 
Road and the quarrying activity in Rock Edge fit well within this area? Without it area 11 has 
no greenery at all and Rock Edge is a frequent destination for those wanting fresh air, dog 
walkers etc. which do pass from area 11 to Rock Edge. Even the isolation of the hospital 
units into separate areas is devious as it seems to discourage commonality between 
adjacent areas.

Colin Taylor 11
This area has numerous fruit trees because of historical use and favourable soil types. Can 
this be included positively somewhere?

Colin Taylor 11

Many of the houses on the east of this area have attractive stanchions at their boundaries, 
decorative small front gardens, and low walls.   Only houses in the Square and New High 
Street have no front gardens. Has this has been covered appropriately? 

Colin Taylor 11

Post Office (and I) thinks the correct presentation is 'St Annes Road' rather than 'St Anne's 
Road'.  I have been advised to use 1920s for years rather than 1920's as the possessive 
apostrophe is inappropriate.

Colin Taylor 11

I can not think of any multi-occupied houses in this area, so I question the verity of its 
reference. Most rented accommodation is in Windmill Road and Bateman Street.  [Puzzlingly
Wooldridge Court, which does have a lot of rented properties, seems to be in area 12.]

Colin Taylor 11
Not sure why area 11 should include half a car park at St Leonards Road/Windmill Road 
corner.

Colin Taylor 11
The resident's parking at St Leonards Road is important as it mitigates against the problem 
of numerous houses in this area without parking within their grounds.

All of the comments made in these responses have been noted 
and discussed at the Policy Working Group with thanks. All 
responses are highly valued and have been added to the 

Character Assessments where it is felt appropriate. The scope 
of the assessments does not allow for all the details which 
some respondents would like to see included.  Exclusion of 

some details does not mean that they are unvalued. The 
character assessments were put together by volunteers 

working to specific guidelines, rather than members of the 
working group.  It should be noted for all responses that it is 

impractical to ask the several teams of volunteers to revise their 
assessments on the basis of individual comments. Similarly, 
once boundaries for the areas were set, it is not possible to 
change them without affecting all the survey work which has 

gone before.

93



Colin Taylor 11 Small businesses have been in New High Street for many years and are worth mentioning.

Colin Taylor 11
The area defined by Windmill Road, Margaret Road, St Annes Road, and Gathorne Road is 
one of only two residential squares in Headington enclosing substantial rear gardens.   

Colin Taylor 11
Add to Guidance for new design: Retain centre open areas in the rear gardens enclosed by 
Windmill Road, Margaret Road, St Annes Road, and Gathorne Road.

Colin Taylor 11

Windmill Road is no broader than Margaret Road so it may be misleading to describe it thus.
In fact is remarkable how narrow Windmill Road is north of Margaret Road considering  its 
traffic load.

94



DRAFT Minutes of the Steering Committee Meeting held at 
scottfraser, Lime Walk

on Tuesday 8 March 2016 at 7.30 pm

email - HeadingtonPlan@gmail.com Twitter - @HeadingtonPlan
Facebook – Facebook.com/HeadingtonPlan 

Web - http://headingtonplan.org.uk/ & HeadingtonPlan.uk

Steering Committee present:
Patrick Coulter PC (Vice Chair) 
Liz Grosvenor LG (Admin. Support)
Fiona Mckenzie FM (Treasurer)
John Nealon JN (Press/Communications Officer)
Cllr Ruth Wilkinson RW
Ian Wilson IW

Apologies: 
Mike Ratcliffe MR (Chair)
Nicholas Rollin NR
Cllr Roz Smith RS
Adam Symons AS (Project
Manager)

Policy Working Groups - existing
Business and Retail – FM & NR
Amenities & Green Spaces – PC
Education – MR
Housing – JN 
Transport – Charles Young 
Character & Identity – vacant

Possible new groups

Planning Applications
Community Engagement

Headington Neighbourhood Plan Page 1

95

http://headingtonplan.uk/
http://headingtonplan.org.uk/
mailto:HeadingtonPlan@gmail.com


1. Apologies – 
As above.

Action

2. Minutes from last steering committee meeting of 18 January
were approved and are now on the website.
Matters arising:
3. We are minded to keep the planning and community 
projects together rather than splitting them as suggested by 
the Council, but will check with the City that this is 
acceptable.

All subsequent amendments as minuted have been 
addressed and incorporated into the plan.

LG/JN

PC

3. Consultation Responses
We received responses from:
Oxford City Council
Oxfordshire County Council
Historic England
Environment Agency
Natural England
Thames Water
Highways Agency

Of these Oxfordshire County Council made the following 
observations:

1.  Draft Plan:

Policy AMP1: Protecting and Enhancing Sports, 
Leisure and Community Facilities
OCC Response:
In contrast, the draft NP policy requires alternative 
facilities to be provided within the NP area. That may 

Headington Neighbourhood Plan Page 2

96



not be possible or practicable where existing facilities 
are located near the boundary of the NP area. The 
policy should be amended to reflect the Core Strategy 
policy text in this regard.
Our response:
We have in all cases kept within our area.

2.  Draft Plan
Policy AMC1: Enhancing Accessibility to Sports, 
Leisure and Community Facilities
OCC Response:
It would be helpful if the words "where appropriate" 
could be added at the end of the policy, to ensure that 
where issues of, for example, child protection arise with
school playing fields, there is the ability to restrict or 
prevent public access where appropriate to do so.
Our response:
We don’t think that this adds anything helpful

3. Draft Plan
BRC1: Changes to Car Parking Charges
OCC Response:
If this proposal was to be implemented then the 
highway authority would want to be reassured that it did
not lead to any additional peak period traffic on the 
surrounding network, particularly at the busy London 
Road/Windmill Road/Old High Street signal junction. 
This could be achieved by limiting free parking to off-
peak periods only.
In addition, the need for parking charges to be set at a 
level that discourages or prevents commuter or long 
stay use needs to be emphasised.

AS

Headington Neighbourhood Plan Page 3

97



Our response:
We will add that this applies to off-peak times only. 
(Parking charge levels are not within our remit).

4. Draft Plan
CIC1: Reinforce the Identity of Headington
OCC Response:
One of the examples given in the NP is ‘signage style’ 
and whether there should a distinctive style for 
Headington signs. Road signs are specifically 
mentioned. It is not clear if this relates to street 
nameplates or traffic signs (e.g. signs for road side 
orders, speed limits, directions etc.), so for the 
avoidance of doubt, a policy to introduce alternative 
styles for traffic signs in the NP area would not be 
supported.
Not only would this be costly it is also unlikely to be 
approved by the Department for Transport who are 
responsible for traffic sign standards and regulations.
Our response:
Our intention was to mean street name signs.

5. Draft Plan:
Policy EDP1: New Education Provision
OCC Response:
As drafted, this policy does not refer to permitted 
development rights for change of use to educational 
establishments. It would be helpful if the policy could be
amended to refer to the extant permitted development
rights in classes S, T and U of the 2015 General 
Permitted Development Order which permits the 
change of use of agricultural, B1 (business), C1 (hotel), 

AS

AS

Headington Neighbourhood Plan Page 4

98



C2 (residential institution), C2A (secure residential 
institution) and D2 (assembly & leisure) uses to use as 
a state-funded school or a registered nursery, and back
again (class U) in the case of all but the first
of the uses mentioned.
Our response:
We will emphasise the point about permitted 
development rights.

6. Draft Plan
Policies HGC13
OCC Response:
may be better expressed as aspirations rather than 
policies as they
are not land use based.

Our response:
All community policies with the heading C are 
aspirational community policies.

7. Draft Plan
Policy HGP1: Affordable Homes for Key Workers from 
Large Housing Sites
Proposals for residential developments on Large 
Housing Sites (See definition of Large Sites – Oxford 
City Housing Policy HP3) in which up to 50% of the 
affordable housing element is available to key worker 
dwellings (See definition of key worker – Sites and 
Housing Plan 20112026, §A2.30) will be supported.
OCC Response:
The government has proposed to change national 
planning policy so the definition of affordable housing is
expanded to include wider options which support home 

AS

Headington Neighbourhood Plan Page 5

99



ownership. If implemented it could make it more difficult
for policy HGP1 to be effective as it is likely to reduce 
the provision of affordable rental homes.
We believe it would be helpful if the NP reinforced the 
need for sustainable drainage techniques as follows:
 All new buildings should be drained using sustainable 
techniques,
(soak-aways, swales, online storage with reduced 
outfall to green field run off rates)
 All new extensions to properties should also be 
drained by sustainable
techniques to reduce flooding
Our response:
We will add “already included within the Local Plan”

 8.   Draft Plan
TRP1: Parking Provision at major employment sites
Proposals for additional car parking spaces at major 
employment sites in Headington will only be supported 
if they can demonstrate strong evidence that 
Headington’s road network has adequate unused 
capacity at peak times.
OCC Response:
The Oxford Transport Strategy is clear on the need to 
manage car parking so the principle of this policy is 
supported. We do however believe that this policy could
be more robust by applying it to all developments and 
not just those that might require additional car parking. 
The highway authority would also expect the developer 
to demonstrate that the implications of the parking 
provision are acceptable and whether any mitigation is 
required.

AS

CY

Headington Neighbourhood Plan Page 6

100



Our response:
We will query this with Martin Kraftl (Principal 
Infrastructure Planner) as to whether the query refers to
additional or major.
We will also clarify as to whether this parking applies to 
staff or customers. – i.e. which group are we wanting to 
restrict.

9. Draft Plan
TRP4: Travel Plans
1. All new business developments and all new multiunit
developments must develop and periodically update 
travel plans showing how employees and/or residents 
may minimise car usage.
2. All single-unit development should state, in the 
design and access statement, whether car-free 
alternatives have been considered and, if parking 
provision is to be made, why the car-free alternative 
has been rejected.
OCC Response:
While we are encouraged by this policy, we would 
query whether it is always necessary for all new 
business developments and all new multiunit
developments to develop and update travel plans, 
depending on the size and nature of the development. 
The county council requires travel plans from 
developments which exceed the thresholds set out in 
‘Transport for New Developments: Transport 
Assessments and Travel Plans’.
The promotion of car free developments is a positive 
measure however, supporting measures such as CPZs 
may be required in some cases.

CY

Headington Neighbourhood Plan Page 7

101



Our response:
We wish to keep this policy as stated.

10.  Draft Plan
TRP6: Promotion of Cycling and Walking
1. Proposals for new developments comprising more 
than 3 dwellings should include secure bicycle storage 
for two bicycles per household.
2. In shared accommodation and employment 
developments, the quantity should be based on the 
travel plan, with an allowance for a doubling of the 
mode share of cycling.
OCC Response
All new dwellings should provide bicycle storage. Policy
HP15 of the Sites and Housing Plan adopted by the city
council sets standards for cycle parking which should 
be followed. However, the proposed policy requires less
secure cycle spaces than the Sites and Housing Plan.
There is also no mention of the provision of secure 
cycle parking for visitors to public areas and 
commercial developments which should provide secure
and covered cycle parking for both visitors and staff. 
Policy HP15 of the Sites and Housing Plan sets out 
cycle parking standards for commercial developments.
The Plan states that ‘Policy TRP6 aims to ensure that 
any new development above a certain minimum size 
plays its part in this objective’, however there is a lack 
of clarity over the minimum size of developments that 
this policy should apply to.
Other comments:
We would like to see the NP outline that any new 
developments should not obstruct the delivery of the 

CY

CY

AS

Headington Neighbourhood Plan Page 8

102



Oxford Transport Strategy, with reference to rapid 
transit, walking and cycling improvements in particular.
A policy could be included within the NP on residential 
developments in the northeast of the area focussing on 
access to the new primary school due to open in Barton
Park.
There is no indication of whether the NP would support 
the expansion of Thornhill Park & Ride or the 
development and implementation of CPZs in the area.
The NP could also clarify whether the status of Cuckoo 
Lane and Pullens Lane as pedestrian and cycle routes 
would remain the same and comment on the possibility 
of recognised connections across Warneford Meadow.
Our response:
We will re-examine Policy HP15 of the Sites and 
Housing Plan, and address the inclusion of the OTS 
comment.
Barton Park and Thornhill are outside our HNP area, 
but we will look at Cuckoo Lane, Pullens Lane, and 
Warneford Meadow.

11.Draft Plan
TRC1: Promoting Safety and Active Transport
A set of projects to promote safety and active transport 
in Headington (examples below) will be identified and 
implemented after wider consultation to determine 
residents' wishes and priorities.
OCC Response:
We understand that the list might be illustrative but we 
do have concerns with some of the items on the list. 
Furthermore, nearly all the examples lie within the 
county’s control to approve and implement, and they 
are not land use based, so we wonder whether it is 

Headington Neighbourhood Plan Page 9

103



therefore appropriate for them to be specified within the
NP anyway, or better to be expressed as aspirations 
rather than policy.
Our Response:
All community policies with the heading C are 
aspirational community policies.
We will expand the explanation on Page 16 No. 12 to 
make clear the difference between a planning policy 
and a community policy.

**************************************************************
All the suggestions made by Historic England have 
been incorporated into the Plan, but see note 4. Below.

4. Draft Plan
We will add a covering note when the draft is submitted to 
address the subject of an “appraisal of sustainability” which 
was requested by Historic England.
A new matrix has been added on Page 13 which evaluates 
the Plan Objectives within each policy.
Delivering the Vision Page 15 remains as originally drafted.

AS

5. Next Steps

 We will make contact with some graphic designers to 
help us present the final plan with photos to give it a 
professional readable look which may rely on its 
layout and typeface.

 We hope to be able to submit the draft plan by the 
end of March.  Our plan is currently scheduled to go 
before the City Executive Board on 19 May under the
Lead Officer David Edwards.

 In order to publicise the upcoming referendum 
(hopefully in September) we will need to advertise 
widely.  Some suggestions include:

LG

Headington Neighbourhood Plan Page 10

104



A stall on the Farmers’ Market with leaflets to take away
Posters – to be sent to schools, shops, doctor’s surgeries, 
Residents’      Associations, Waitrose, Co-op, Brookes (via 
the Student Union) 
Brookes staff newsletter. Headington Forward personnel, 
Library, Freshers Fair (expensive)
We will start to design a poster for this purpose and would 
hope to start the advertising process in April.  JN and RW 
have agreed to organise the publicity.

 We will keep the Form in touch with all developments
and may have a Forum meeting just before the 
referendum

AS
JN/RW

LG

5. AOB
We have not included any reference to Access to 
Headington.  All PWGs are being asked to look at A2H and 
see where it impinges on their policies.

LG

6.
Schedule of meetings
A Doodle poll has been generated for the next meeting in 
April.

7.
Close of meeting
9.25 pm.

LG 9.3.16

Headington Neighbourhood Plan Page 11

105



Annex 5 – Statutory Consultee Responses

(1) Scottish and Southern Energy

Friday 11th Dec 2015 12:40 by email:

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Adam, 

I refer to your message below, together with now deleted attachment, in respect of the above topic / location 
and I can confirm that, at this present time, I have no comments to make.

Regards,

Chris 

Chris Gaskell

Network Investment Engineer

T: +44 (0) 1865 845888

Internal: 28888

E: chris.gaskell@sse.com

1 Woodstock Road, Yarnton, Kidlington, Oxfordshire, OX5 1NY

SSE Power Distribution Web Site: www.ssepd.co.uk

SSE Power Distribution RIIO-ED1 Web Site: http://www.yourfutureenergynetwork.co.uk

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

(2) Thames Water

Thursday 14th January 2016 15:51 by email:
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
Dear Sir / Madam,

OXFORD CITY COUNCIL – HEADINGTON DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN – 
RESPONSE ON BEHALF OF THAMES WATER UTILITIES LTD

Thames Water Utilities Ltd (Thames Water) Property Services function is now being delivered by 
Savills (UK) Limited as Thames Water’s appointed supplier. Savills are therefore pleased to respond
to the above consultation on behalf of Thames Water. 

Thames Water are the statutory water and sewerage undertaker for the District and are hence a 
“specific consultation body” in accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Local Planning) 
Regulations 2012. 

General Comments   on Sewerage/Wastewater Infrastructure capacity:

New development should be co-ordinated with the infrastructure it demands and to take into 
account the capacity of existing infrastructure. Paragraph 156 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), March 2012, states:

106

http://www.yourfutureenergynetwork.co.uk/
http://www.ssepd.co.uk/
mailto:chris.gaskell@sse.com


“Local planning authorities should set out strategic policies for the area in the Local Plan. This
should include strategic policies to deliver:……the provision of infrastructure for water supply and
wastewater….”

Paragraph 162 of the NPPF relates to infrastructure and states: 

“Local planning authorities should work with other authorities to: assess the quality and capacity of infrastructure
for water supply and wastewater and  its treatment…..take account of the need for strategic infrastructure including
nationally significant infrastructure within their areas.”   

The web based National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) published in March 2014 includes a section on ‘water
supply, wastewater and water quality’ and sets out that Local Plans should be the focus for ensuring that investment
plans of water and sewerage/wastewater companies align with development needs. The introduction to this section also
sets  out  that  “Adequate  water  and  wastewater  infrastructure  is  needed  to  support  sustainable  development”
(Paragraph: 001, Reference ID: 34-001-20140306).

Specific Comments

Omission of a ‘Infrastructure and Utilities’ Policy

With the above points in mind it is important that developers demonstrate that at their development 
location adequate capacity exists both on and off the site to serve the development and that it would 
not lead to problems for existing users.

In some circumstances this may make it necessary for developers to carry out appropriate studies to 
ascertain whether the proposed development will lead to overloading of existing water & sewerage 
infrastructure. Where there is a capacity problem and no improvements are programmed, then the 
developer needs to contact the water company to agree what improvements are required and how 
they will be funded prior to any occupation of the development.

Thames Water would therefore recommend that developers engage with us at the earliest 
opportunity to establish the following:

* the developments demand for water supply and network infrastructure both on and off site and 
can it be met;

* the developments demand for sewage treatment and sewerage network infrastructure both on 
and off site and can it be met; and

* the surface water drainage requirements and flood risk of the area and down stream and can it 
be met.

 
We therefore consider that there should be a section on ‘Infrastructure and Utilities’ in the Draft 
Headington Neighbourhood Plan which states:

“In line with Core Strategy Policy CS17, it is essential that developers demonstrate that adequate 
water supply and sewerage infrastructure capacity exists both on and off the site to serve the 
development and that it would not lead to problems for existing users. In some circumstances this 
may make it necessary for developers to carry out appropriate studies to ascertain whether the 
proposed development will lead to overloading of existing water & sewerage infrastructure. Where 
there is a capacity problem and no improvements are programmed by the water company, then the 
developer needs to contact the water company to agree what improvements are required and how 
they will be funded prior to any occupation of the development.

Further information for Developers on water/sewerage infrastructure can be found on Thames 

107



Water’s website at: http://www.thameswater.co.uk/cps/rde/xchg/corp/hs.xsl/558.htm
Or contact can be made with Thames Water Developer Services
By post at:  Thames Water Developer Services, Reading Mailroom, Rose Kiln Court, Rose Kiln 
Lane, Reading RG2 0BY;
By telephone on: 0845 850 2777;
Or by email: developer.services@thameswater.co.uk”

I trust the above is satisfactory, but please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any queries.

Yours sincerely

Carmelle Bell, BA(Hons), MSc, MRTPI
Planner
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

(3) Oxfordshire County Council

Friday 22nd January 201617:16 by email from Stewart Wilson:
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

GREEN SPACES (GS) AND AMENITY (AM) SPATIAL (P) POLICIES

Policy AMP1: Protecting and Enhancing Sports, Leisure and Community Facilities 

As drafted, this policy is inconsistent with Core Strategy policy CS20 which states:

"CS20 Cultural and community development
The City Council will seek to protect and enhance existing cultural and community facilities. 
Planning permission will not be granted for development that results in the loss of such facilities 
unless equivalent new or improved facilities, where foreseeable need justifies this, can be provided 
at a location equally or more accessible by walking, cycling and public transport….."

In contrast, the draft NP policy requires alternative facilities to be provided within the NP area.
 That may not be possible or practicable where existing facilities are located near the boundary of 
the NP area.  The policy should be amended to reflect the Core Strategy policy text in this regard.

Policy AMC1: Enhancing Accessibility to Sports, Leisure and Community Facilities 

It would be helpful if the words "where appropriate" could be added at the end of the policy, to 
ensure that where issues of, for example, child protection arise with school playing fields, there is 
the ability to restrict or prevent public access where appropriate to do so. 

BUSINESS AND RETAIL (BR) COMMMUNITY (C) POLICIES

BRC1: Changes to Car Parking Charges

If this proposal was to be implemented then the highway authority would want to be reassured that 

108

mailto:developer.services@thameswater.co.uk
http://www.thameswater.co.uk/cps/rde/xchg/corp/hs.xsl/558.htm


it did not lead to any additional peak period traffic on the surrounding network, particularly at the 
busy London Road/Windmill Road/Old High Street signal junction. This could be achieved by 
limiting free parking to off-peak periods only.  

In addition, the need for parking charges to be set at a level that discourages or prevents commuter 
or long stay use needs to be emphasised.   

CHARACTER AND IDENTIFY (CI) COMMUNITY (C) POLICIES

CIC1: Reinforce the Identity of Headington

One of the examples given in the NP is ‘signage style’ and whether there should a 
distinctive style for Headington signs. Road signs are specifically mentioned. It is not clear 
if this relates to street name-plates or traffic signs (e.g. signs for road side orders, speed 
limits, directions etc.), so for the avoidance of doubt, a policy to introduce alternative styles
for traffic signs in the NP area would not be supported. Not only would this be costly it is 
also unlikely to be approved by the Department for Transport who are responsible for 
traffic sign standards and regulations.  

EDUCATION (ED) PLANNING (P) POLICIES

Policy EDP1: New Education Provision

As drafted, this policy does not refer to permitted development rights for change of use to 
educational establishments.  It would be helpful if the policy could be amended to refer to the extant
permitted development rights in classes S, T and U of the 2015 General Permitted Development 
Order which permits the change of use of agricultural, B1 (business), C1 (hotel), C2 (residential 
institution), C2A (secure residential institution) and D2 (assembly & leisure) uses to use as a state-
funded school or a registered nursery, and back again (class U) in the case of all but the first of 
the uses mentioned.

HOUSING (HG) PLANNING (P) POLICIES

Policy HGP1: Affordable Homes for Key Workers from Large Housing Sites
Proposals for residential developments on Large Housing Sites (See definition of Large Sites – 
Oxford City Housing Policy HP3) in which up to 50% of the affordable housing element is 
available to key worker dwellings (See definition of key worker – Sites and Housing Plan 2011-
2026, §A2.30) will be supported.

Policies HGC1-3 may be better expressed as aspirations rather than policies as they are not land use
based.

Other comments:

The government has proposed to change national planning policy so the definition of affordable 
housing is expanded to include wider options which support home ownership. If implemented it 
could make it more difficult for policy HGP1 to be effective as it is likely to reduce the provision of
affordable rental homes.

We believe it would be helpful if the NP reinforced the need for sustainable drainage techniques as 
follows:

109



* All new buildings should be drained using sustainable techniques, (soak aways, 
swales, online storage with reduced outfall to green field run off rates)
* All new extensions to properties should also be drained by sustainable techniques 
to reduce flooding

TRANSPORT (TR) PLANNING (P) POLICIES       

TRP1: Parking Provision at major employment sites
Proposals for additional car parking spaces at major employment sites in Headington will 
only be supported if they can demonstrate strong evidence that Headington’s road 
network has adequate unused capacity at peak times.

The Oxford Transport Strategy is clear on the need to manage car parking so the principle of this 
policy is supported. We do however believe that this policy could be more robust by applying it to 
all developments and not just those that might require additional car parking. The highway authority
would also expect the developer to demonstrate that the implications of the parking provision are 
acceptable and whether any mitigation is required. 

TRP4: Travel Plans
1. All new business developments and all new multi-unit developments must develop and 
periodically update travel plans showing how employees and/or residents may minimise 
car usage.

2. All single-unit development should state, in the design and access statement, whether 
car-free alternatives have been considered and, if parking provision is to be made, why 
the car-free alternative has been rejected.

While we are encouraged by this policy, we would query whether it is always necessary for
all new business developments and all new multi-unit developments to develop and 
update travel plans, depending on the size and nature of the development. The county 
council requires travel plans from developments which exceed the thresholds set out in 
‘Transport for New Developments: Transport Assessments and Travel Plans’. 

The promotion of car free developments is a positive measure however, supporting 
measures such as CPZs may be required in some cases. 

TRP6: Promotion of Cycling and Walking
1. Proposals for new developments comprising more than 3 dwellings should include 
secure bicycle storage for two bicycles per household.
2. In shared accommodation and employment developments, the quantity should be 
based on the travel plan, with an allowance for a doubling of the mode share of cycling.
 
All new dwellings should provide bicycle storage. Policy HP15 of the Sites and Housing 
Plan adopted by the city council sets standards for cycle parking which should be followed.
However, the proposed policy requires less secure cycle spaces than the Sites and 
Housing Plan. 

There is also no mention of the provision of secure cycle parking for visitors to public areas
and commercial developments which should provide secure and covered cycle parking for 
both visitors and staff. Policy HP15 of the Sites and Housing Plan sets out cycle parking 
standards for commercial developments.

The Plan states that ‘Policy TRP6 aims to ensure that any new development above a 

110



certain minimum size plays its part in this objective’, however there is a lack of clarity over 
the minimum size of developments that this policy should apply to.

Other comments:

We would like to see the NP outline that any new developments should not obstruct the 
delivery of the Oxford Transport Strategy, with reference to rapid transit, walking and 
cycling improvements in particular.

A policy could be included within the NP on residential developments in the north-east of 
the area focussing on access to the new primary school due to open in Barton Park.

There is no indication of whether the NP would support the expansion of Thornhill Park & 
Ride or the development and implementation of CPZs in the area.

The NP could also clarify whether the status of Cuckoo Lane and Pullens Lane as 
pedestrian and cycle routes would remain the same and comment on the possibility of 
recognised connections across Warneford Meadow.

TRANSPORT (TR) COMMUNITY (C) POLICIES

TRC1: Promoting Safety and Active Transport
A set of projects to promote safety and active transport in Headington (examples below) 
will be identified and implemented after wider consultation to determine residents' wishes 
and priorities. 
  
We understand that the list might be illustrative but we do have concerns with some of the items on 
the list. Furthermore, nearly all the examples lie within the county’s control to approve and 
implement, and they are not land use based, so we wonder whether it is therefore appropriate for 
them to be specified within the NP anyway, or better to be expressed as aspirations rather than 
policy.
  -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

(4) Environment Agency

Monday 25th January 2016 09:37 by email:

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Dear Mr Symons

Thank you for your consultation.

We have no comments to make with regard to this neighbourhood plan.

 

Regards

 

Cathy Harrison

Planning advisor

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

111



(5) Historic England

Letter Dated 8th January 2016 received by email:
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Mr Symons,

Draft Headington Neighbourhood Plan

Thank you for your e-mail of 7th December 2015 advising Historic England of the 
consultation on the Draft Headington Neighbourhood Plan. We are pleased to make the 
following general and detailed comments.

The nature of the locally-led neighbourhood plan process is that the community itself 
should determine its own agenda based on the issues about which it is concerned.  At the 
same time, as a national organisation able increasingly to draw upon our experiences 
of neighbourhood planning exercises across the country, our input can help communities 
reflect upon the special (heritage) qualities which define their area to best achieve aims 
and objectives for the historic environment. To this end information on our website might 
be of assistance – the appendix to this letter contains links to this website and to a range 
of potentially useful other websites.

In Section 5 we note that there was a previous period of consultation on the Draft Plan. We
have no record of having been consulted at that time. 

In Section 6 we note the reference to ‘establishing what the community says it most 
expects the area to look like over the coming years’, but given the statement in Section 4 
that ‘Neighbourhood planning allows greater scope for plan
makers, acting with the community, relevant agencies and service providers to promote 
and manage change in an area’, would it perhaps be better to say “wishes” than 
“expects” ?

Section 6 also refers to ‘the range of issues that the Headington community faces”, but 
these are not identified specifically in the Plan nor is there any indication of how or where 
these have been identified. The identification of these issues (and how they were 
identified) would provide justification (or an “audit trail”) for the policies of the Plan. 

We note that the Vision as set in Section 9 is a vision for the Neighbourhood Plan rather 
than for Headington itself, which is slightly at odds with the reference in Section 6 to 
‘establishing what the community says it most expects the area to look like over the 
coming years’ (see our comment above). Would it be helpful to recast this slightly to be a 
longer-term view of what the community would like Headington to be in the future ? 
Nevertheless, we welcome the reference to the identity of Headington in both the Vision 
and the second Objective for the Plan. 

However, we expected the Plan to set out early on a spatial portrait of Headington based 
on the Character Assessment, explaining its historical development, its relationship to 
Oxford and its current characteristics. Whilst local residents might understand and 
appreciate the “identity” of Headington, there is nothing in the Plan that explains what that 
is to anyone not familiar with the area other than briefly in the welcome on page 4.

112



We would like to see recognition of the historical significance of Headington as part of that 
spatial portrait – there are a number of designated heritage assets in the Plan area and 
many more assets of local significance as identified in the Character Assessment. There 
are also three designated Conservation Areas within, or partly within, the Plan area. 

We are aware that there is archaeological interest within the Plan area, including the 
recorded Roman period pottery kilns recorded at the Churchill Hospital site and around 
Old Headington, an Anglo-Saxon cemetery at Stephen Road and the medieval 
archaeology of Old Headington and Headington Quarry villages and the quarries 
themselves. Has the Oxfordshire Historic Environment Record been consulted ? (The 
National Planning Practice Guidance states “…where relevant, neighbourhood plans need
to include enough information about local non-designated heritage assets including sites 
of archaeological interest to guide decisions.”)
. 
We understand that policies that relate to the control of development have been given the 
suffix ‘P’, and those that are not land use planning policies have the suffix ‘C’, but the 
distinction between the two could be made helpfully clearer e.g. by the use of different 
colours, different fonts, shading etc.

In Policy GSC1, clause 2 could include “historic or cultural significance”.

We welcome and support the policies on character and identity as Historic England 
considers that Neighbourhood Development Plans should be underpinned by a thorough 
understanding of the character and special qualities of the area covered by the Plan. In 
addition, paragraph 58 of the National Planning Policy Framework states “…
neighbourhood plans should develop robust and comprehensive policies that set out the 
quality of development that will be expected for the area. Such policies should be based 
on stated objectives for the future of the area and an understanding and evaluation of its 
defining characteristics.”

However, the policies may need to be redrafted to be clear development management 
policies: paragraph 154 of the National Planning Policy Framework states “…Local Plans 
should set out the opportunities for development and clear policies on what will or will not 
be permitted and where. Only policies that provide a clear indication of how a decision 
maker should react to the development proposal should be included in the plan.” These 
principles also apply to neighbourhood plans. 

Paragraph 041 of the National Planning Practice Guidance states “A policy in a 
neighbourhood plan should be clear and unambiguous. It should be drafted with sufficient 
clarity that a decision maker can apply it consistently and with confidence when 
determining planning applications”.

Policy CIP1could therefore perhaps be reworded as “New development will only be 
permitted where it would respect and enhance the distinctive local character as identified 
in the Character Studies…”. Clauses 1 and 2 of Policy CIP2 (which, as currently drafted, 
are more aspirations than planning policies) and clause 1 of Policy CIP4 could similarly be 
redrafted.

We welcome the list of potential projects under Policy CIC1 as we consider that the 
preparation of the Neighbourhood Development Plan offers the opportunity to harness a 
community’s interest in their local historic environment by getting the community to help 
add to the evidence base. Undertaking a survey of grade II buildings at risk from neglect, 

113

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/policy/achieving-sustainable-development/annex-2-glossary/


decay or other threats could perhaps be added to the list.

We hope these comments are helpful. Please contact me if you have any queries.

Thank you again for consulting Historic England.

Yours sincerely,

Martin Small
Principal Adviser, Historic Environment Planning 
(Bucks, Oxon, Berks, Hampshire, IoW, South Downs National Park and Chichester)

E-mail: martin.small@historicengland.org.uk
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

(6) Highways Agency

Monday 11th January 2016 08:12 by email:
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Dear Adam,

Thank you for your email notifying us of the forthcoming consultation for the Draft 
Headington Neighbourhood Plan.

Please note that from 1 April 2015, we became Highways England, a government owned 
company. Highways England’s role is to operate, maintain and modernise the strategic 
road network (SRN) in line with the Roads Investment Strategy, reflecting public interest 
and to provide effective stewardship of the network’s long term operation and integrity. For 
Oxford City Council this relates to the M4 and A34.

We have reviewed the consultation and have no comment at this time.

I hope this is helpful.

Your sincerely

Teresa Gonet, Area 3 NDD South East Asset Development
Highways England | Bridge House | 1 Walnut Tree Close | Guildford | GU1 4LZ

Web: www.highways.gov.uk, www.highwaysengland.co.uk

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------

114

mailto:martin.small@historicengland.org.uk
http://www.highwaysengland.co.uk/
http://www.highways.gov.uk/


Mike Ratcliffe
Chair – HNF

37 Bickerton Road
Headington

OX   
info@headingtonplan.org.uk 
www.headingtonplan.org.uk 

Dear

Headington Neighbourhood Forum is a community based organisation which has been designated 
by Oxford City Council as the responsible body for developing a Neighbourhood Plan for 
Headington.

A Neighbourhood Plan enables local communities to put in place local planning policies which will 
guide development in their local area.

From the 12th September, we are carrying out an initial 'Issues and Options' consultation with 
everyone who lives, works, studies and travels through Headington, as well our neighbours and 
partners.

As an important business/religious group/community group/charity in Headington, I am writing 
to you as the Chair of Headington Neighbourhood Forum, and enclosing the 'Issues and Options' 
consultation leaflet. We are trying to deliver this leaflet to all residents in Headington.

If you would like to meet with the Forum to discuss any of the issues raised, please let me know. 
We also have posters and additional leaflets which are available. In addition to the printed leaflet, 
our consultation  can be found online at xxxxxxxxxxxx.

If you were able to help us to promote this consultation to your customers/members/employees, 
please let me know and I will send you some more materials.

Yours sincerely,

Mike Ratcliffe
Chair Headington Neighbourhood Forum

115



Class Type of business Street number Road Contact Meeting email Website or phone number Other uses since 1977

A3 White Horse Pub 1 762447 London Road 762447
C3 Albany Nursing Home Nursing Home 7 744444 London Road http://www.carehome.co.uk/carehome.cfm/searchazref/20001055ALBA
C1 Pickwick's Guest House 15-17 740487 London Road http://www.pickwicksguesthouse.co.uk/

C1 Sandfield Guest House Guest House 19 767 767 London Road Paul Anderson Y stay@sandfieldguesthouse.com http://www.sandfieldguesthouse.com/
C1 Red Mullions Guest House 23 742741 London Road H. Bahl Y h2hbahl@hotmail.com h2hbahl@hotmail.com
C1 Dial House Guest House 25 425100 London Road dialhouse@ntlworld.com http://www.dialhouseoxford.co.uk/

D1 Shell Service Station Petrol station *** 229000 London Road 229000
A1 Shell Waitrose Supermarket *** London Road Karl Patterson 806.branchmanager@waitrose.co.uk ***
D1 Eurodental Dentist Manor Buildings (61) (upstairs) 308865 London Road 308865
A1 Subway Café/Restaurant Manor Buildings (63) ?741100 London Road ?741100 Was Oxford Travel Centre/Oxonian Travel
A1 Sun of a Beach Tanning Salon Tanning salon Manor Buildings (65) 744577 London Road http://www.sobtanning.co.uk Was Sun-kissed tanning salon
A1 Oxford Framing Gallery Picture framing Manor Buildings (65) (upstairs) 766557 London Road Joseph James Y sales@oxfordframing.co.uk http://www.oxfordframing.co.uk
A2 David Fisher Photography Photographer Manor Buildings (67) (upstairs) 764465 London Road http://www.davidfisherphotography.co.uk

A3 Jacobs Chop House Café/Restaurant 3 Manor Buildings Osler Road Steve Merrievale info@jacobschophouse.com now open
D1 Gardiner's Opticians Optician 5 Manor Buildings 742234 Osler Road James Whittenbury eyes@gardinersopticians.co.uk http://www.gardinersopticians.co.uk
D1 Manor Dental Surgery Dentist 4-7 Manor Buildings (upstairs) 750056 Osler Road 750 056
A1 Childs, S. & R. Funeral Directors 69 427272 London Road Sandra Homewood sandra.homewood@srchilds.co.uk http://www.srchilds.co.uk

A1/A3 Starbucks Coffee shop 71 London Road Dina Kounni N s12810@retail.starbucks.com s12810@retail.starbucks.com Was Walker's Furniture, then Pronuptia
B1(b) C.A.R.E. not functioning? 71A (upstairs) 308274 London Road 308274 Was Project X

A1 Morrisons Mini-supermarket 73-75 565985 London Road 565985 Open 0700 to 2300. formerly Blockbuster Video
A3 Cox Hinkins Accontants Accountants 75 (upstairs, first floor) London Road Andrew Marshall andrewmarshall@coxhinkins.co.uk http://www.coxhinkinscooxford.co.uk
A3 TLC Letting agent 75 (upstairs, second floor) 759930 London Road http://www.thelettingcentre.com
A3 Nigel Grice & Associates Financial services 75 (upstairs, second floor) 751722 London Road Nigel Grice nigel@griceadvice.co.uk http://griceadvice.co.uk
A3 Mortgages Inc Financial services 75 (upstairs) London Road http://www.mortgagesinc.co.uk HQ in Botley
A2 Scott Fraser Estate Agent 77 759500 London Road David Blythman Y david@scottfraser.co.uk http://www.scottfraser.co.uk
A1 Coco Noir Food - chocolate 77a 236073 London Road http://www.coconoir.net
A1 Garden, The Florist 79 308647 London Road Paul Birtles Y paulbirtles600@aol.com http://www.thegardenoxford.co.uk
A2 Ferguson, Bricknell & Co Solicitors 77 (upstairs) 767567 London Road Brian Emsden brian.emsden@ferguson-bricknell.co.uk http://www.ferguson-bricknell.co.uk
A1 Cancer Research UK Charity Shop 79c 761029 London Road Stuart Atkinson stuartatkinson01@gmail.com 761029
A3 Rosetree Restaurant Café/Restaurant 81a 765999 London Road Miss Liu service@therosetreerestaurant.com 765999 Was Smart's Fish & Chips; premises rebuilt
A1 Oxfam Charity Shop 81 742452 London Road Thomas Blaseby oxfamshopf3828@oxfam.co.org.uk 742452
A1 Tesco Express Supermarket 83a NYA London Road Steve Barrie 6880@uk.tesco.com
A1 Tesco Express Supermarket 83 London Road Was  Break in 1980. Oddbins, then Nicolas to 2010, then Today's Local
A2 Lloyds TSB Bank 85-87 Fax: 741222 London Road Caroline Lecointe N Not: 741400. 0845 3000000

A2 NatWest Bank 89-91 O845 3019796 London Road Kevin Nunn kevin.nunn@natwest.com ***
A1 Oxford Furniture Warehouse Furniture 93 202221 London Road Ms Chris Green info@oxfurniture.co.uk www.oxforniture.co.uk http://www.oxfurniture.co.uk/
A1 Pen To Paper Stationers 95 741594 London Road Deborah Smart Y 741594
D1 Oxford Orthodontic Centre (upstair Dentist 95 (upstairs) 308818 London Road http://www.braces4oxford.co.uk
A1 Fusion Hair & Beauty 97 762002 London Road 762002 Was John Menzies and then Smith's
A1 WH Smith Newsagent 99 762659 London Road 762659 Was Premier newsagent
A2 Andrews Estate Agents Estate Agent 101 763443 London Road Chris Calogirou Y ccalogirou@andrewsonline.co.uk 763443
A2 Ladbroke's Betting shop 103 *** London Road Chris Turner *** Was Lloyds TSB
A2 Barclays Bank Plc Bank 105 442421 London Road Andrew Forgan andrew.forgan@barclays.com Officially: 08457 555 555

A2 Chancellor's Estate Agent 107 763464 London Road Jonathan Seabert headington.sales@chancellors.co.uk 763464
A2 Breckon & Breckon Estate Agent 109 *** London Road James Rein Y james@breckon.co.uk *** Was Mortgage Masters, previously Adkin Estate Agent
A1 Angels (formerly Accent) Hair & Beauty 111 762645 London Road 762645
A1 Pizza 113 London Road Chef's Pantry, La Plaza to 2008, then Copacabana and Caffe Toscano
A1 Euro Foods Polish food 115 236058 London Road Joanna Blachut Y shop@polishtaste.eu 07760 533532 Was G. H. Williams, then Café On-Line
A2 Rose Mount Financial Solutions Mortgage broker 115 766412 London Road ? Was Premier Mortgages and Investments
A2 Micro Tech Computer repairs 115 653708 or 07529 London Road
A1 Lazy Gamer Game shop 117 767890 London Road *** Was Chancellors in 1995; Annie Sloan to May 2010
A1 Sobell House Hospice Shop Charity Shop 119 764400 London Road http://www.Sobellhospice.org
A1 Keraleeyam Stores Food shop 121 07870 266597 London Road 07870 266597
A1 Mojo's Café/take-away "retail shop"123 764840 London Road Mohamed Garni mohamed.garni@O2.co.uk 764840
A2 Leopard GM Employment agency (Nurse 123 (upstairs) 763554 London Road Nursing agency: Manager Eddie Kavuma
A2 Oxfordshire Family Mediation Serv Mediation service 125 741781 London Road to be replaced by Headington Hub: Neil HoldstocT Duggan - Head of Operations   http://www.ofm.org.uk
A3 Shanghai House Take-away 127 762459 London Road 762459
A2 Allen & Harris Estate Agent 129-131 360066 London Road Ehsan Hussain ehsan.hussain@sequencehome.co.uk also? 767414
A2 Coventry Building Society Building Society 133-135 765747 London Road 765747
A1 Robert Stanley Optician 137 766488 London Road Attention Aki headington@robertstanley.co.uk 766488
A2 MBS Ltd Chartered Accountants 137 (upstairs) 742273 London Road 742273
A2 Connells Estate Agent 137a 763501 London Road Omar Nawaz omar.nawaz@connells.co.uk 763501
D1 Bury Knowle Health Centre Doctor 207 761651 London Road
D1 Bury Knowle Dental Practice Dentist 207 308400 London Road
C1 Mulberry Guest House Guest House 265 767114 London Road business is being sold

A1 Cut 'n' Create Hair & Beauty 68 762936 London Road 762936
A1 Sirz Hair & Beauty 68a 308080 London Road 308080
A3 Mirabai Restaurant 70 762255 London Road
SG Kwik-Fit Car repairs 72 767259 London Road Johnny Smith N 767259

A3 Britannia Pub (Ember Inn) 1 760192 Lime Walk http://www.emberinns.co.uk/thebritanniainnheadington
C1 Mount Pleasant Hotel 74-76 762749 London Road Mrs Papamichael Y mountpleasant16@btconnect.com business being sold
A3 Royal Standard Pub 78 761490 London Road 761490

A1 Feather & Black Bed shop 92 744744 London Road Chris Brown oxford@featherandblack.com http://www.featherandblack.com/Our-Stores/Store-Locator/Oxford.ice
A1 Mailboxes Business Services 94 741 729 London Road Justin Brookes Y info@mbeheadington.co.uk http://www.mbeheadington.co.uk
A1 British Heart Foundation Charity Shop 94 308907 London Road Linda Woodthorpe Y no email 308907
A1 Boots Chemist 96 760800 London Road Theo Ng tszho.ng@boots.com 760800
A1 Sainsbury's Supermarket 98 760800 London Road Tony Hallam Manager.OxfordHeadingtonLocal@sainsbu760800
A1 Holland & Barrett Health food shop 100 764578 London Road Keith Jacob 764578
A1 Johnson's Dry cleaners 102 763673 London Road Spencer Cleyton N 763673
A1 Windmill Fairtrade shop Windmill Fairtrade 104 236944 London Road Elizabeth Whitwick Y http://www.headingtonfairtrade.org.uk
A1 Up and Running Running equipment 106 744266 London Road Josh Spering N oxford@upandrunning.co.uk http://www.upandrunning.co.uk/shops/oxford.php Was Topfruits, then Cartridge World

A2 HSBC Bank HSBC Bank 108-110 444200 London Road Nancy Ball nancy.i.ball@hsbc.com 444200

LONDON ROAD SOUTH

Lime Walk

New High Street

Kennett Road

LONDON ROAD NORTH

Sandfield Road

HEADINGTON DISTRICT SHOPPING CENTRE STARTS HERE

sler Road. The following are still Manor Buildings, but are just turning the corner into Osler Road

Stephen Road

Old High Street

116



A1 Clic Charity Shop 108-110 744402 London Road 744402
A1 Marie Curie Cancer Care Charity Shop 108-110 762115 London Road Carole-Anne Hathaway 762115
A1 Iceland Supermarket 108-110 762134 London Road 762134
A1 Trade Exchange Pawn shop 112 744401 London Road 744401
? Dance Inspires Pole-dancing school 112 (upstairs) 07909 974256 London Road http://danceinspires.vpweb.co.uk/Oxford-Timetable.html 
A1 Cancer Research UK Charity Shop 114 768199 London Road Jerry Pendleton mailjerryp@gmail.com 768199
A2 Absolute Events Solutions Events organizers 1 01865 744 437 Windmill Road http://www.absoluteeventsolutions.com
A2 Santander Bank 116 0845 765 4321 London Road Fhozie Islam fhozie.islam@santander.co.uk 0845 765 4321 formerly Abbey National
A1 Greggs Bakers Baker's shop 118 767663 London Road Jenny Sousa jennyssousa7@gmail.com
A1 Caffè Nero (was Londis) café 116-120 767663 London Road Not yet operational Closed Was Seven-Eleven, Budgen, and then Londis. Still owned by Budgens
C2 Abacus College College 116-120 (upstairs) 240111 London Road Dr Paul Quinn info@abacuscollege.co.uk Dr Paul Quinn, Principal

A2 Taylors Estate Agent 122 760881 London Road 760881 formerly Buckell & Ballard
A2 Edward Pilling & Co Solicitors 122 (upstairs) 741122 London Road Mr Edward Pilling  email address not working http://www.edwardpilling.co.uk
A1 Tina's Nails Beauty 122a 744740 London Road Was Oxford Design
A1 D. L. Hancock Ltd Funeral Directors 126 767780 London Road Darren Hancock darren@dlhancock.co.uk http://www.dlhancock.co.uk/ Darren Hancock, Manager  (Was Matthew Clulee, Laura Loves Flowers)
A1 Co-operative Funeral Services Funeral Directors Unit 1, Holyoake Hall, 122-136 308581 London Road Attention: Mary headington.funerals@midcounties.coop
A1 Co-op Travel Care Travel Agent Unit 1, Holyoake Hall, 122-136 308576 London Road 308576
A3 Domino's Pizza Take-away Units 3 a & 3b, Holyoake Hall, 12 742020 London Road 742020
A2 Betfred Betting shop Unit 4, Holyoake Hall, 122-136 0800 032 0878 London Road ***

A1/A3 Café Bonjour Café Unit 5, Holyoake Hall, 122-136 744332 London Road 744332

A1 Vacant (was Ripples) 138-140 London Road Co-op in 1980, Carpenter Shergolds, Hacienda, Cotswold Collection: rebuilt
A2 Webcurl Web services 138-40 (upstairs) London Road http://www.webcurl.co.uk
A1 BBB Stores Household goods 142 London Road Bill Simpson Y http://www.bbbstores.co.uk A-Z until 2010
A1 Headington Post Office Crown post office 142 762881 London Road Ramesh Chauhan rameschauhan197@outlook.com 762881
A3 Bar Meze Restaurant 146 London Road Attention: Manager manager@bar-meze.co.uk http://www.bar-meze.co.uk
A1 Yummy Take-away 148 308002 London Road 308002
A3 Asian Mama Restaurant 148a London Road http://www.thechineserestaurant.co.uk Was previously called The Chinese Restaurant/Hang Chow
A3 Posh Fish Fish & chip shop 150 765894 London Road 765894
A1 Pet & Garden Supplies Pet shop 150a 741136 London Road Katrina Lavis Y katrina_lavis@yahoo.co.uk 741136 Was PJ's Pet & Garden Supplies

A1 Oxford Swindon & Glos Co-op Supermarket 152 London Road Andy Mason aands.mason@btinternet.com 761800

D1 WellBeing Clinic Health clinic 1 Windmill Road http://www.wellbeingclinic.com
A2 Accounting Advice Bureau Accounts office 1 (upstairs) Windmill Road http://www.aab-advice.co.uk/
A1 Queen's Bakery & Café 1 The Parade 768 513 Windmill Road EMAIL ADDRESS NOT WORKING 768 513
A3 Dong Dong Restaurant 1 The Parade Windmill Road
A1 Vente Tsunami Hair & Beauty 1 The Parade 761160 Windmill Road 761160
A1 Headington Homewares Household goods 1 The Parade Windmill Road did not want to fill in Q http://www.headingtonhomewares.co.uk
A1 Frog Orange Gift shop 1 The Parade Windmill Road http://www.headingtonhomewares.co.uk
A1 Electric Aids Electrical repair shop 1 The Parade Windmill Road http://electricaids-oxford-ltd.web.officelive.com
D1 John Miller, dentist Dentist 6A The Parade (upstairs) 308050 Windmill Road 308050
A1 Thong Heng Chinese supermarket 6 The Parade *** Windmill Road ***
A1 Bike recycling Bike recycling and repairs 9A *** Windmill Road *** Was Time & Elegance, then Launa Stone
SG Black Mamba Tattoos Beauty tattoo studio 9A (upstairs) *** Windmill Road Zoe Osborne zoeosborne1@aol.com *** Was Time & Elegance, then Launa Stone
A1 Daisy Chain Card & Gift shop 9 Windmill Road http://www.daisychainpartyware.com
A1 Isis Hair Salon and Spa Hair & Beauty 11 Windmill Road http://www.isisdayspa.co.uk Was McGills Hairdressing

A1 Sue Ryder Charity Shop 2a Windmill Road Was Clovers to 2011
A1 Salon Scandinavia Hair & Beauty 2b Windmill Road http://salonscandinavia.com
D2 Bury Knowle Club (upstairs) Club Between 2b & 2c Windmill Road 762682
A2 QB Management Letting agent 2c Windmill Road http://www.qbman.co.uk Was the Intyre Party
A1 Da Root Afro-Caribbean groceries Food shop Simon House, 2-4 Windmill Road William Adeitan Y 13096141@brookes.ac.uk re-opened for business Was Africare to 2012
A1 Regency Cleaners Dry cleaners Simon House, 2-4 765483 Windmill Road 765483
A2 Lee & Lindars Estate Agent Simon House, 2-4 Windmill Road http://www.leeandlindars.com
SG Truwash Launderette Simon House, 2-4 *** Windmill Road ***
A1 Amends Walk In Barber Hair & Beauty Simon House, 2-4 *** Windmill Road *** Was Special Days Card shop, then London Beauty Boutique
SG Step-by-Step Dance School Dance school Kirby House (behind Africare) *** Windmill Road *** Was Reynold's Blinds
A1 Japlene Ladies' Dress Shop 6 764251 Windmill Road 764251
A1 Reynolds Blinds Blind manufacturer 8 Windmill Road http://www.reynoldsblindsoxford.co.uk
A1 Choice Tiles Tile shop 10 742284 Windmill Road 742284 Was Labroke's in 1980: unique in changing from A2 to A1
A1 Leopard Press Print centre 12 Windmill Road Mike Nicholls mike@leaopardpress.com http://www.leopardpress.com
A1 Helen & Douglas House Charity shCharity Shop 14 762555 Windmill Road Attention: Neil Y Headington@helenanddouglas.org.uk 762555

A1/A3 La Croissanterie Café/Restaurant 3 & 5 762712 Old High Street 762712
A1 Monaco Ladies' Dress Shop 7 766996 Old High StreetElaine Bellenger Y elainebellenger@hotmail.co.uk 766996
A1 Waitrose Supermarket 9 & 11 308806 Old High StreetSimon Jones Y 479.BranchManager@waitrose.co.uk

A1/A3 Jacobs & Field Delicatessen/café 15 766990 Old High StreetRebecca Brockbank info@jacobsandfield.com http://www.jacobsandfield.com
A1 Audio T Audio shop 19 765961 Old High StreetJon Abson Y oxford@audio-t.co.uk http://www.audiot.co.uk/storefinder/oxford/

WHM Consulting Engineering consultancy 751529 Holly Crescent Dr Will Clark Y will@oxscisoft.com

C2 Manor Hospital Hospital *** Beech Road http://www.nuffieldhealth.com/Individuals/Centres/O/Oxford/
D1 Headington Parish Hall Community hall *** 763788 Dunstan Road 763788
D1 Headington Cemetery Cemetery *** Dunstan Road http://www.oxford.gov.uk/services/cemeteries-openning-hours.cfm
D1 St Anthony of Padua RC Church Church and Church Hall 115 Headley Way http://www.stanthonyofpadua.org.uk/
D1 St Joseph's RC Primary School School *** Headley Way http://www.st-josephs-pri.oxon.sch.uk
D1 Dentist Dentist 1 761965 Kennett Road 761965
C3 St Luke's Nursing Home Nursing home 4 Latimer Road http://www.stlukeshosp.co.uk
A2 Linfield Construction Construction company 74 751544 Lime Walk 751544

?B1 Headington Heating & Plumbing Plumbing/Heating 57a 750669 Lime Walk 750669
D1 All Saints CofE Church Church *** 762536 Lime Walk 762536
D1 Lime Walk Methodist Church Church *** Lime Walk http://www.limewalk.org.uk
*** Oxford Chinese Christian ChurchChurch meeting at Lime Wa *** Lime Walk http://www.oxccc.org/
D1 St Ebbe's in Headington Church *** Lime Walk http://www.stebbes.org.uk/services/1030-in-headington

B. J. Autos Car repairs 2 762892 Margaret Road 762892
A2 Hook, Brian & Partners (+ DamprArchitect 3 767125 New High Street 767125
A1 Joanne Hair & Beauty 4D 762625 New High Street 762625
A1 Beckmann Property ManagemenLetting agent 4E New High Street
D1 All Saints Church House Community hall *** New High Street http://www.headington.org.uk/organizations/halls/allsaints
D1 Lime Walk Methodist Church Ha Church hall *** New High Street ***
D1 Methodist Church Hall Community hall *** New High Street ***
D1 Bury Knowle Library Library Bury Knowle House 762867 North Place 762867
B1 Oxfordshire Sports Partnership Office Bury Knowle House North Place http://www.oxfordshiresport.org

Stile Road

WINDMILL ROAD EAST

WINDMILL ROAD WEST

OLD HIGH STREET

HEADINGTON DISTRICT SHOPPING CENTRE ENDS HERE

IN HEADINGTON WARD, BUT NOT IN THE DISTRICT CENTRE

Windmill Road

Holyoake Road. The following shops (pink background) are in Quarry & Risinghurst ward

117



A3 Jewell & Co Architects Bury Knowle Coach House North Place http://www.jewellandco.com
B1 Oxfordshire Association for You Charity Bury Knowle Coach House North Place http://www.oayp.org.uk/
D2 Viking Sports Club Club 65 Old High Street http://www.vikingsports.co.uk
D1 Richards Medical Centre Doctor 12 Old High Street http://www.donningtonhealthcentre.nhs.uk/richards-medical-centre,38816.htm
D1 Headington Baptist Church Church and Church hall *** Old High Street http://www.hbc-oxford.org.uk/
D1 The Priory Church *** Old High Street ***
?DI Oxford Christian Institute for Co Counselling service The Priory Old High Street http://www.ocic.org.uk
A4 Black Boy (Greene King) Pubs 91 Old High Street http://www.theblackboy.uk.com
D1 Hunsdon House Nursery School Private nursery school 12 Osler Road http://www.hunsdon-house.co.uk
A1 Moss Pharmacy Chemist 57 762979 Osler Road 762979
D2 Headington Bowls Club Club The Pavilion 761340 Osler Road 761340
D2 Headington Bowls Club Club The Pavilion Osler Road http://www.communigate.co.uk/oxford/hbc/
A1 Manor Pharmacy Pharmacy 57 Osler Road 762979
*** Vacant *** The Old School Perrin Street ***
D2 8th Oxford (Highfield) Scout Gro Scouts Old Chapel Perrin Street ***
D1 St Andrew's CofE Church Church *** St Andrew's Road http://users.churchserve.com/uk/st_andrews/
A4 White Hart (Everard's) Pubs 12 St Andrew's Road http://www.everards.co.uk/pubs/white_hart_149
D1 ABC Nursery Children's nursery 11 Sandfield Road http://kidactiveclubs.co.uk/2/abc-nursey.html
D1 Sandfield Day Nursery Children's nursery *** Sandfield Road http://www.childbase.com/nurseries/juliadurbin.asp

B1(b) Temple Bookbinders Bookbinders 12 Stephen Road http://www.templebookbinders.co.uk Was Professional Imaging
C2 Ruskin College College + Children's nursery*** Stoke Place http://www.ruskin.ac.uk/
A4 Butcher's Arms (Fuller's) Pubs 5 Wilberforce Street http://www.thebutchersoxford.co.uk
?A1 Blanchford Builder's Merchant 59 Windmill Road Adrian Smith MD http://www.blanchford.co.uk
D2 Headington Conservative Club Club 60 439400 Windmill Road 439400
C1 All Seasons Guest House Hotels/Guest Houses 63 Windmill Road Attention: Andy info@allseasonshouse.com http://www.allseasonshouse.com
SG Jacob, A.G. & Sons Removal Firm 78 Windmill Road http://www.agjacobandson.co.uk
A1 Barclay Antiques Antique shop 107 769551 Windmill Road barclay_antiques@yahoo.com 769551
B8 Hines of Oxford Tapestry Import Misc. shops 46A Windmill Road duncan@hinesofoxford.com http://www.hinesofoxford.com
A1 Richard Ford Secondhand shop 72a 760053 Windmill Road 760053
D1 Mill Court Osteopathic Clinic (Pr Medical (Doctors, dentists, cBetween 40 & 42 Windmill Road Closing/moving? http://shsc.brookes.ac.uk/osteoclinics
D2 Headington Conservative Club Club 60 439400 Windmill Road 439400
C2 Nuffield Orthopaedic Centre Hospital *** Windmill Road http://www.noc.nhs.uk/

118



HEADINGTON
NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM

(headingtonplan.org.uk)

DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

2017 – 2032

FOR OXFORD CITY COUNCIL 

119



DOCUMENT CONTROL SHEET

HNF Document Control Sheet

Document Title Headington Neighbourhood Forum – Draft Neighbourhood Plan

Draft Number v.11

Task Group and Authors Project Manager

Date of Version 8. June 2016

Status Final Draft

Date of Public Issue

Visibility For Oxford City Council official Consultation 

File Type PDF

File Name HNF – Neighbourhood Plan  Revised Draft 08-06-16

120



CONTENTS       Page No

Welcome to the Draft Headington Neighbourhood Plan 4

1. Introduction to the Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2032 5

2. The Headington Neighbourhood Forum 5

3. The Headington Neighbourhood Plan Area 7

4. Why Consult on a Neighbourhood Plan? 8

5. The Consultation Process 9

6. Why do we need a Neighbourhood Plan for Headington? 10

7. How the Plan was Prepared 10

8. The Plan Process 11

9. Headington Neighbourhood Plan - Vision and Objectives 12

10. Delivering the Vision – Headington 2031 14

11. Delivering the Plan 15

12. Headington Neighbourhood Plan Draft Policies 15

A. Green Spaces and Amenity 16
B. Business and Retail 23
C. Character and Identity 25
D. Education 29
E. Housing 30
F. Transport 33
G. The Future 38

Annexes and Additional Information 
Annex 1 - Headington Neighbourhood Forum and Plan Structure
Annex 2 - Headington Neighbourhood Plan Process
Appendix A – List of Green Spaces in Headington 
Appendix B – Template for Biodiversity Enhancement
Website - Business and Retail Consultation Report
Website - Issues and Options Consultation Report 
Website - Character Assessment Reports
Website – Draft Consultation Responses Report
Website - Community Engagement Strategy

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 3121



Welcome to the Draft Headington Neighbourhood Plan 

“What are the right things to do for Headington? Our quarter of Oxford is a busy place. It is 
home to thousands; a diverse community, many who've lived here all their lives but also a 
sizeable number who have moved here to retire, work or study. It is a place of work for 
thousands; in world-leading research institutes but also in a range of small and medium sized 
businesses. It is a place of education for thousands; the schools and universities in Headington 
are equipping people for life in the 21st century. 

Because Headington is busy, many people have been concerned that the right balance hasn't 
always been struck. We think this is in part because the various strategies and plans of City and 
County don't focus on Headington or connect with those who live, work or study here. In 
proposing this plan, we are seeking to strike that balance - policies to make Headington a better
place. We don't have a big single issue as a community; our work in preparing this plan has 
confirmed that. What we have is a range of issues. We have tried to tackle these in some depth,
preparing policies in six areas, but they interlink. Some of our policies will impact on the way 
that planning of development happens, but many are designed to spark activities or to work 
with existing schemes. 

The plan describes our processes, the ways that we have sought to find out what matters to 
people and to think about what we should do. What's clear is that none of this would have 
happened without the hard work of a range of people who've joined the Forum, thought about 
a policy area or helped on the steering committee. The process has been, and will continue to 
be, open to all those who want to help plan for the things that will make Headington a better 
place.”

Mike Ratcliffe – Headington Neighbourhood Forum Chair

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 4122



1. Introduction to the Headington Neighbourhood Plan 2017 - 2032

Headington Neighbourhood Forum (HNF) is the designated body for developing a 
Neighbourhood Plan for Headington (the Plan). It was designated by Oxford City Council in 
September 2014.

The aim of HNF is to produce a Neighbourhood Plan for Headington which is intended to give 
the local community more of a say in the development of their local area. 

The ability to create Neighbourhood Plans was created by the Localism Act 2011. They are used 
to decide the future of the places where people live and work, giving opportunities to: 

 choose where people want new homes, shops and offices to be built;

 have a say on what new buildings should look like; and

 grant planning permission for the new buildings you want to see go ahead. 

The Headington Neighbourhood Plan aims to provide this opportunity, and has been drafted to 
provide a framework for these opportunities from 2017, when it is hoped that it will be 
adopted by the Headington community, up to 2032.

Consulting on this Draft Plan is a statutory requirement of the neighbourhood planning process,
and the consultation period must be open for at least 6 weeks. However, opportunities to make
representations to HNF are open throughout the Plan preparation process.

2. The Headington Neighbourhood Forum

The Headington Neighbourhood Forum has been established as an organisation whose purpose
is to promote the social, economic and environmental well-being of Headington. 

The Forum’s membership represents a full cross-section of the local community including those 
who live and work in Headington. The Forum has in excess of 100 members including elected 
members of Oxford City and Oxfordshire County Councils. 

All local groups operating in the area and owners of land within the area, but not resident or 
working in the area, have been invited to be represented. Presentations have been made to 
representative groups including Headington Action, Headington Forward and Oxford Brookes 
Students Union. Open meetings of the Forum have been publicised online and in the local 
media and membership sought through these means. 

The process of developing the Plan, and of approving the Plan through a referendum, lies with 
HNF. However, it is important that HNF acts as a conduit for the views and expectations of the 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 5123



wider Headington Community. This includes those who live, work or study in Headington, or 
travel through Headington.  HNF also has a responsibility to be mindful of the impacts of the 
Headington Neighbourhood Plan on the neighbouring parishes, city areas, and other 
neighbourhood forums.

The Plan which HNF is producing is a spatial plan which has planning policies which affect how 
planning applications are determined, and community policies and projects which aim to help 
the community in Headington deliver the desired changes. Given that HNF is not the only 
statutory body responsible for spatial planning in Headington (Oxford City Council is the Local 
Planning Authority), the Plan must be in general conformity with Oxford City Council’s strategic 
planning policies within its Local Plan.

It should be noted that this Plan should be read as a whole in relation to development 
proposals. This Plan does not provide a 'pick-and-mix' approach to development, but sets down 
a coherent framework of policies which, taken as a whole, seeks to deliver the Vision and 
Objectives of HNF.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 6124



3. The Headington Neighbourhood Plan Area 

The map below indicates the area which is covered by the Plan. This area was designated as the
Headington Neighbourhood Plan Area (HNPA) by Oxford City Council on the 23rd April 2014.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 7125



4. Why consult on a Neighbourhood Plan? 

Neighbourhood plans allow local people to get the right type of development for their 
community, but the plans must still meet the needs of the wider area. This means that 
neighbourhood plans have to take into account the local council’s assessment of housing and 
other development needs in the area. 

However, it goes beyond traditional ‘land-use’ planning activity, which tends to focus on 
regulation and control of development. Neighbourhood planning allows greater scope for plan 
makers, acting with the community, relevant agencies and service providers to promote and 
manage change in an area. 

As with all plan-making, the project requires leadership. Where Town and Parish Councils do 
not cover an area, the Localism Act (2011) has given that leadership role to Neighbourhood 
Forums. Neighbourhood Forums are community groups that are designated to take forward 
neighbourhood planning in areas without parishes. It is the role of the local planning authority 
to agree who should be the neighbourhood forum for the neighbourhood area. 

This carries significant responsibility in terms of producing a plan that is representative of the 
community. The way in which the process is led and implemented will need to secure 
confidence from the community in the Headington area and those organisations and businesses
that serve our needs. Confidence in the process and support for the outcomes will be more 
certain by starting this process in a demonstrably transparent way and continuing in that way 
through all stages of plan preparation. We will do this by: 

 showing a willingness to openly encourage opinions and suggestions from all individuals 
and organisations within the community whether or not these present potentially 
conflicting, challenging or critical views of the Plan or the process;

 presenting a reasonable, realistic, evidence-based and cogently argued case to support 
the Plan at each stage of its preparation;

 making every effort to understand all views expressed from all individuals and groups 
and respond clearly on all matters raised in a timely manner;  and

 demonstrating, in a form that is readily accessible and easily understood by the whole 
community, how the Plan reflects the views and opinions expressed during each stage 
of engagement and, where those views cannot legitimately be taken into account, 
explaining why that is the case.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 8126



5. The Consultation Process

The consultation phase of the project includes one informal and two formal legally required 
processes to consult the community, and an ongoing informal engagement and consultation 
process. 

During the first informal process, which took place in September and October 2014, we 
produced a draft vision and aims of the Headington Neighbourhood Plan. We also identified, 
following on from the 'informing' process carried out through the policy groups, the issues and 
options in the HNPA. This document, the Issues and Options Consultation, which was delivered 
to around 6,500 households, helped us gather views about what should be included in the plan.
Nearly 500 responses were received.

Following this consultation we have identified and evaluated all the available evidence in order 
to produce a Draft Headington Neighbourhood Plan. This Draft Plan was published for 
consultation on the 30th May 2015. The formal consultation period lasted for 6 weeks, and 
closed on the 16th July 2015. Over 200 submissions, many of them highly detailed, were 
received during this consultation period.

These additional comments and information provided by the community during this 
consultation has been used to finalise the Draft Plan. This has now been submitted to 

Oxford City Council which is required to consult on it for a further 6 weeks. They will publicise 
the document, inviting comments on the content of the document.

Throughout this process, we will continue to informally consult the community using a range of 
appropriate techniques:

 community profiling:  creating a shared picture with the community of the physical, 
human, social, economic and community characteristics, assets and issues found in an 
area. 

 organised discussion groups: such as focus groups which allow small group discussions 
that give in-depth consideration to relevant local issues surrounding specific topics.  

 surveys: such as resident opinion polls and questionnaire-based surveys where 
responses to questions about specific issues are gathered in writing.  These can take the 
form of door-to-door or street interviews; postal questionnaires; web-based, electronic 
and social-media hosted surveys; and telephone interviews.    

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 9127



6. Why do we need a Neighbourhood Plan for Headington?

In the past all statutory spatial plans have been prepared by the local planning authority, 
Oxford City Council.  These plans are collectively known in legal terms as ‘the Local Plan’ and 
will remain in place. These plans were prepared in consultation with the local community, 
however they did not necessarily reflect the ‘will’ of the community. The Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan is being prepared by the community, for the community.

Through the Localism Act we now have the opportunity to actually prepare the plan that shapes
how the Headington area looks.  We can say what type of development we wish to encourage, 
how much development should take place (subject to generally conforming with higher level 
strategic plans), where and when that development should take place, and what we want to 
see protected in the long term.  

We can do this by establishing what the community says it most expects the area to look like 
over the coming years. We can then look to establish how relevant delivery organisations in the
private, public, community and voluntary sector are able to meet those expectations. 

Provided certain steps are taken during the preparation of the Headington Neighbourhood 
Plan, it will have a clear legal status and be used to make decisions on all planning matters 
coming forward in Headington and its adjoining areas (in relation to development proposals 
that may have a potential impact upon the Headington area and its community).

Given the range of issues that the Headington community faces, having a Neighbourhood Plan 
provides a fantastic opportunity to try to resolve them through the planning system. HNF will 
also use the Plan to work with a range of community stakeholders to deliver local solutions and 
projects for Headington.

7. How  the Plan was Prepared

This Draft Plan has been prepared by local residents from Headington. These local residents 
have organised themselves into a series of Policy Working Groups (PWGs) which report back to 
a main Steering Committee (SC), which reports regularly back to the Forum (see Annex 1).

The Forum sets out the Vision for the Plan. The SC sets out the Objectives and Aims of the Plan. 
The PWGs set out the Policies and Action Plans for the Plan. There is also a Community 
Engagement Working Group.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 10128



Each of the six PWGs concentrates on a particular policy area. These are:

 Amenities and Green Spaces
 Business and Retail
 Character and Identity
 Education
 Housing
 Transport

Throughout the whole Plan development process, the achievement of sustainable development
has been embedded within policy formulation.  At the heart of our Plan is a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, which should be seen as a golden thread running through 
both plan-making and decision-taking.

In December 2015, HNF requested a screening opinion regarding the need for the Plan to have 
a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA). On the 10th February 2016 Oxford City Council 
confirmed that a SEA was not necessary. However, following representations from our 
statutory consultees, HNF has decided to conduct an 'Assessment of Sustainability' which will 
be carried out during the period where Oxford City Council is consulting on the draft Plan. 

8. The Plan Process

The process which neighbourhood plans need to follow is set down in statute by the 
Neighbourhood Planning Regulations (2012). These regulations specify a series of consultations 
and tests to ensure the validity and conformance of the neighbourhood plan. The process that 
HNF has followed in developing the Headington Neighbourhood Plan is set out in Annex 2.

As described above, HNF has held two formal consultations.  HNF also has a duty to consult any 
consultation body whose interests the qualifying body considers may be affected by the 
proposals for a neighbourhood development plan. Therefore, from December 7th 2015 to 
January 25th 2016 HNF formally consulted the full range of statutory consultees referred to in 
paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 of the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations (2012).

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 11129



9. Headington Neighbourhood Plan - Vision and Objectives

HNF has developed a vision for the Plan:

“Headington Neighbourhood Plan celebrates the diversity and identity of Headington. 
Working with our partners and neighbours, we plan to balance the opportunities in 
Headington in order to provide a healthy, positive and vibrant environment for people to live,
work and study in.”

The Steering Committee has developed three Objectives for the Plan:

“The Plan has three overarching objectives which guide policy making throughout the 
Neighbourhood Plan process. These are:

 Improving the quality of life for residents, workers and students.

 Establishing and promoting an identity which embraces the diverse nature of 
Headington.

 Fostering beneficial development.”

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 12130



HNF has considered each of the proposed Spatial Planning Policies set out in section 12 below 
against these objectives, and these are presented in Table 1 below.

       Policy

Plan Objectives

Improve quality 
of life

Establish and 
promote identity

Foster beneficial 
development

GSP 1 X X

GSP 2 X X

GSP 3 X

GSP 4 X

GSP 5 X X

GSP 6 X

AMP 1 X X

CIP1 X X

CIP2 X X

CIP3 X

CIP4 X

CIP5 X

EDP1 X X

TRP1 X

TRP2 X

TRP3 X

TRP4 X

TRP5 X

TRP6 X

Table 1. Headington Neighbourhood Plan Policy Delivery against Objectives

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 13131



10. Delivering the Vision – Headington 2031

The planning and community policies and associated projects set out in the Plan seek to deliver 
the Vision and Aims. Each policy is designed to deliver at least one of the aims. They will be 
implemented over the coming ten years. What will Headington look like then, in 2031 as a 
consequence of the Plan?

A greener place - It will be a greener with the existing parks and smaller green spaces enhanced
and more green spaces created within new developments. The green setting both within and 
around Headington will be protected and enhanced. Biodiversity within Headington will thrive 
through increased protection and more imaginative planting and stronger green corridors.

Better amenities - There will be an improved range of amenities reflecting the diverse 
character of Headington. This will be through increased public access to private facilities and 
the protection and improvement of existing facilities. 

A thriving centre - Headington centre will be a thriving and prosperous shopping and leisure 
area supported by a strong business community. There will be a diverse range of shops and 
cafes responsive to the changing patterns of demand.

Strong identity with a diverse character - Headington will have a strong identity based on 
clearly defined boundaries and a diverse range of neighbourhood areas each with their own 
individual character. Innovative design will be encouraged so that the built environment is 
continually refreshed and updated.

More key worker housing - There will be more housing for key workers in essential services, 
reducing the level of commuting into Headington. There will also be stronger community 
control over planning applications.

Improved school provision - Education facilities for school age children will be improved. 

Better for pedestrians and cyclists - It will be a better place for pedestrians and cyclists with 
improved networks of paths and better facilities for people with disabilities. There will be less 
traffic congestion as more people shift to non-car modes of transport and to car sharing.

A plan that will work for Headington - The implementation of the Plan policies and projects to 
deliver this new Headington will be managed by a successor body to the Neighbourhood Forum
(see Policy FC 1 in Section 12) . This body will work with the local Councils, stakeholders and 
local people. The Plan is a living document and will be open to change and improvement 
through the development and incorporation of new community projects throughout the plan 
period. These projects will accord with the vision and aims of the Plan.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 14132



11. Delivering the Plan

Delivery of the Neighbourhood Plan will take place through two distinct elements:

Firstly, the Spatial Planning Policies (highlighted in grey), as set out in section 12 below, if 
approved at Referendum, will become part of the Statutory Local Planning documents which 
determine planning applications in the HNPA. These policies specifically impact on proposed 
planning applications, and can be implemented directly through the planning system.

Secondly, HNF has also identified a number of Community Policies and Projects, which are also 
set out in section 12 below. These Policies and Projects cannot be delivered through 
development (i.e. when planning applications are made) and therefore will need to be 
delivered directly by HNF, or by HNF working with partners/stakeholders. HNF will seek to 
deliver these through working with external organizations, or accessing funding.

12. Headington Neighbourhood Plan Draft Policies

The Policies which HNF has developed have been labelled according to the Policy Area (i.e. TR 
for Transport, HG for Housing, etc.)  Those policies that relate to the control of development 
(Spatial Planning Policies) have also been labelled as 'P' (i.e. TRP is a Transport Spatial Planning 
Policy). Those policies which relate to the delivery of change within Headington (Community) 
have been labelled as 'C' (i.e. HGC is a Housing Community Policy).

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 15133



A. Green Spaces (GS) and Amenity (AM)

The aim is the greening of Headington through policies designed to protect and enhance green 
space and biodiversity. These policies provide for the protection and extension of green spaces 
including parks, trees and allotments, the protection and enhancement of the green setting 
including verges and non-designated public access green space and the protection and 
enhancement of biodiversity and conservation sites.

GREEN SPACES (GS)  AND AMENITY (AM) SPATIAL (P) POLICIES

GSP1: Conserving and enhancing Public Access Green Space1

1. All existing public access green space in the HNPA will be conserved and enhanced unless 
currently allocated as a development site in the Oxford City Council Local Plan (2011). 

2. Development proposals that safeguard, and/or provide opportunities to improve the 
quality and quantity of public access to green space through appropriate restoration, 
extension, expansion or diversification in a scale and setting compatible with their location 
will be welcomed. 

3. Development will be supported where it does not result in the loss of public access green 
space unless it can be demonstrated that there is an imperative reason of overriding public 
interest2 for development on that green space and:

• a public access green space(s) of an equivalent size and amenity in an identified 
area(s) of need in the HNPA is provided; or

• access to the public of existing private green space(s) of an equivalent size and 
amenity in the HNPA is provided.3

This policy both enhances the quality of life for all those who live and/or work in the HNPA and 
for visitors to Headington.  This is in accordance with the principles of sustainability and the 
Oxford City Core Strategy which aims to improve the quality of the public realm for both visitors
and residents. It accords with Core Strategy Policy CS21 which seeks to maintain the existing 
level of green space provision within any area of Oxford City and with Core Strategy Policy CS17
which seeks opportunities to provide new green spaces on or near development sites.

1 Public access green space is green space in Headington which is available to the public, regardless of landowner, for 
recreation. It comprises: parks – city, neighbourhood and local, playgrounds, sports grounds, square/garden and civic spaces, 
ecological sites, green corridors, greens and commons, churchyards and cemetries. (Green Spaces Strategy Appendix 2)
2https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/82647/habitats-directive-iropi-draft-
guidance-20120807.pdf
3A detailed list of green spaces in Headington is included in Appendix A

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 16134



GSP2: Provision of Green Space within Developments

In order to increase and enhance green space within the HNPA:

1. Development proposals which increase public access green space and enhance biodiversity 
within the HNPA will be welcomed, including incorporation of biodiversity in and around 
developments.

2. Significant residential developments (those consisting of twenty or more residential units) 
and significant non-residential developments4 will provide at least 15% of the total site area 
as public access green space.  

3. Significant developments will provide Biodiversity Enhancement Plans which include the 
provision of measures to increase the biodiversity of the site and provide arrangements for 
their maintenance.5

4. The Plan favours the provision of public access green space on site. However, where it can 
be demonstrated that public access green space cannot be provided on site as part of 
significant developments, then alternative public access green space must be provided within 
the HNPA. This can be in the form of an extension or enhancement of existing public access 
green space within the HNPA.

This policy is essential to maintain the urban village environment of Headington and to make 
provision for future increases in population in the HNPA. It supports the Green Spaces Strategy6

(GSS) Objective 1 which is to seek opportunities to increase the provision of green space in 
Oxford. It also supports GSS Objective 21 which is protect and enhance biodiversity in Oxford by
identifying areas in which to create new biodiversity habitats.   GSS Objective 1 seeks to 
maintain the quantity of existing green space in Oxford and to seek opportunities to increase 
this, in part by ensuring that new development contributes to the provision of high quality 
multifunctional green space. GSS Objective 4 sets standards for local access to green space.7  
Headington falls well short of these standards (GSS Appendix 4). The Oxford Local Plan Sites and
Housing Plan require residential developments of 20 or more dwellings to provide at least 10% 
of total site area for public access green space. In view of the current shortfall in meeting these 
standards this policy sets a higher standard for development. The provision of biodiversity 
enhancement plans will assist delivery of the GSS objective 21 to protect and enhance 
biodiversity. The Oxford Local Plan requires larger developments to provide on-site green space
4 Significant non-residential developments are those whose scale and impact equates to a residential development of twenty or
more units, and could therefore equate to 5,000m2 overall floor space.
5A template for Biodiversity Enhancement Plans is included in Appendix B.

6http://www.oxford.gov.uk/Library/Documents/Policies%20and%20Plans/Green%20Spaces%20Strategy%202013-27.pdf
7 Our aspiration is that people do not have to walk more than 1900m to their nearest large park, not more than 750m to their 
nearest medium park and not more than 400m to their nearest small park.  This standard will be applied to all new 
developments as well as existing residential developments.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 17135



where this will enhance the range of green space already available in the area or to make a 
financial contribution.  This Plan favours the provision of on-site public access green space 
rather than a financial contribution as this is considered to be more appropriate to deal with 
the current shortfall in meeting the GSS standards for public access green space.

GSP3 Conserving and Enhancing Biodiversity 

1.   Development proposals that seek to conserve and enhance land which has a significant 
wildlife or ecological value will be welcomed.

2.   Development proposals which may result in significant harm to local wildlife or ecology of
a significant value8 will not be permitted, unless the developer can demonstrate that the 
benefits of the development clearly outweigh the loss, and this can be mitigated against 
and compensated for elsewhere within the HNPA by providing a replacement habitat on a
like-for-like basis.

The Core Strategy Policy CS12 is focussed on the protection of designated sites. GSP3 seeks to 
protect and enhance biodiversity on both designated and non-designated sites in Headington in
accordance with the Green Strategy Objective 21 which seeks the “protection of important and 
prosaic species in all sites."  The more prosaic species may have particular value if they are rare 
in this area. In accordance with the NPPF Guidance (109) this policy seeks to minimise the 
impacts of development on biodiversity and provide net gains in biodiversity where possible. 
This accords with Policy CS 12 which encourages developments which enhance Oxford’s 
biodiversity.

GSP4: Protecting Tree Cover

All mature trees will be conserved unless it can be demonstrated that there is an imperative 
reason of overriding public interest (including disease management, health and safety and 
structural safety) in their removal. In such instances, the developer will provide a plan to 
demonstrate how removal of the mature tree(s) can be compensated for (a Tree and 
Sustainability Statement). It is recommended that where mature trees are removed, four 
times this number of appropriate varieties is successfully planted at designated site(s) within 
the HNPA9, as identified by HNF or a successor body.

Headington’s trees are of immense environmental and aesthetic value. They play a key role in 
defining the landscape and provide a vital habitat to wildlife. GSP4 accords with the GSS (5.13) 

8 “Significant value” includes wildlife or ecology which is/ rare in the HNPA although more abundant in other areas.  
9 Designated sites are those identified as public access green spaces in the Inventory of Green Spaces (Appendix A)

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 18136



which seeks to preserve healthy trees and encourage the planting of new trees within the 
HNPA. As tree coverage by mature trees is greater than that of saplings and the loss of mature 
trees should not be allowed to harm the setting of Headington, this policy recommends that 
the loss is offset by the planting of four times the number of lost mature trees. 10

GSP5: Protection of the Green Setting

1. The green setting of Headington will be conserved and enhanced. 

2. Developers will need to demonstrate that proposals for development either within 
Headington or its surrounding area takes account of any impacts on the green setting of 
the HNPA. This should also take account of any negative impacts on green space which 
provides a valuable visual green resource to the community.

Headington is defined as an urban village (GSS Appendix 4) and as such its green setting is of 
particular significance.11 The GSS (3.2/3.3) emphasises that care must be taken to protect the 
distinctive and sensitive character and environments of Oxford in the light of the demands of a 
growing population.  In accordance with policy CS18 of the Oxford City Local Plan, proposals for 
development either within Headington or its surrounding area will need to take account of any 
impacts on the green setting of the HNPA.  This will include views into and out of the area.

GSP6 Provision of Allotment Land

Existing and designated allotment land will be retained.  Proposals that seek to increase the 
number of allotments in the HNPA or extend existing allotment sites will be encouraged.

The provision of allotments provides many of the benefits that the six aims of the GSS is seeking
to achieve, including physical and mental health and well-being, sustainability and biodiversity, 
community cohesion and involvement, and retaining and preserving the cultural heritage of an 
area. GSP6 accords with GSS Objective 3: to retain the existing number of designated allotment 
sites. As approximately 50% of Headington lies outside the Strategy’s access standard this 
policy seeks to increase the number of sites in Headington and extend existing sites to 
accommodate the demands of an increasing population.12 This also accords with the Asset 

10 http://www.theguardian.com/cities/2015/aug/15/treeconomics-street-trees-cities-sheffield-itree
11 Dept of Environment Feb 1997 PPG 1 para 12: An urban village is characterised by medium density housing; mixed use 
zoning; good public transport; emphasis on green space and pedestrianisation. It is an alternative to urban sprawl and to city 
scale. The aim is to reduce car reliance; provide high level of self containment; facilitate strong community institutions and 
interactions

12 Green Spaces Strategy Appendix 3 sets a standard of 750m walking distance to allotments.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 19137

http://www.theguardian.com/cities/2015/aug/15/treeconomics-street-trees-cities-sheffield-itree


Management Plan which “supports the wider social economic contribution of allotments to 
Oxford and the ongoing commitment to provide 1 plot per 125 head of population.13

AMP1: Protecting and Enhancing Sports, Leisure and Community Facilities

In order to increase accessibility to a wide range of sports and leisure facilities and to make 
Headington a more sustainable place in which to live and work:

1. Existing sports, leisure and community facilities will be protected and opportunities for 
enhancement will be sought. 

2. Planning permission will only be granted for development resulting in the loss of existing 
sports and leisure facilities if alternative facilities can be provided and if no deficiency is 
created in the area. Alternative facilities will be required to be provided within the HNPA and 
as near to the existing facilities as possible.

Policy AMP1 (1) accords with Oxford City's Core Strategy Policy CS 20 Cultural and community 
development which states that “The City Council will seek to protect and enhance existing 
cultural and community facilities. Planning permission will not be granted for development that
results in the loss of such facilities unless equivalent new or improved facilities, where 
foreseeable need justifies this, can be provided at a location equally or more accessible by 
walking, cycling and public transport.” Policy AMP1 (2) accords with Core Strategy Policy C S 21  
which states that “planning permission will only be granted for development resulting in the 
loss of existing sports and leisure facilities if alternative facilities can be provided and if no 
deficiency is created in the area.” 

13  citycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s20196/Appendix 1_ Draft Asset Management Plan Refresh 15102014 City Executive 
Board pdf

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 20138



GREEN SPACES (GS) AND AMENITY (AM) COMMUNITY (C) POLICIES

GSC1: Protecting Green Spaces

In order to conserve and enhance Headington's green spaces:

1. Where appropriate green spaces will be designated to the highest possible level of 
statutory protection to ensure their long term protection.

2. Headington’s Parks will be managed appropriately to  conserve and enhance their 
individual character, wildlife, biodiversity and historic or cultural significance.

3. Opportunities to improve health and well-being and to provide a diverse range of facilities 
will be encouraged.

4. The major institutions in Headington will be encouraged to increase the level of public 
access to their green spaces and to make land available for allotments for the benefit of their 
staff and of Headington residents.

5. Community stewardship of green spaces in Headington will be encouraged.

6. A set of projects identified below, to enhance green spaces and biodiversity will be 
implemented after wider consultation to determine residents' wishes and priorities.

Idea Description
Allotments Bring Ingle Close allotments back into use as allotments are good for biodiversity, 

especially of bees.
Lye Valley 1 Funding for on-going tree and scrub work in Lye valley LNR/SSSI alkaline fen areas to 

restore habitat in conjunction with FoLV volunteers. Will also support  group’s aim of 
wetland flowery ‘B-line’  up and down valley alongside Lye Brook corridor.

Lye Valley 2 Support the ‘Vision for the Valley’ which aims to join up the North and south fens to 
reunite isolated populations.

Lye Valley 3 Encourage the relevant authorities to pipe the open surface water drain  for the length of
the Lye Brook to the junction with Boundary Brook to reduce erosion.

Limestone habitats Support the project of FoLV- ‘Bringing back limestone-loving wild flowers to Headington’. 
Nature Reserves Increasing the floristic biodiversity of the Doris Field Trust Nature Reserve. Use seed for 

hay meadow area from Milham Ford Nature Park down the road.
Church Land Encourage biodiversity in various God’s acres i.e. cemeteries, graveyards of churches and 

chapels etc. Consider turning plain grass areas to Bee Friendly Mown Grass (BFMG) area 
seed mix which allows a short flowering nectar rich sward, maintained by neat close 
mowing to keep site tidy.  Sunny Walls/fences may be suitable for solitary bee nest tins. 

Public Spaces Encourage some ‘bee-friendly mown-grass’ in areas of mown grass.  Increase areas of 
local wild flower hay meadow, especially in parks and around the perimeter of recreation
grounds. Increase the number of pollinator-friendly bushes and herbaceous border 
perennials in formal areas in local parks & other public spaces.

Warren Meadow Enhance the biodiversity of Warren Meadow by sowing wild flowers around the 
perimeter and leaving these areas uncut so as to allow flowering – nectar and pollen for 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 21139



the rare invertebrates of the Lye valley fen.
Bee Nests Construction of Solitary Bee nest Walls with suitable nectar-rich planting.
Churchill Field Increase biodiversity of Churchill field.
Wildlife corridors Enlarge and join together wildlife corridors to provide a continuous corridor  from 

Shotover via the Churchill/golf course and Warneford Meadow to South Park.
Footpaths Encourage green linkage between green spaces for habitat and recreational purposes.
Windmill Road Reinstate the green space (and benches) at the junction of Windmill Road and 

Latimer Road
Landlord-owned 
properties

Landlords would be encouraged to plant pollinator-friendly low-maintenance shrubs, 
hedges & groundcover. Tenants would be encouraged to plant pollinator-friendly 
flowers/shrubs/trees  in tubs and take them along when they move. 

Private gardens Encourage water-infiltration areas & pollinator-friendly plants including on paved areas. 
Wildflower 
Meadows

More wildflower hay meadow areas to Headington Parks. Some areas may be more 
suitable for Bee-friendly Mown Grass (BFMG) than hay meadow as this implies reduced 
on-going maintenance costs.  Possible areas include, for example Margaret Road Rec, the
playing field near the JR, Valentia Road.

AMC1: Enhancing Accessibility to Sports, Leisure and Community Facilities

In order to improve access to sports, leisure and community facilities in Headington the major
commercial, health, educational and religious institutions will be encouraged to provide 
public access to their on-site sports, leisure and community facilities.

Policy AMC1 builds on Core Strategy para 6.4.4 which confirms that there is “a deficiency in 
community-accessible fitness provision, although there is considerable provision in the private 
sector.” This policy seeks to redress this imbalance in fitness/sports facilities through sharing 
and seeks to extend this approach to cover all leisure and community facilities.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 22140



B. Business and Retail (BR)

The Business and Retail Group has been meeting since February 2014 and has carried out a 
number of engagement exercises with local businesses as part of the Draft Neighbourhood Plan
preparation process.

The Group has not produced any specific spatial planning policies, but, through consultation 
with local businesses, has identified a number of policies to help meet the vision and objectives 
of the Draft Neighbourhood Plan. 

BUSINESS AND RETAIL (BR) COMMMUNITY (C) POLICIES

The Business and Retail PWG supports the improvement of traffic flow in Headington to 
enhance the experience of potential customers in the area's main shopping and business area 
on London Road and Windmill Road. To this end it proposes that:

BRC1: Changes to Car Parking Charges

At off-peak times only, the car parks on St Leonard’s Road and Old High Street should provide
free parking for 30 minutes followed by stepped parking charges.

Parking was identified as the most important issue when the Business and Retail PWG met with 
representatives of the Headington business and retail community.  By contrast a poll of Forum 
members, who are not personally engaged in retail business in Headington, showed that the 
top three aspects of the Headington retail offer that they wished to see promoted were:

1. Retention of key local services, e.g. post office, dry cleaners, trades

2. Diversity of shops and businesses

3. Establishment of small business units

Of these, the first two were by far the most popular. Forum members were also asked to 
mention a personal issue. None was the same, but there were several suggestions for specific 
types of retail outlet that the respondents wanted to see in Headington. 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 23141



BRC2: Creating a Headington Business Association

Support the aspiration of members of the Headington retail and business community to 
create an association to act as a forum for: 
1. improving communications between members over issues such as security;

2. managing a website which would showcase the retail and business offer in Headington as 
well as acting as an information point for events, promotions etc. in Headington;

3. discussing and acting on issues of common interest; 

4. developing a code of business practice to apply to Headington businesses and retailers; and

5. joint actions to promote and enhance Headington’s potential as a place to do business. 

Having a local business organisation was also identified by the representatives of the 
Headington business and retail community as an important element of improving Headington. 
It was noted that previous attempts to have a retail association had failed, but that such an 
organization would be a positive step for the area’s business community.

BRC3: Revise Policies on Retail Hierarchy

In accordance with Headington’s status as part of Oxford’s second tier in the retail hierarchy 
of the Local Plan, the Forum, or the Headington Business Association if one is formed, will 
work with Oxford City Council to revise policies on retail hierarchy and shopping frontages in 
the Headington District Centre. It will achieve this by consulting widely with those who live, 
study, work and shop in the District Centre to determine their wishes and priorities.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 24142



C. Character and Identity (CI)

The Character and Identity Group has been working to develop policies which aim to ensure 
that development protects, enhances and promotes the special qualities, character and local 
distinctiveness of Headington in order to help maintain its identity and sense of place.

In developing the Draft Neighbourhood Plan Policies set out below, a Character Assessment 
(see headingtonplan.org.uk) was undertaken by local residents who divided the plan area into 
20 distinct character areas (See map of character areas – headingtonplan.org.uk.).

The Character Assessment has built an understanding of the whole area and, within each of the 
Character Studies, how the character varies from place to place. This has included identifying 
significant features that make the greatest positive contribution towards its special quality. 

These descriptions of local character and design guidance have provided a high level of detail 
for each of the areas concerned. Reference should be made to each of these statements to 
inform the preparation or assessment of proposals for change that would have an impact on 
local character and distinctiveness. Omission of a building, feature or space from these 
character assessments should not be taken to imply it is of no interest. 

By many standards Headington is fortunate, but the preparation of the individual Character 
Assessments brought to light several interlinked matters of concern that are shared throughout
the area.  

Whilst Headington residents are proud of the area’s world-class hospitals and educational 
institutions, the economic and social benefits of even the most prestigious institutions 
inevitably have their downside.  Development in recent decades has brought increased traffic 
to the area: many feel that saturation point is at hand and that this is having an adverse effect 
on Headington’s residential character.  However, proposals to alleviate traffic flow are 
themselves a cause of concern, as verges and other valued landscape features may be 
jeopardised.  (See the 'Access to Headington' proposals released by the County Council in July 
2015, and the revised version released in February 2016).  

Workers commuting into Headington add to the area’s parking problems, as do patients and 
visitors to the hospitals.  Shopkeepers need more customers, but those coming into the area by 
car add to the congestion.  Despite efforts to regulate parking permissions, the sub-division of 
houses into flats and HMOs has added to the tally of residents’ cars.  Converting front gardens 
to parking-spaces, with a consequent loss of old walls, hedges and vegetation is not only 
unsightly but a threat to effective drainage and water management.

Many of the area’s concerns about increasing HMOs relate to poor exterior and garden 
maintenance.  Improperly stowed wheelie bins and litter are another issue in most parts of the 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 25143



suburb. Yet without the conversion of single-family dwellings, commuting and its problems 
would only grow to cope with rising employment levels.  

It is important to remember that the Character Assessments are primarily concerned with visual
character, and the issues identified during the process relate primarily to the built environment.
What has been confirmed is how highly local people value the pleasures of their streets and 
how determined they are to conserve them.

CHARACTER AND IDENTITY (CI) PLANNING (P) POLICIES

CIP1: Development to respect existing local character

New developments (including additions, alterations, change of use and extensions) will only 
be permitted where they respond to and enhance the distinctive local character as identified 
in the Character Assessments. This may include consideration of aspects such as materials, 
scale, siting use, layout, form, design and intensity of activity within the built environment 
and setting of the HNPA. All development proposals must submit a character statement to 
demonstrate how the development proposed will respond to local character.

Design should respond to and enhance the local character of each area. Existing elements such 
as trees, hedges and walls should be retained, particularly where they are important features in
the streetscape or characteristic of the area. Planting and landscaping schemes, boundary 
treatments and surfacing should all be taken into consideration in design of development. The 
layout and design of new streets and associated infrastructure should also respond to local 
character and scale, and proportion of historic street patterns.

CIP2: Protecting locally important views

1. Development will seek to conserve and enhance landmarks and local points of interest in 
the area, and important views within Headington itself, both into and out of the HNPA.

2. Development proposals will also have regard to, and be appropriate in terms of, the visual 
impact on the immediate and wider setting.

Headington is set within a range of views which are valued and cherished by local residents. It is
therefore important that HNF seek to protect these views wherever possible. New 
development, where possible, should maximise opportunities to create new views. Many views 
are identified in the Character Assessments.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 26144



CIP3: Innovative design

High quality development proposals, which are of an innovative and/or contemporary design 
will be permitted where they:

 accord with policies in the Local Plan

 respect and take account of local heritage; and 

 enhance the distinctive identity, character and setting in terms of scale, layout, 
density, orientation and massing.

The Plan encourages high quality development proposals, and we recognise that these types of 
proposals are important in improving the general character of many areas within Headington. 
We therefore are encouraging developers to consider the factors outlined above when 
considering new development within the HNPA.

CIP4: Protecting important assets

Where an asset, as identified in the Oxford Heritage Asset Register, is part of a development 
proposal, that development proposal must address the conservation and enhancement of the 
character, setting and any special architectural or historic features of significance the asset 
may possess.

As part of the Character Assessments a list of important assets was compiled. It is considered 
appropriate that some of these assets will be included in the Oxford Heritage Asset Register in 
due course. Development proposals must address any impact on these assets. The loss or harm 
of important assets identified in this register, their setting or any features important to their 
character would not be expected to be permitted.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 27145



CHARACTER AND IDENTITY (CI) COMMUNITY (C) POLICIES

CIC1: Reinforce the Identity of Headington

A set of projects to reinforce the identity of Headington (examples below) will be identified 
and implemented after wider consultation to determine residents' wishes and priorities. 

Idea Description
Parish status The government is encouraging urban areas to have parish status. This would provide a 

political structure to support and develop Headington. It might provide continuity for the 
Neighbourhood Forum.

Area committee The city council used to have an area committee for the north east of oxford. These were 
discontinued a few years ago and replaced with informal area forums. Is there a case for 
a forum covering Headington, with some formal powers?

Shark symbol The shark has become a powerful symbol of Headington. Should this symbolism be 
extended and strengthened?

Signage style Should a distinctive style for Headington signs (e.g. street name signs) be introduced?
Trails There are a few walking trails around Headington. Should we have more, and with better 

publicity? Is Boundary Brook a candidate?
Cultivated land Some urban areas are making use of small areas of public land to grow vegetables and 

flowers, for public consumption. This idea could be developed in Headington.
Leaflets Would a leaflet (or several) covering features of Headington be of use, to promote the 

area and its facilities? 
Photographic display
of character 

A video or a photo montage of characteristics of Headington, as documented in the 
character assessments, may help to reinforce the character and identity of Headington.

Plaques The Blue Plaque system is well known and respected. Should we have a similar local 
system?

Community asset list Headington, like anywhere else, has a number of buildings and spaces which are 
treasured for heritage, ecological or community value. A list of such assets might help 
preserve and promote them.

Community centre 
and library

The existing community centre is outside the centre. And the library is not central either. 
Would it be better to have a central location, if one can be found?

Art work based on 
health research  
education

The centre of Headington could become a location for displaying works of art and 
culture, with themes of health and education (thus linking to our institutional strengths). 
Plinths, murals, …. 

Cinema A cinema can strengthen the identity of a place. There used to be one in Headington. 
Could one survive now?

Signage to facilities Signage to locations, businesses and facilities might help develop the central area (rather 
like the objectives of the Wayfinding system in central Oxford).

Shop façades Can the shop façades be developed to help promote central Headington as a vibrant 
area?

Seating Is there a need for more seating? Would more seating help develop the area as a 
community location?

Planting Would planting schemes make the area more attractive and welcoming?
Strong  visual impact
- central Headington 

The cross roads Windmill Road, London Road, Old High Street define the centre of 
Headington. This could be made into a point of high visual impact. 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 28146



D. Education (ED)

The aim of the Education Group is to allow the expansion or addition of new facilities within the
general context of local education provision. Changes will be allowed, but the policy only 
encourages provision aimed at education for which at least some part is intended for local 
children. 

EDUCATION (ED) PLANNING (P) POLICIES

EDP1: New Education Provision

Proposals for change of use of non-residential premises to educational premises (D1 Non-
residential institutions) for early-years or 5-19 education provision, for those who live or work
in the HNPA, will be supported, subject to other policies in the Neighbourhood Plan.

This policy encourages provision of education for local children through welcoming changes to 
expand or add new provision to educational facilities within the HNPA. That's not to say that 
international schools, residential schools or education for those over 18 should not be offered, 
or their premises expanded or changed in use in other ways, just that this policy is silent on 
them.

It should be noted that subject to a number of conditions and restrictions, classes S, T and U of 
the 2015 General Permitted Development Order permits the change of use of agricultural, B1 
(business), C1 (hotel), C2 (residential institution), C2A (secure residential institution) and D2 
(assembly and leisure) uses  to use as a state-funded school or a registered nursery, and back 
again (class U) in the case of all but agricultural use.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 29147



E. Housing (HG)

An aim of the Forum is to improve the supply of affordable rented housing in Headington for 
key workers14, and also to reduce commuting into Headington of these key workers, such as 
clinical, education, police, fire service and local authority staff.

While much of the current Oxford City Housing policy adequately addresses housing-related 
concerns raised during the consultation processes, there is an urgent need to review the 
development of housing for key workers.

The very high rents in Oxford make it extremely difficult for key workers to both work in Oxford 
and live near their work. A large number of low-paid key workers are employed within 
Headington, predominantly by the NHS, schools and universities. Also, providing 
accommodation for key workers near their places of work would decrease their need to 
commute into Oxford (see Transport policies).

Under the existing Oxford City Council Housing Policy HP 3 larger development sites15 must 
generally include a minimum of 50% affordable homes of which 80% (of the 50%) must be 
social rented and the remaining 20% intermediate housing.  It therefore follows that key 
worker accommodation could only be provided in larger developments within the open market 
element.  Of course, developers may include key worker homes within the open market 
element and the City Council encourages developers to take this approach16. However, the 
viability of a development is likely to depend on the inclusion of open market dwellings, leaving 
little or no scope for new key worker housing.

After considerable discussion and consultation, the Headington Neighbourhood Forum wished 
to propose a policy that would put a greater emphasis on the development of key worker 
housing by allowing the replacement of some part of the affordable housing element with key 
worker housing.  However, in discussions with the City Planning Department it became clear 
that they would reject any such policy since, in their words, it would “not conform with the 
strategic policies in Oxford’s Local Plan”.

Therefore, reluctantly, the proposed policy is presented below as an aspiration.  It is hoped that
in the development of the next Local Plan the Forum’s views will be manifested in an 
acceptance of the need for key worker housing and a realistic policy to reflect that need.

Note: Local authority and neighbourhood forum housing policies are likely to have to be 
revisited as a consequence of the Housing Bill now proceeding through Parliament.

14 Definition of “key worker” – Sites and Housing Plan 2011-2026, §A2.30
15 Definition of “Large Sites” – – Sites and Housing Plan 2011-2026, Oxford City Housing Policy HP3
16 Key worker homes – – Sites and Housing Plan 2011-2026, §A2.28-31

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 30148



HOUSING (HG) COMMUNITY (C) POLICIES

HGC1: Key Worker Housing

Encourage Oxford City Council to develop key worker housing polices in a future Local Plan.

For example, a policy to allow the affordable element in larger developments on Allocation 
Sites17 SP 8, SP 23 and SP 59 to be replaced by key worker housing.  These sites are the three
major hospital sites in Headington.

HGC2: Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Watch System

Develop a watch system for reporting suspected unlicensed HMOs.

Unlicensed HMOs was an area of concern identified by residents during the Issues and Options 
Consultation. 

HGC3: Planning Watch System

Develop a planning application watch system, based on the City Council’s notification system.

Concern that planning applications were being submitted and determined without knowledge 
and consultation with the local community were expressed during the Issues and Options 
Consultation.

HGC4: Community Land Trust

Encourage Oxford Community Land Trust to become active in Headington.

A community land trust is a nonprofit corporation that develops and stewards affordable 
housing, community gardens, civic buildings, commercial spaces and other community assets 
on behalf of a community.  Encouraging such an organisation within the HNPA could bring 
potential benefits to residents.

HGC5: Empty and Derelict Properties

Identify empty or derelict dwellings or commercial properties which have been empty for 
more than six months for possible housing development.

Bringing derelict and empty homes back into use will help to deal with the local housing 
shortage. The Forum would not want to see the loss of shops or related spaces from being 
available for retail and business purposes, however where these facilities are considered as no 

17 Sites and Housing Plan 2011-2026, Part B: Site Allocation Policies

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 31149



longer being necessary through a viability assessment, they should be considered for residential
development.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 32150



F. Transport (TR)

The aim of the policies produced by the Transport Group is to reduce traffic congestion and its 
associated adverse consequences of air and noise pollution and constraint of economic activity,
by actively encouraging journeys on foot, by bicycle, public transport or shared car scheme 
vehicle.

TRANSPORT (TR) PLANNING (P) POLICIES

TRP1: Parking Provision at major employment sites

Proposals for any additional car parking spaces at major18 employment sites in Headington 
will only be supported if they can demonstrate strong evidence that Headington’s road 
network has adequate unused capacity at peak times. 

Combating congestion requires that employees should reach their workplaces by sustainable 
transport methods – buses, walking or cycling. Headington’s road network is operating at or 
beyond its capacity: the report commissioned by the County Council from WYG showed that in 
2012 the ratio of average annual weekday traffic (AAWT) to congestion reference flow (CRF) 
was 104% in Old Road and 92% in London Road. Adequate unused capacity will be deemed to 
exist if there are no through roads where the ratio of AAWT to CRF exceeds 85%. 

It should be noted that the Forum does not seek to place undue obstacles in the way of the 
important work undertaken at Headington’s main employment sites, and provides for the 
restrictions to be lifted if and when the transport infrastructure can be shown to be adequate. 

TRP2: Parking at Multi-Unit Developments

Proposed developments of more than 10 residential units must reserve at least one parking 
space for a car share vehicle through a subscription or membership to a recognised car-
sharing group (e.g. a car club such as Co-Wheels). Exceptions can be made if there is already 
access to a shared car within 50 metres of the development.

Shared cars reduce the number of parked cars clogging up residential streets, and their 
incorporation into multi-unit developments frees up more space for accommodating people 
rather than cars.

18 An employment site is considered major if it occupies more than 1 hectare.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 33151



Each shared car replaces multiple private cars (some recent estimates of this relationship are 
given in the footnote19). Developments in information technology have removed many of the 
obstacles to car-sharing. The use of shared cars, as well as uncluttering streets, freeing up space
for dwellings and saving money for users, also inhibits car use (because the user pays the 
average cost of each trip, while the car owner only pays the marginal cost – but is saddled with 
large fixed costs of depreciation, insurance and maintenance). 

TRP3: Connectedness

All new developments outside the central Headington area should be connected to the 
central area and to the Headington hospitals, university campuses and other major 
institutions by easy, direct routes for both walking and cycling. Proposed developments 
should consider provision of connecting alleyways or other pedestrian and cycle routes with 
adjacent streets or other sites.  These routes should be made Public Rights of Way where 
practicable in accordance with the Oxford Local Plan.

Headington has a network of alleyways and connecting paths that enable walking routes to be 
planned that may be shorter than routes on road, and are quieter and safe from traffic.  New 
developments, whether inside or adjacent to the Headington area, should be connected to this 
network, and the network should be extended whenever possible, to encourage active, 
sustainable transport.  The County Council has produced a map of walking routes in Headington
to encourage this, and Oxford Pedestrians Association is currently working with Oxford Brookes
University to extend this map to the whole City, and to enable it to be updated as new 
connections are made.

19Footnote: Some recent estimates of the number of private cars removed by each shared car: 

5.8 (Carplus annual survey, London, 2013/14)
8.6 (Carplus annual survey, London 2014/15)
6-10 (Carsharing:  Evolution,  Challenges and Opportunities,  report  commissioned by European Car Manufacturers’

Association from Imperial College, London, Sept 2014)
9-13 (Impact of carsharing on Household Vehicle Ownership, Martin and Shaheen, USA 2008)
13 (City of Sydney, Benefit-Cost Analysis of Car-share, 2012)

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 34152



TRP4: Travel Plans

1.    All new business developments, and all new multi-unit developments20 must develop and 
periodically update travel plans or travel plan statements21 showing how employees and/or 
residents may minimise car usage. 

2.    All single-unit development should state, in the design and access statement, whether 
car-free alternatives have been considered and, if parking provision is to be made, why the 
car-free alternative has been rejected.

It is well recognised that travel habits are established early.  This Policy aims to ensure that 
people are made aware of options for (and benefits of) ‘active transport’ as soon as they locate 
to new premises as residents or employees.  Travel plans should be provided for both small and
large developments along with information on the health benefits of alternative transport to 
encourage people to adopt healthy (and sustainable) transport habits. HNF, or its successor 
body, will monitor whether these travel plans are appropriately updated.

TRP5: Provision for people with disabilities to use active forms of transport

All new developments should include active transport provision for people with disabilities22,  
to make journeys easy by active means.

It is important that there should be no barriers to people with disabilities using active forms 
(such as wheelchairs and mobility scooters) of transport; otherwise car use can become the 
norm. Solutions could involve level access within the site (as already required under the Local 
Plan), but also good, level connections to routes that enable employees or residents to reach 
central Headington, the Headington hospitals, and other major institutions.

TRP6: Promotion of Cycling and Walking

In employment developments, the quantity of cycle spaces should be based on the travel 
plan, with an allowance for a doubling of the mode share of cycling.

The Headington Neighbourhood Plan recognizes that active steps need to be taken to 
encourage alternative, non-congesting and non-polluting ways of traveling. Policy TRP6 aims to 
ensure that any new employment development plays its part in this objective, and that through

20Single-unit dwellings are attached/detached units on individual freehold titles, where as multi-unit dwellings are subject to 
leasehold titles.
21The cut-off between developments requiring travel plans and those requiring travel plan statements is as defined in OCC's 
document “Transport for New Developments: Transport Assessments and Travel Plans.”
22Including wheelchair users and those with other forms of disability.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 35153



continuous improvements in conditions for pedestrians and cyclists a network of safe and 
pleasant walking and cycling routes can be created.

Any planning application should identify the route(s) which employees and visitors choosing to 
walk or cycle can be expected to use to connect with the nearest designated cycle route or 
public transport, and priority shall be given to using any funds which can be made available 
through CIL or otherwise to bring such routes up to best-practice standard (for example, but 
not exclusively, by removal of barriers, removal or relocation of street furniture, segregation of 
cycle and pedestrian paths, levelling and regrading of paths, etc.)

TRANSPORT (TR) COMMUNITY (C) POLICIES

'Connecting Oxfordshire' is Oxfordshire County Council's new Local Transport Plan (LTP4). This 
Plan sets out the Council's policy and strategy for developing the transport system in 
Oxfordshire to 2031.

The Transport PWG supports the overarching transport goals as set out in 'Connecting 
Oxfordshire'. The Forum will seek to deliver the proposed actions as set out within TRC1 below 
with support from Oxfordshire County Council and Oxford City Council as appropriate.

Most of these proposed actions have been raised by the Headington community as important 
issues during both the Issues and Options Consultation (2014) and the Draft Plan Consultation 
(2015).

In 2016 Oxfordshire County Council published a revised 'Access to Headington' which sets out 
plans to reshape transport across the Headington area. We heartily endorse the principles 
underlying the Local Transport Plan, and in particular its view that “the location, layout and 
design of new developments should minimise the need for travel”, as well as its focus on 
walking and cycling. However, we note with come concern that the introduction to the 'Access 
to Headington' proposals has a first objective to “support jobs growth in health, innovation and 
education” without taking note of the imbalance between employment and residence in 
Headington which underlies the high volumes of commuter traffic. Reducing the need for travel
requires concerted action by both responsible councils to address this imbalance, and 
particularly by promoting key worker housing.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 36154



TRC1: Promoting Safety and Active Transport

A set of projects to promote safety and active transport in Headington (examples below) will 
be identified and implemented after wider consultation to determine residents' wishes and 
priorities.

Idea Description

Car Sharing Vehicles which are part of a car club sharing scheme will be exempt from all car parking 
charges.

Cycle Lanes Cycle lanes should be upgraded to mandatory where possible, and improvements should be 
made to continuity, the clarity of signage, (especially when they meet bus-stops and side 
roads), and their maintenance and demarcation. 

Active Transport Information on options for active transport, and on the health benefits of walking and 
cycling should be provided by employers, developers and landlords, as well as through 
schools, libraries and GP practices.

Speed Limits A universal 20 mph speed limit throughout Headington should be introduced.

Road Maintenance Timely and thorough road and pavement maintenance, particularly on through routes 
should be carried out to improve their quality. 

Pavements and 
Drainage

Pavements should be maintained to ensure that they are even, level and unobstructed. The 
drainage of roads should be improved so that pedestrians are not soaked by passing 
vehicles.

Bus Connections Better orbital bus connectivity between Headington and other parts of Oxford such as 
Summertown and Cowley should be developed. 

Rapid Transit Buses As and when new rapid transit buses are introduced, they should not add to the total 
amount of vehicle traffic along the London Road.

Congestion Charge Full consideration should be given to the costs and benefits of a congestion charge for 
Oxford as a whole.

School Transport Schools and parents to be encouraged to try alternatives to car transport on the ‘school run’.

Employer Parking Where employers provide parking, they should be encouraged to charge on a per-use basis, 
rather than through subscription fees payable whether or not the parking space is used.

Improving Air 
Quality

We will seek to support projects to reduce air pollution, specifically focusing on NOx and 
particulates. 

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 37155



G. The Future (F)

FUTURE (F) COMMUNITY (C) POLICIES

FC1 Successor Body

The Neighbourhood Forum will plan and implement arrangements to create a successor body 
to oversee the implementation of the plan throughout the plan period.

The vision and aims of the Plan will be achieved through a range of policies and projects. To 
secure the effective implementation of policies and projects following the Referendum will 
require that a successor body to the Forum is put in place at that stage. Such a body would 
monitor the implementation of the planning policies. It would also initiate and manage the 
implementation of the community policies and projects by working with the local authorities 
and other stakeholders and the Headington community. 

As the Plan is a living document there will be the need to regularly consult local people on 
implementation issues such as the development of new projects. There is a range of options for
the form of the successor body, for example a charitable body such as a community trust, or a 
statutory body such as a community council similar to a parish council.

HNF has agreed to set up a working group to research and progress the development of a 
successor body.

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 38156



ANNEX 1 - Headington Neighbourhood Forum and Plan Structure

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 39

AIMS/OBJECTIVES

POLICIES

POLICY WORKING
GROUPS

STEERING
COMMITTEE

VISION

NEIGHBOURHOOD
FORUM

ACTION PLANS 

(PROJECTS)

157



ANNEX 2 - Headington Neighbourhood Plan Process

HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM – DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 40

CREATION OF INTERIM FORUM (2013)

DESIGNATION OF AREA AND FORUM (2014)

ISSUES AND OPTIONS CONSULTATION (2014)

PUBLICATION OF DRAFT PLAN (2015)

PLANNING INSPECTOR REVIEW (2016)

PUBLICATION OF FINAL PLAN (2017)

REFERENDUM ON FINAL PLAN (2017)

OXFORD CITY COUNCIL CONSULTATION ON DRAFT
PLAN (2016)

158



APPENDIX A
HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN – INVENTORY OF GREEN SPACES  v4

CATEGORY SITE GRID REF1 PUBLIC
ACCESS2

Public Parks Bury Knowle SP 547 073 

Headington Hill SP 530 064 

Playing Fields Barton Road SP 551 074 
Margaret Road SP 551 069 
Sandfield Road SP 536 075 
Valentia Road SP 540 065 

Play Areas Girdlestone Road Junction SP 5490 0612 
Girdlestone Road North SP 5473 0615 
Margaret Road SP 5525 0691 
Quarry Hollow SP 5535 0689 
Valentia Road SP 540 065 

Town Greens Warneford Meadow SP 540 058 
Warneford Orchard SP 539 059 

Allotments Eden Drive (part of) SP 5369 0772 
Ingle Close SP 5392 0787 
Pullens Lane SP 532 067 
Ramsay Road SP 552 070 
Town Furze SP 5485 0608 

Green Spaces Girdlestone Road South SP 5469 0606 
Holy Trinity Church Glebe SP 554 068
Mattock Close SP 5464 0661 
Ruskin Fields SP 544 0800
The Grange, Barton Lane SP 547 077
Warren Meadow SP 548 059 
Field next to Magdalen 
Quarry

SP 551 071 

Woods east of John Garne
Way allotments

SP 5319 0693

Green Footpaths 
(examples)

Cuckoo Lane SP 5378 0697 -
SP 5287 0669



Holy Trinity Church Path SP 5531 0677 - 
SP 5539 0683



Stoke Place SP 5438 0784 -
SP 5447 0801



1 6 digit reference used for larger sites. 8 digit reference used for smaller sites. Two references given where 
site is a path or similar.
2 Accessible to the public as of 23/05/2016

1159



Educational 
Institutions’ Open 
Spaces

Brookes Headington Hill 
Campus

SP 532 066

Brookes Gipsy Lane 
Campus

SP 5370 0659

Cheney School SP 535 061

EF SP 535 069
Headington School Junior SP 540 068
Headington School Senior SP 536 068
London Road Reservoir SP 533 064
Osler (or Manor) House SP 5420 0739
Rye St Antony SP 5355 0700
St Andrews School SP 5480 0712
Windmill School SP 548 069

Wildlife Sites Doris Field Memorial Park SP 531 076 

Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest

Lye Valley SP 547 058 

Magdalen Quarry SP 552 070 
Rock Edge SP 550 064 

Local Wildlife 
Sites and Nature 
Reserves

Boundary Brook SP 5411 0637 -
SP 5462 0544



Churchill Meadow SP 545 055 
Lye Valley SP 5494 0608 -

SP 5462 0544


Magdalen Quarry Reserve SP 552 070 
Rock Edge SP 550 064 

Wildlife Corridors Boundary Brook SP 5411 0637 -
SP 5462 0544



Old Road South SP 5391 0628 -
SP 5433 0636



Churches, 
Graveyards, 
Cemeteries

All Saints’ Church SP 5442 0669 

Cornerstone Church SP 5534 0696 
Headington Cemetery SP 539 078 
Holy Trinity Church SP 5545 0686 
St Andrew’s Church SP 5446 0763 

Hospitals 
Churchill Hospital Green 
Space

SP 544 058

John Radcliffe Hospital 
Playing Field

SP 542 073

John Radcliffe
Hospital Green Spaces 
(many)

SP 5408 0723
SP 5413 0724
et al

Warneford Hospital SP 539 060

2160



Playing Fields

On Street Trees 
(examples)

Headley Way SP 5354 0748 -
SP 5394 0682



London Road SP 5540 0741 -
SP 5395 0681



St. Anne’s Road SP 5493 0665 
Green Road (west) SP 5575 0758 
Gathorne Road SP 5488 0660 
Stapleton Road SP 5435 0652 
Woodlands Road SP 5392 0706 
Stephen Road SP 5444 0719 
Bickerton Road SP 5427 0652 
Massey Close SP 5456 0608 
Osler Road SP 5429 0739 
Warneford Lane SP 5362 0606 -

SP 5390 0629


Grass Verges 
(examples)

Barton Lane SP 547 076 

Old Road SP 5489 0635 - 
SP 5449 0635



Massey Close SP 5456 0608 
Green Road (west) SP 5575 0758 
Woodlands Road SP 5392 0706 
Headley Way SP 5354 0748 -

SP 5394 0682


Osler Road SP 5429 0739 
Warneford Lane SP 5362 0606 -

SP 5390 0629


Miscellaneous 
Small Green 
Spaces

Quarry Hollow SP 5535 0689 

Norton Close SP 5460 0681 
Warneford Lane/Morrell 
Ave. Roundabout

SP 5362 0606 

London Road/Valentia 
Road 

SP 5382 0673 

Old Headington Chapel SP 5447 0751 
The Croft/Old High Street SP 5453 0738 
Wooded lane joining 
Staunton & Sandfield 
roads

SP 5386 0731 

Stonor Place/
Cardwell Crescent (x2)

SP 5396 0659
SP 5395 0657



Cardwell Crescent SP 5393 0659 
Girdlestone Road/
Flexney Place

SP 5462 0618 

Girdlestone Road/
Everard Close

SP 5456 0617 

Churchill Drive/
Everard Close

SP 5451 0618 

3161



Goslyn Close/ Churchill 
Drive

SP 5451 0613 

Goslyn Close/ Girdlestone 
Road (hedge)

SP 5433 0624 

Barton Lane/Northern By-
Pass (x2)

SP 5507 0773
SP 5490 0777



Osler Road/St Andrew’s 
Road

SP 5437 0758 

4162



HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN  APPENDIX B   

Biodiversity Enhancement Plan Template

Aims

The aim of the Biodiversity Enhancement Plan (BEP) is to mitigate the impact of the 
development on the biodiversity of the site and to achieve an overall enhancement of
the biodiversity of the site when the development has been completed.

What is in a BEP

The BEP will set out: 

1. An assessment of the biodiversity of the site and the immediate surroundings.

2. Having regard to the assessment, measures to: 

(a) Protect and retain existing features which contribute to the biodiversity of the site 
(b) Enhance biodiversity through appropriate planting and other means.

3. Arrangements to monitor maintain and where necessary renew and replace the 
measures in 2(a) and 2(b) above in the medium and long term. 

Planting and other measures (2b above)

Planting schemes1 should be bee- and pollinator-friendly, selection made on the 
basis of plants’ pollen, nectar and/or berries for birds. Trees, shrubs and flowering 
plants including climbers, ornamental hedges, ground cover plants and contents of 
tubs/planters should all be chosen with this in mind.
Other options to enhance biodiversity include water infiltration rain gardens, bee- 
friendly grassland and Solitary Bee nest walls. 
Green roofs are encouraged.
Efforts to maximize ground porosity and rainwater infiltration will be encouraged.
Bat and bird boxes are not acceptable

1 Many websites advise including:
http://www.ceh.ac.uk/sites/default/files/Habitat%20Management%20and
%20Creation%20For%20Pollinators.pdf 

Specific simple help sheets available from:
 http://judithwebb.weebly.com/pollinators.html .   Especially relevant are: border 
perennials, ornamental climbers, border shrubs, ground cover plants, trees and tubs 
and planters.  

1163

http://www.ceh.ac.uk/sites/default/files/Habitat%20Management%20and%20Creation%20For%20Pollinators.pdf
http://www.ceh.ac.uk/sites/default/files/Habitat%20Management%20and%20Creation%20For%20Pollinators.pdf
http://judithwebb.weebly.com/pollinators.html


This page is intentionally left blank



 

HEADINGTON
NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUM

(headingtonplan.org.uk)

MAP and BASIC
CONDITIONS
STATEMENT

FOR OXFORD CITY COUNCIL 

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

165



DOCUMENT CONTROL SHEET

HNF Document Control Sheet

Document Title HNP Basic Conditions Statement

Draft Number v.4

Task Group and Authors Project Manager

Date of Version 8. June 2016

Status Final Draft

Date of Public Issue

Visibility For Oxford City Council official Consultation 

File Type PDF

File Name HNP Basic Conditions Statement

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

166



CONTENT

1. Introduction
2. Basic Conditions 
3. National Policies and Advice
4. Contribution to the Achievement of Sustainable Development 
5. General Conformity with the Strategic Policies of the Development Plan for the Area
6. EU Obligations
7. Conclusion 

Supporting Documents

Annex A – Screening Statement on the determination of a need for an SEA

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

167



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1      This Basic Conditions Statement has been prepared by Symons Consulting as part of its work
on the Headington Neighbourhood Plan (HNP) on behalf of Headington Neighbourhood Forum 
(HNF).  The Headington Neighbourhood Plan Area  (HNPA) has been designated a qualifying area 
and HNF has been designated as a neighbourhood planning body. 

1.2       HNF has developed a vision for the Plan, which is as follows:

“Headington Neighbourhood Plan celebrates the diversity and identity of Headington. 
Working with our partners and neighbours, we plan to balance the opportunities in 
Headington in order to provide a healthy, positive and vibrant environment for people to 
live, work and study in.”

1.3     The Steering Committee has developed three Objectives for the Plan:

The Plan has three overarching objectives which guide policy making throughout the 
Neighbourhood Plan process. These are:

Improving the quality of life for residents, workers and students.

Establishing and promoting an identity which embraces the diverse nature of Headington.

Fostering beneficial development.

1.4      The Vision and Objectives seek to meet the aims of the National Planning and Policy 
Framework (NPPF), and the Oxford City Council Core Strategy, while providing local distinctiveness 
to the Headington Neighbourhood Planning Area (HNPA).

1.5      The map below indicates the area which is covered by the Plan. This area was designated as 
the HNPA by Oxford City Council on the 23rd April 2014.

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

168



2. BASIC CONDITIONS

2.1   Paragraph 8 of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
[excluding 2b, c, 3 to 5 as required by 38C(5)] sets out that Neighbourhood Development Plans 
(NDP) must meet the following basic conditions:  

7. Neighbourhood Development Plans must meet the following basic conditions.  
(1) The examiner must consider the following — (a) whether the draft neighbourhood 
development plan meets the basic conditions (see sub-paragraph (2)), (b) whether the draft
neighbourhood development plan complies with the provision made by or under sections 
61E(2), 61J and 61L, (d) whether the area for any referendum should extend beyond the 
neighbourhood area to which the draft neighbourhood development plan relates, and (e) 
such other matters as may be prescribed.  

(2) A draft neighbourhood development plan meets the basic conditions if— (a) having 
regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of 
State, it is appropriate to make the neighbourhood development plan, (d) the making of the
neighbourhood development plan contributes to the achievement of sustainable 
development, (e) the making of the neighbourhood development plan is in general 
conformity with the strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area of the 
authority (or any part of that area), (f) the making of the neighbourhood development plan 
does not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, EU obligations, and (g) prescribed 
conditions are met in relation to the neighbourhood development plan and prescribed 
matters have been complied with in connection with the proposal for the neighbourhood 
development plan.  

(6) The examiner is not to consider any matter that does not fall within sub-paragraph (1) 
(apart from considering whether the draft neighbourhood development plan is compatible 
with the Convention rights).  

2.2   Whether the draft Neighbourhood Development Plan meets the basic conditions as required 
by 1(a) and sub-paragraph 2 is set out in Sections 3 – 7 of this Basic Conditions Statement.  The 
remainder of this Section 2 addresses the requirements under paragraphs 1(b), 1(d), and 1(e). 

2.3   Paragraph 1 (b) -  The provision of 61E(2), 61J and 61L as amended by s38C(5)(b) is a 
reference to the provision of 38A and 38B.  In relation to the provisions of 38 A and 38B the 
following is submitted: 

38A 1) Headington Neighbourhood Forum is a designated body and entitled to submit a 
Neighbourhood Plan (NP) for the aforementioned designated Headington Neighbourhood 
Plan Area. 

2) The HNP expresses policies relating to the development and use of land within the 
neighbourhood area. 3) to 12) are essentially post examination procedures. 

38B 1) a) The period of the HNP is up to 2032 or 15 years.  

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

169



b) The HNP does not include any provision for excluded development such as national 
infrastructure. 

c) The HNP does not relate to more than one neighbourhood area.  It relates to the 
Headington Neighbourhood Plan Area as designated by Oxford City Council on 23rd April 
2014.

2) There is no other NP in place in this neighbourhood area. 

3) Refers to conflicts within the NP. 

4) Refers to regulations that the Secretary of State (SoS) may make relating to NPs. Such 
regulations are 2012 No 637 The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 
which have been used to inform the process of making the HNP. These regulations set out 
the process by which neighbourhood plans are to be made and set out:

 the consultation bodies for NPs. These have been included in the Consultation 
Statement. 

 that NPs which are likely to have a significant effect on European Sites (habitats) 
must be subject to an appropriate assessment.  The screening exercise for the HNP 
concluded that there are no European Sites that would be affected by the proposals 
within the HNPA, and it was agreed that an Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) 
was not necessary.   

 that the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) screening exercise for the HNP 
concluded that HNP will not have any significant impacts on the environment.

5) Refers to the publication of NPs.

6) Clarifies what is excluded development  

2.4    Paragraph 1(d) - It is not considered that there is any benefit in extending the area for the 
referendum beyond the Designated Neighbourhood Plan Area.   

2.5     Paragraph 1(e) - There are no other prescribed matters. 

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

170



3. NATIONAL POLICIES AND ADVICE

3.1     The NPPF in sections 183 - 185 refers to Neighbourhood Plans (rather that NDPs as in the 
Basic Conditions as outlined in the legislation) and seeks that those plans have regard to the 
policies in the NPPF and to be in ‘general conformity’ with the Strategic Policies of the Local Plan. 

3.2     This section demonstrates that the HNP has regard to relevant policies within the NPPF in 
relation to: 

◦ Building a strong, competitive economy 
◦ Ensuring the vitality of town centres 
◦ Promoting sustainable transport 
◦ Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
◦ Requiring good design 
◦ Promoting healthy communities 
◦ Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
◦ Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
◦ Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Building a strong, competitive economy AND Ensuring the vitality of town centres

3.3     The NPPF states in paragraph 21 that ‘Planning should operate to encourage and not act as 
an impediment to sustainable growth….. Planning policies should recognise and seek to address 
potential barriers to investment, including a poor environment or any lack of infrastructure, 
services or housing.  In drawing up Local Plans, local planning authorities should: 

 identify strategic sites … to meet anticipated needs over the plan period; 
 support existing business sectors; 
 identify priority areas for economic regeneration, infrastructure provision and 

environmental enhancement; and 
 facilitate flexible working practices such as the integration of residential and commercial 

uses in the same unit.

3.4     The NPPF also states in paragraph 23 that: ‘Planning policies should be positive, promote 
competitive town centre environments and set out policies for the management and growth of 
centres over the plan period.’  The NPPF goes on to set out the issues that Local Authorities should 
consider in drawing up Local Plans, and those of particular relevance to Headington are: 

◦ recognise town centres as the heart of their communities and pursue policies to support 
their viability and vitality;  and

◦ promote competitive town centres that provide customer choice and a diverse retail offer 
and which reflect the individuality of town centres. 

3.5   The HNP has not identified any strategic sites, but sets out the following policies that aim to 
build a strong, competitive economy and ensure the vitality of Headington District Centre: BRC1 – 
Changes to Car Parking Charges, BRC2 – Creating a Headington Business Association, and BRC3 – 
Revise Policies on Retail Heirarchy

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

171



3.6    These policies meet the NPPF’s aims by: supporting the wishes of the retail sector and 
businesses in Headington, encouraging the use of Headington District Centre and providing an 
opportunity for increasing business diversity within this District Centre.

Promoting sustainable transport 

3.7     The NPPF states in paragraph 29 that: ‘The transport system needs to be balanced in favour 
of sustainable transport modes, giving people a real choice about how they travel.  In preparing 
Local Plans, local planning authorities should therefore support a pattern of development which, 
where reasonable to do so, facilitates the use of sustainable modes of transport.’

3.8     The NPPF goes on to state in paragraph 35: ‘Plans should protect and exploit opportunities 
for the use of sustainable transport modes for the movement of goods or people.’  The NPPF 
advises that, where practical, development should be located and designed to take a number of 
issues into account, including:  

◦ accommodating the efficient delivery of goods and supplies; 
◦ giving priority to pedestrian and cycle movements, and have access to high quality public 

transport facilities; and 
◦ creating safe and secure layouts which minimise conflicts between traffic and cyclists or 

pedestrians, avoiding street clutter and where appropriate establishing home zones. 

3.9     The NPPF also notes in paragraph 37 that ‘Planning policies should aim for a balance of land 
uses within their area so that people can be encouraged to minimise journey lengths for 
employment, shopping, leisure, education and other activities.’ 

3.10     The HNP sets out a series of planning and community policies which seek to meet the 
requirments of the NPPF as follows: TRP1 – Parking Provision at major employment sites, TRP2 – 
Parking at Multi-unit developments, TRP3 – Connectedness, TRP4 – Travel Plans, TRP5 – Provision 
for people with disabilities to use active forms of transport, TRP6 – Promotion of cycling and 
walking, and TRC1 – Promoting Safety and Active Transport. 

3.11    Theses policies meet the NPPF's aims by ensuring that transport options where new 
developments are planned are sustainable, appropriately scaled for the capacity of surrounding 
infrastructure, and connect with current transport infrastructure within Oxford. These policies give 
priority to pedestrian and cycle movements, and promote safe and secure options for active 
transport.

Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 

3.12    The NPPF sets out requirements in paragraph 47 for local planning authorities to 
significantly boost the supply of housing.  This includes:

 identifying a supply of specific, developable sites or broad locations for growth for years 6-
10 and, where possible, for years 11-15.  To be considered developable, sites should be in a 
location suitable for housing development and there should be a reasonable prospect that 

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

172



the site is available and could be viably developed at the point envisaged; and 
 setting out the local authority’s own approach to housing density to reflect local 

circumstances. 

3.13    Given the urban and constrained nature of the HNPA, the HNP has not identified any 
additional sites to that allocated within Oxford City Council's Core Strategy. 

3.14    The HNP has identified a number of community policies which support the aims of the NPPF
and seek to boost the availability of properties within the HNPA for all residents: HGC1 – Key 
Worker Housing, HGC2 – Houses in Multiple Occupation Watch System, HGC4 – Community Land 
Trust, and HGC5 – Empty and Derelict Properties. 

Requiring good design 

3.15     The NPPF attaches great importance to the design of the built environment and states in 
paragraph 56 that: ‘Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from 
good planning and should contribute positively to making places better for people.’

3.16     The NPPF goes on to state in paragraph 58: ‘Local and neighbourhood plans should develop 
robust and comprehensive policies that set out the quality of development that will be expected 
for the area. Such policies should be based on stated objectives for the future of the area and an 
understanding and evaluation of its defining characteristics. Planning policies and decisions should 
aim to ensure that developments: 

 will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but 
over the lifetime of the development; 

 establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive and 
comfortable places to live, work and visit;  

 optimise the potential of the site to accommodate development, create and sustain an 
appropriate mix of uses (including incorporation of green and other public space as part of 
developments) and support local facilities and transport networks; 

 respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and 
materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation;  

 create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, 
do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion; and 

 are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate landscaping.’ 

3.17     The NPPF is clear that design policies should avoid unnecessary prescription or detail.  The 
NPPF states in paragraph 60 that: ‘Planning policies and decisions should not attempt to impose 
architectural styles or particular tastes and they should not stifle innovation, originality or initiative
through unsubstantiated requirements to conform to certain development forms or styles. It is, 
however, proper to seek to promote or reinforce local distinctiveness.’ 

3.18     Therefore the HNP has responded to the community's wishes, by emphasising the need for 
new development to respond to the local character of the HNPA's built and natural environment.  
The policies that seek to secure good design are:  GSP5 – Protection of the green setting, CIP1 – 

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

173



Development to respect existing local character, CIP2 – Protecting locally important views, CIP3 – 
Innovative design, CIP4 – Protecting important assets, and CIC1 – Reinforce the Identity of 
Headington.

3.19      The HNP has therefore had regard to the NPPF in setting out clear, comprehensive design 
policies that seek to reinforce local distinctiveness whilst also providing developers and their 
design teams with the freedom to pursue innovative approaches.

Promoting healthy communities

3.20     The NPPF recognises in paragraph 69 that creating a shared vision with communities of the 
residential environment and facilities they wish to see in their town is important, and encourages 
local authorities to involve all sections of the community in the development of Local Plans.  The 
process of producing the HNP has involved extensive consultation and engagement with local 
people, and this is recorded in the Consultant Statment and supporting documents. As set out in 
Section 1.3 above, one of the objectives of the HNP is “Improving the quality of life for residents, 
workers and students.” 

3.21     The NPPF provides policy in relation to three key types of community facility:

 community facilities such as meeting places, sports venues and places of worship 
 schools; and 
 open space. 

3.22      Community facilities: The NPPF sets out in paragraph 70 that planning policies should: 

 plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community facilities (such as local
shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public houses and places of 
worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities and 
residential environments; 

 guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, particularly where this 
would reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs; 

 ensure that established shops, facilities and services are able to develop and modernise in a
way that is sustainable, and be retained for the benefit of the community; and 

 ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses and 
community facilities and services. 

3.23      For community facilities such as meeting places, sports venues and places of worship the 
HNP sets out these policies which meet the aims of the NPPF:  AMP1 – Protecting and enhancing 
sports, leaisure and community facilities, and AMC1 – Enhancing accessibility to  sports, leaisure 
and community facilities.

3.24      For schools: The NPPF states that local planning authorities should ‘give great weight to the
need to create, expand or alter schools’ to ensure that a sufficient choice of school places is 
available to meet the needs of existing and new communities.

3.25     The HNP has had regard to likely demand for school places arising from new development 

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

174



as guided by Oxfordshire County Council.  Policy EDP1 – New Education Provision, supports change 
of use applications from non-residential premises to education premises.

3.26      For Open space:  The NPPF states that: ‘Access to high quality open spaces and 
opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health and well-
being of communities.’  It goes on to state: ‘Planning policies should be based on robust and up-to-
date assessments of the needs for open space, sports and recreation facilities and opportunities 
for new provision.… Information gained from the assessments should be used to determine what 
open space, sports and recreational provision is required.’ 

3.27      The NPPF is clear in its protection of existing open space, where it states: ‘Existing open 
space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built on 
unless: 

◦ an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, buildings 
or land to be surplus to requirements; or 

◦ the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or 

◦ the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for 
which clearly outweigh the loss.’ 

3.28      The  HNP, in line with the NPPF policies, has sought to protect the open spaces within the 
HNPA through the following policies: GSP1 – Conserving and enhancing Public Access Green Space,
GSP2 – Provision of Green Space within developments,  GSP6 – Provision of allotment land,  AMP1 
– Protecting and enhancing sports, leaisure and community facilities, and AMC1 – Enhancing 
accessibility to  sports, leaisure and community facilities.

Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change

3.29     The NPPF sets out in paragraph 95 that, to support the move to a low carbon future, local 
planning authorities should:

◦ ‘plan for new development in locations and ways which reduce greenhouse gas emissions;  
◦ actively support energy efficiency improvements to existing buildings; and 
◦ when setting any local requirement for a building’s sustainability, do so in a way consistent 

with the Government’s zero carbon buildings policy and adopt nationally described 
standards.’ 

3.30     As set out in paragraph 3.10 above, in relation to planning for new development the HNP 
has had regard to the need for sustainable transport, thus reducing greenhouse gas emissions 
associated with travel to and from new development. 

3.31     In relation to energy efficiency and building sustainability, HNP has not sought to duplicate 
what is already in the Oxford City Council Core Strategy.
 
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

175



3.32     The NPPF states in paragraph 109 that the planning system should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by a range of means, including: 

◦ ‘protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, geological conservation interests and 
soils; 

◦ recognising the wider benefits of ecosystem services; and 
◦ minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where 

possible, contributing to the Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline in 
biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more 
resilient to current and future pressures.’

3.33      the HNP includes the following policies that seek to conserve and enhance the natural 
environment:  GSP3 – Conserving and enhancing biodiversity, GSP4 – Protecting tree cover, and 
GSP5 – Protection of the green setting. 

Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

3.34      The NPPF sets out in paragraph 126 that: ‘Local planning authorities should set out in their 
Local Plan a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment…… In
doing so, they should recognise that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and conserve 
them in a manner appropriate to their significance. In developing this strategy, local planning 
authorities should take into account:

 the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting 
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 

 the wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits that conservation of the 
historic environment can bring; 

 the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness; and 

 opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic environment to the 
character of a place.’ 

3.35       There has been considerable community input into developing and delivering Character 
Assessments to cover the whole of HNPA. The HNP has developed the following policy in order to 
conserve and enhance the historic environment: CIP4 – Protecting Important Assets.

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

176



4. CONTRIBUTION TO THE ACHIEVEMENT OF SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

4.1      The NPPF states in paragraph 14 that a presumption in favour of sustainable development is 
at the heart of the NPPF and ‘should be seen as a golden thread running through both plan-making
and decision-taking.’ 

4.2      Throughout the plan-making process of the HNP, as identified by one of the Plan's 
objectives, Fostering beneficial development, the principles of sustainable development have been
considered.   An 'Assessment of Sustainability' of the HNP has been initiated in order to consider 
the impact of the HNP in relation to sustainable development, although the screening opinion of 
Oxford City Council was that the HNP does not require a Strategic Environmental Assessment.

4.3      The HNP contributes to the achievement of sustainable development by: 

 promoting sustainable transport options throughout the HNPA (Policies TRP1-6 and TRC1);
 provision of appropriate green spaces to improve the quality of life for Headington 

residents (Policies GSP1, 2, 6, and GSC1); and
 protecting and enhancing the natural, built and historic environment of Headington by: 

enhancing and conserving biodiversity, and protecting tree cover (Policies GSP3-4 and 
GSC1);

 encouraging high quality development that responds to the distinctive character of 
Headington (Policies CIP1, 3 and CIC1); and 

 protecting the HNPA's important historic assets (Policy CIP4).

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

177



5. GENERAL CONFORMITY WITH THE STRATEGIC POLICIES OF THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR THE 
AREA

5.1      The HNP has been prepared taking full account of Oxford City Council's Core Strategy, which 
was formally adopted in 2011.  As such the HNP has had regard to the strategic policies in the Core 
Strategy, ensuring that there is general conformity with it.

5.2      The strategic policies (they have been abbreviated for ease of presentation) particularly 
relevant to the HNP are: 

Policy CS1 – Hierarchy of Centres – identifies Headington as a District Centre suitable for retail, 
leisure, employment and other uses serving district-level needs.

Policy CS12 – Biodiversity - Development will not be permitted that results in a net loss of sites and
species of ecological value. Where there is opportunity, development will be expected to enhance 
Oxford’s biodiversity.

Policy CS13 – Supporting access to new development - Planning permission will only be granted for
development that prioritises access by walking, cycling and public transport.

Policy CS14 – Supporting city-wide movement - The City Council will work with its partners to 
improve the ease and quality of access to and between the city and district centres, and other key 
destinations.

Policy CS16 – Access to education - The City Council will work with the County Council and other 
agencies to improve access to all levels of education, through new or improved facilities, 
throughout Oxford, but particularly in areas of population growth.

Policy CS18 - Urban design, townscape character and the historic environment -  Planning 
permission will only be granted for development that demonstrates high-quality urban design.

Policy CS20 - Cultural and community development - The City Council will seek to protect and 
enhance existing cultural and community facilities.

Policy CS21 - Green spaces, leisure and sport -The City Council will seek to maintain an overall 
average of 5.75 ha of publicly accessible green space per 1,000 population.

Policy CS24 - Affordable housing - Planning permission will only be granted for residential 
developments that provide generally a minimum of 50% of the proposed dwellings as affordable 
housing on all qualifying sites.

Policy CS29 - The universities - Planning permission will be granted for proposals at Oxford Brookes
University that deliver more efficient and flexible academic buildings and high-quality urban design
on the existing Headington Hill, Gipsy Lane and Marston Road campuses.

Policy CS30 - Hospitals and medical research - Hospital-related development will continue to be 
focused on existing sites in Headington and Marston.

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

178



5.3     The HNP has ensured that these and other strategic policies within the Core Strategy are 
supported and respected. The following HNP policies accord with and have general conformity 
with the Oxford City Council Core Strategy in the following way:

GSP1: Conserving and enhancing Public Access Green Space - accords with Core Strategy Policy 
CS21 which seeks to maintain the existing level of green space provision within any area of Oxford 
City and with Core Strategy Policy CS17 which seeks opportunities to provide new green spaces on 
or near development sites.

GSP2: Provision of Green Space within Developments -  supports the Oxford City Council Green 
Spaces Strategy (GSS) Objective 1 which seeks opportunities to increase the provision of green 
space in Oxford. It also supports GSS Objective 21 which seeks to protect and enhance biodiversity 
in Oxford by identifying areas in which to create new biodiversity habitats.   GSS Objective 1 seeks 
to maintain the quantity of existing green space in Oxford and to seek opportunities to increase 
this, in part by ensuring that new development contributes to the provision of high quality 
multifunctional green space. GSS Objective 4 sets standards for local access to green space. 
Headington falls well short of these standards (GSS Appendix 4). The Oxford Local Plan Sites and 
Housing Plan require residential developments of 20 or more dwellings to provide at least 10% of 
total site area for publicly accessible green space. In view of the current shortfall in meeting these 
standards this policy sets a higher standard for development. The provision of biodiversity 
enhancement plans will assist delivery of the GSS objective 21 to protect and enhance biodiversity.
The Oxford Local Plan requires larger developments to provide on-site green space where this will 
enhance the range of green space already available in the area or to make a financial contribution. 
This Plan favours the provision of on-site publicly accessible green space rather than a financial 
contribution as this is considered to be more appropriate to deal with the current shortfall in 
meeting the GSS standards for publicly accessible green space.

GSP3 Conserving and Enhancing Biodiversity – seeks to protect and enhance biodiversity on both 
designated and non-designated sites in Headington in accordance with the GSS Objective 21 which
seeks the “protection of important and prosaic species in all sites."  The more prosaic species may 
have particular value if they are rare in this area. In accordance with the NPPF Guidance (109) this 
policy seeks to minimise the impacts of development on biodiversity and provide net gains in 
biodiversity where possible. This accords with Policy CS 12 which encourages developments which 
enhance Oxford’s biodiversity.

GSP4: Protecting Tree Cover - accords with the GSS (5.13) which seeks to preserve healthy trees 
and encourage the planting of new trees within the HNPA.

GSP5: Protection of the Green Setting - Headington is defined as an urban village (GSS Appendix 4)
and as such its green setting is of particular significance.1 The GSS (3.2/3.3) emphasises that care 
1  Dept of Environment Feb 1997 PPG 1 para 12: An urban village is characterised by medium density housing; mixed use zoning; 

good public transport; emphasis on green space and pedestrianisation. It is an alternative to urban sprawl and to city scale. The 
aim is to reduce car reliance; provide high level of self containment; facilitate strong community institutions and interactions

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

179



must be taken to protect the distinctive and sensitive character and environments of Oxford in the 
light of the demands of a growing population.  In accordance with policy CS18 of the Oxford City 
Local Plan, proposals for development either within Headington or its surrounding area will need 
to take account of any impacts on the green setting of the HNPA. 

GSP6: Provision of Allotment Land -  accords with GSS Objective 3: to retain the existing number 
of designated allotment sites. As approximately 50% of Headington lies outside the Strategy’s 
access standard this policy seeks to increase the number of sites in Headington and extend existing
sites to accommodate the demands of an increasing population.

AMP1: Protecting and Enhancing Sports, Leisure and Community Facilities - accords with Core 
Strategy Policy CS 20 Cultural and community development which states that “The City Council will
seek to protect and enhance existing cultural and community facilities. Planning permission will 
not be granted for development that results in the loss of such facilities unless equivalent new or 
improved facilities, where foreseeable need justifies this, can be provided at a location equally or 
more accessible by walking, cycling and public transport.” Policy AMP1 (2) accords with Core 
Strategy Policy C S 21  which states that “planning permission will only be granted for development
resulting in the loss of existing sports and leisure facilities if alternative facilities can be provided 
and if no deficiency is created in the area.” 

CIP1: Development to respect existing local character – accords with Core Strategy Policy CS18 
which states that “Planning permission will only be granted for development that demonstrates 
high-quality urban design through: 

 responding appropriately to the site and its surroundings; 
 creating a strong sense of place; 
 being easy to understand and to move through; 
 being adaptable, in terms of providing buildings and spaces that could have alternative uses

in future; 
 contributing to an attractive public realm; 
 high quality architecture.” 

CS18 also states that “Development proposals should respect and draw inspiration from Oxford’s 
unique historic environment (above and below ground), responding positively to the character and
distinctiveness of the locality.” 

CIP2: Protecting locally important views – accords with Core Strategy Policy CS18 which states 
that “Views of the skyline of the historic centre will be protected.”

CIP3: Innovative design – this policy specifically refers to “High quality development proposals, 
which are of an innovative and/or contemporary design will be permitted where they accord with 
policies in the Local Plan.” Section 6.1.1 of the Core Strategy states that “New development in 
Oxford will be expected to be of a high design quality that respects and enhances the character 
and appearance of the area in which it is located. In addition to the specific considerations that 

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

180



apply to a historic and unique built environment such as Oxford, developments should respect the 
fundamental principles of good urban design.”

CIP4: Protecting important assets – accords with Core Strategy Policy CS 18 which states that 
“Development must not result in loss or damage to important historic features, or their settings, 
particularly those of national importance and, where appropriate, should include proposals for 
enhancement of the historic environment, particularly where these address local issues identified 
in, for example, conservation area character appraisal or management plans.”

EDP1: New Education Provision – accords with Core Startegy Policy CS16 which states that “The 
City Council will work with the County Council and other agencies to improve access to all levels of 
education, through new or improved facilities, throughout Oxford, but particularly in areas of 
population growth.”

TRP1: Parking Provision at major employment sites and TRP2: Parking at Multi-Unit Developments 
– accords with Core Strategy Policy CS13 which states that “Planning permission will only be granted 
for development that prioritises access by walking, cycling and public transport. Low-parking 
development and car clubs will be sought in locations highly accessible by walking, cycling and public
transport.” 

Headington is considered to be a location “highly accessible by walking, cycling and public transport”
and therefore placing limits on additional parking at major employment sites (Policy TRP1) according 
to road capacity, or proposing multi-unit developments have spaces for car club vehicles is seen as 
being in accord with Policy CS13.

TRP3: Connectedness – accords with Core Strategy Policy CS 14 which states that “The City Council 
will work with its partners to improve the ease and quality of access to and between the city and 
district centres, and other key destinations, by:

 supporting further development of an orbital bus network, and associated infrastructure, 
potentially linking Cowley, Headington and Summertown, the strategic locations for 
development, and key employment areas;

 promoting greater pedestrian and cycle priority through and to the city centre and Cowley, 
Headington and Summertown district centres, potentially incorporating public realm and 
cycle parking improvements;

 promoting sustainable transport and access to major employers, hospitals, schools and 
colleges in the Headington and Marston area, and to major employment sites at Cowley;

 working towards a joined-up, city-wide cycle and pedestrian network by addressing ‘pinch-
points’, barriers and missing links, and providing more extensive 20 mph zones.”

TRP4: Travel Plans – accords with Core Strategy Policy CS13 which states that “Planning permission 
will only be granted for development that prioritises access by walking, cycling and public transport.

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

181



A Transport Assessment and comprehensive Travel Plan must accompany all major development 
proposals.”

TRP5: Provision for people with disabilities to use active forms of transport – the Core Strategy is 
silent on enabling people with disabilities to use active forms of transport. For buildings used for the 
provision of a service or employment, the Disability Discrimination Act 2005 (DDA) gives disabled 
people important rights of access to everyday services. However this is not the case with 
residential premises.

This issue was highlighted through the Issues and Options Consultation (2014) by local residents. 
Given that we have an ageing population with increasing issues with mobility, this aims to improve 
residents access to active forms of transport, and reduce dependence on car use.

TRP6: Promotion of Cycling and Walking - accords with Core Strategy Policy CS13 which states that 
“Planning permission will only be granted for development that prioritises access by walking, cycling 
and public transport.” 

The Policy also accords with Core Strategy Policy CS 14 which states that “The City Council will work 
with its partners to improve the ease and quality of access to and between the city and district 
centres, and other key destinations, by:

 promoting greater pedestrian and cycle priority through and to the city centre and Cowley, 
Headington and Summertown district centres, potentially incorporating public realm and 
cycle parking improvements.”

 5.4     The HNP is in general conformity with the strategic policies of Oxford City Council's Core 
Strategy. 

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

182



6. EU OBLIGATIONS 

6.1 A screening opinion was provided by Oxford City Council that the HNP did not require a 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA).  

6.2 The Oxford City Council Core Strategy has undertaken a Habitats Regulations Assessment 
(HRA).  The screening exercise for the HNP concluded that there are no European sites that would 
be affected by the proposals within the HNP, and it was agreed that an HRA was not necessary.

 6.3 The HNP is considered to be compatible with EU obligations.

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

183



7. CONCLUSION

7.1 The Basic Conditions as set out in Schedule 4B to the TCPA 1990 are considered to be met by 
the HNP and all the policies therein.  It is therefore respectfully suggested to the Examiner that the
HNP complies with Paragraph 8(1)(a) of Schedule 4B of the Act. 

Headington Neighbourhood Plan – Map and Basic Conditions Statement

184



Screening Statement on the determination of the need for a Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) in accordance with the Environmental 
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 and European 
Directive 2001/42/EC for the Headington Neighbourhood Plan  
 
February 2016 
 
Introduction 

1. This screening report is used to determine whether or not the contents of the 
Headington Neighbourhood Plan require a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA) in accordance with the European Directive 2001/42/EC 
(hereafter ‘the Directive’) and associated Environmental Assessment of Plans 
and Programmes Regulations 2004 (hereafter ‘the Regulations’).  These 
require an SEA to be undertaken on any land use plan or programme ‘which 
sets the framework for future development or for future development consent 
of projects”.   
 

2. However, there are exceptions to this requirement for plans ‘which determine 
the use of a small area at a local level’, or which only propose ‘minor 
modifications to a plan’, if it is determined that the plan is unlikely to have 
significant environmental effects’.  
 

3. The National Planning Policy Framework, paragraph 167, advises that 
assessments should be proportionate, and should not repeat policy 
assessments that have already taken place.  
 

4. To assess whether an SEA is required a screening process must be 
undertaken based on a standard set of criteria.  This must be subject to 
consultation with the Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural 
England.  The results of the process must be documented in a Screening 
Statement, available to the public.   
 

Headington Neighbourhood Plan  
5. The Headington Neighbourhood Plan contains policies to guide the 

development of the Headington Area1.  The policies cover six different areas:  
 

• Green Spaces and Amenity (planning and community policies) 
• Business and Retail (community policies only)  
• Character and Identity (planning and community policies) 
• Education (planning policies only)  
• Housing (planning and community policies) 
• Transport (planning and community policies)  

 
6. It is worth noting that it is only the planning policies that are the subject of this 

assessment  
 

7. The plan also proposes a series of development guidelines through character 
assessments.  The plan does not allocate any sites for development.  

                                            
1 The Headington Area Map is shown at Appendix 1  

185



The Screening Process  
8. The key to the screening decision is the determination of whether the Plan is 

likely to have any significant environmental effects on the environment, using 
the criteria set out in Annex II of the Directive and Schedule 1 of the 
Regulations.  These criteria are set out in the table at Appendix 3.   
 

9. An extract from ‘A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment’ (set out at Appendix 2) provides a flow diagram to demonstrate 
the SEA screening process.  This flow diagram sets out the process to be 
undertaken in order to ascertain whether or not an SEA is required for the 
Headington Neighbourhood Plan.   
 

10. Part of the screening process is a requirement to consider whether the Plan 
requires a Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA).  An HRA Screening has 
been undertaken, and can be found at Appendix 4.  An assessment of likely 
significance of effects on the environment has also been undertaken, which 
can be found at Appendix 5.  These two assessments feed into Table 1 and 
the SEA Screening Assessment.   
 

11. Responses to the consultation from the statutory consultees have been set 
out at Appendix 6.  
 

Statutory Consultees  
12. The initial Screening Opinion was sent to the Environment Agency, Historic 

England and Natural England for comment on 7th December 2015.  
 

13. The Environment Agency stated:  
 

14. Thank you for consulting us on this screening opinion. We do not consider 
there are any significant environmental issues that fall within our remit, which 
would require an SEA. 
 

15. Historic England stated: 
 

16. Although Headington has a number of designated heritage assets such that 
there could be potential for significant effects on the historic environment, 
based on the information in your Opinion, particularly that the Plan does not 
allocate sites for development, Historic England agrees with your conclusion 
that the Headington Neighbourhood Development Plan is unlikely to lead to any 
significant environmental effects and that, therefore, a Strategic 
Environmental Assessment is not required for the Plan.  However, should the 
nature of the Plan change from that set out in your Opinion we should be 
informed as we may wish to review our position. 
 

17. Although a formal Strategic Environmental Assessment is not currently 
believed to be necessary, we would nevertheless suggest that the Plan is 
subject to a form of sustainability appraisal to assess and monitor the Plan’s 
policies and proposals against a set of agreed objectives. 
 

18. Natural England did not comment.  

186



 
Conclusion 

19. Oxford City Council considers that the Headington Neighbourhood Plan will 
not have any significant impacts on the environment and as such does not 
require a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) as required by the 
Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004.  
 

20. The City Council notes Historic England’s comments in relation to the 
undertaking of some form of appraisal of the sustainability of the policies in 
the plan and suggests that the Headington Neighbourhood Forum gives this 
due consideration.  

 

187



Appendix 1:  Headington Neighbourhood Plan Area  

 
 

188



Appendix 2 – Extract from ‘A Practical Guide to the Strategic Environmental 
Assessment Directive’, DCLG, 2005.  
 
 

 
 
 

189



Appendix 3:  Application of the SEA Directive as shown in Appendix 2.  
 
Stage Yes/ 

No 
Explanation  

1. Is the Neighbourhood Plan 
subject to preparation and/ 
or adoption by a national, 
regional or local authority 
OR prepared by an 
authority for adoption 
through a legislative 
procedure by Parliament or 
Government? (Art. 2(a)) 

Yes The preparation and adoption of the Neighbourhood Plan is allowed under the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Localism Act 2011.  The 
Neighbourhood Plan will be prepared by the Headington Neighbourhood Forum (as 
the ‘relevant body’) and be “made” by Oxford City Council as the Local Authority.  The 
preparation of Neighbourhood Plans is subject to the following regulations:  The 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 and the Neighbourhood 
Planning (referendums) Regulations 2012.  

2. Is the Neighbourhood Plan 
required by legislative, 
regulatory or administrative 
provisions? (Art. 2(a)) 

No Whilst Neighbourhood Planning is not a requirement, it is optional under the 
provisions of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Localism 
Act 2011.  It will, if “made”, form part of the Development Plan for the City.  It is 
therefore important that the screening process considers whether the Neighbourhood 
Plan is likely to have significant environmental effects and hence whether SEA is 
required under the Directive.  

3. Is the Neighbourhood Plan 
prepared for agriculture, 
forestry, fisheries, energy, 
industry, transport, waste 
management, water 
management, telecoms, 
tourism, town and country 
planning or land use, AND 
does it set a framework for 
future development consent 
of projects in Annexes I and 
II (see Appendix 5) of the 
EIA Directive? (Art 3.2(a)) 

Yes The Neighbourhood Plan is prepared for town and country planning and land use.  
The Headington Neighbourhood Plan does not set a framework for future 
development consent of projects in Annexes I and II of the EIA Directive.   

190



4. Will the Neighbourhood 
Plan, in view of its likely 
effect on sites, require an 
assessment for future 
development under Article 6 
or 7 of the Habitats 
Directive? (Art 3.2(b))  

No See Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening Opinion for the Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan at Appendix 4.  
 
If No, go to Step 6 of the Flow Chart  

5. Does the Neighbourhood 
Plan determine the use of 
small areas at local level, 
OR is it a minor 
modification of a PP subject 
to Art 3.2? (Art 3.3)  

N/A  N/A  

6. Does the Neighbourhood 
Plan set the future 
development consent of 
projects (not just projects in 
Annexes to the EIA 
Directive? (Art 3.4)  

Yes   The Headington Neighbourhood Plan will be used to determine future planning 
applications.  
 
If Yes, go to Step 8 of the Flow Chart  

7. Is the Neighbourhood 
Plan’s sole purpose to 
serve the national defence 
or civil emergency, OR is it 
a financial or budget PP, 
OR is it co-financed by 
structural funds by EAGGF 
programmes 2000 to 
2006/7? (Art 3.8, 3.9) 

N/A  N/A  

8. Is it likely to have significant 
effects on the environment?  

No See Assessment of Significant Effects on the Environment Likely (Appendix 5) 

 
 

191



Appendix 4 – Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) Screening Opinion for 
the Headington Neighbourhood Plan 
 
Introduction  

 
1. Oxford City Council has undertaken this Habitat Regulations Assessment 

(HRA) “in-house”.  This report discusses Stage 1 – Screening.  
 

2. This Screening Assessment relates to a Neighbourhood Development Plan 
(Headington Neighbourhood Plan) that will be in general conformity with the 
higher level strategic plan (Oxford’s Local Plan).  This Screening Assessment 
uses the Oxford Core Strategy HRA as its basis for assessment.  From this, 
the Local Authority will determine whether the Headington Neighbourhood 
Plan is likely to result in significant impacts on ‘European’ sites and therefore 
whether an ‘Appropriate Assessment’ is required.  

 
Requirements of the Habitats Directive  
 

3. Appropriate Assessment of plans that could affect Special Areas of 
Conservation (SACs), Special Protection Areas (SPAs) and Ramsar sites 
(jointly called ‘European sites’) is required by Article 6(3) of the European 
Habitats Directive2, which states:  
 
 “Any plan or project not directly connected with or necessary to the 
 management of the [European] site but likely to have significant effect 
 thereon, either individually or in combination with other plans or 
 projects, shall be subject to appropriate assessment of its implications 
 for the site in view of the site’s conservation objectives.  In light of the 
 conclusions of the assessment of the implications for the site and 
 subject to the provisions in paragraph 4, the competent national 
 authorities shall agree to the plan or project only after having 
 ascertained that it will not adversely affect the integrity of the site 
 concerned and, if appropriate having obtained the opinion of the 
 general public.” 
 

4. Article 6(4) of the Habitats Directive discusses alternative solutions, the test of 
“imperative reasons of over-riding public interest” (IROPI) and compensatory 
measures.  
 
 “If, in spite of a negative assessment of the implications for the site and 
 in the absence of alternative solutions, a plan or project must 
 nevertheless be carried out for imperative reasons of over-riding public 
 interest, including those of social and economic nature, the Member 
 State shall take compensatory measures necessary to ensure that the 
 overall coherence of Natura 2000 is protected.  It shall inform the 
 Commission of the compensatory measures adopted.  
 

                                            
2 Directive 92/43/EEC on the Conservation of Natural Habitats and Wild Flora and Fauna 

192



5. The Habitats Directive applies the precautionary principle to European sites.  
Plans and projects can only be permitted if it can be shown that they will have 
no significant adverse effect on the integrity of any European site, or if there 
are no alternatives to them and there are imperative reasons of over-riding 
public interest as to why they should go ahead.  In such cases, compensation 
will be necessary to ensure the overall integrity of the site network.   
 

6. The Habitat Directive was implemented into UK legislation through the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended3).  This 
piece of legislation is generally known as the Habitats Regulations.  
 

Methodology used for this assessment  
7. Habitat Regulations Assessment can involve up to a four stage process.  

 
1. Screening: Determining whether a plan ‘alone, or in combination’ is likely 

to have a significant effect on a European site 
2. Appropriate Assessment: Determining whether, in view of the site’s 

conservation objectives, the plan ‘alone or in combination’ would have an 
adverse effect (or risk of this) on the integrity of the site.  If not, the plan 
can proceed 

3. Assessment of Alternative Solutions: Where a plan is assessed as 
having an adverse effect (or risk of this) on the integrity of a site, there 
should be an examination of alternatives.  

4. Assessment where no alternative solutions remain and where 
adverse impacts remain 
 

8. The HRA covers stage one of the process.  This was carried out in November/ 
December 2015.  Broadly, the HRA process involved:  
 

• Identification of European sites that could possibly be affected by the 
Headington Neighbourhood Plan, qualifying features of those sites and, 
where available, key environmental conditions to support the sites’ 
integrity.  This process relied on information used in the Core Strategy 
HRA, which was updated through the Sites and Housing Plan HRA and 
most recently through the HRA for the Northern Gateway Area Action 
Plan;  

• Identification of possible impacts arising from the Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan;  

• Identification of impacts and policies that could be screened out, and 
those that were likely to require more detailed appropriate assessment;  

• Consultation with Natural England to confirm that the proposed 
approach for the Habitat Regulations Assessment was acceptable, and 
what additional information (if any) was required to complete the 
analysis.  
 

9. This report discusses Stage 1 (screening) only.  
 

                                            
3 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 as amended by The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species (Amendment) Regulations 2012.  

193



Screening  
 
European Sites  

10. Table 1 lists all European sites that area within 20km of the boundary of 
Oxford City Council.  
 

Name of 
site  

Distance from 
boundary  

Reason for designation4 

Oxford 
Meadows 
SAC  

Within the City 
Boundary, 
extending into 
administrative 
area for Cherwell 
District Council 
and into the 
administrative 
boundary of West 
Oxfordshire 
District Council.  

Annex I habitats that area primary reason for 
selection of this site  
Oxford Meadows represents lowland meadows in the 
Thames Valley centre of distribution.  The site includes 
vegetation communities that are perhaps unique in the 
world reflecting the influence of long-term grazing and 
hay-cutting on lowland meadows.  The site has benefited 
from the survival of traditional management, which has 
been undertaken for several centuries, and so exhibits 
good conservation of structure and function.  
 
Annex II species that are a primary reason for 
selection of this site  
Oxford Meadows is selected because Port Meadow is the 
larger of only two known sites in the UK for creeping 
marshwort Apium repens.  

Cothill Fen 
SAC 

Located 7km 
from the City 
boundary 

Annex I habitats that area primary reason for 
selection of this site  
This lowland valley mire contains one of the largest 
surviving examples of alkaline fen vegetation in central 
England, a region where fen vegetation is rare. The M13 
Schoenus nigricans – Juncus subnodulosus vegetation 
found here occurs under a wide range of hydrological 
conditions, with frequent bottle sedge Carex rostrata, 
grass-of-Parnassus Parnassia palustris, common 
butterwort Pinguicula vulgaris and marsh helleborine 
Epipactis palustris. The alkaline fen vegetation forms 
transitions to other vegetation types that are similar to 
M24 Molinia caerulea – Cirsium dissectum fen-meadow 
and S25 Phragmites australis – Eupatorium cannabinum 
tall-herb fen and wet alder Alnus spp. Wood 

Little 
Wittenham 
SAC 

Located 19km 
from the City 
Boundary  

Annex II species that are a primary reason for 
selection of this site  
One of the best-studied great crested newt sites in the 
UK, Little Wittenham comprises two main ponds set in a 
predominantly woodland context (broad-leaved and 
conifer woodland is present). There are also areas of 
grassland, with sheep grazing and arable bordering the 
woodland to the south and west. The River Thames is 
just to the north of the site, and a hill fort to the south. 
Large numbers of great crested newts Triturus cristatus 
have been recorded in the two main ponds, and research 
has revealed that they range several hundred metres into 
the woodland blocks. 

                                            
4 Source: www.jncc.gov.uk  

194

http://www.jncc.gov.uk/


Oxford Core Strategy  
11. An HRA was carried out for the Oxford Core Strategy.  The Oxford Core 

Strategy sets out the strategic locations for housing and employment 
developments within Oxford, identifies a hierarchy of centres and sets a 
number of more general policies on climate change, housing, transport and 
employment. The Oxford Core Strategy also sets out the amount of housing 
required up to 2026.  
 

12. The HRA for the Core Strategy examined whether the policies within the Core 
Strategy would adversely affect the integrity of any European Sites within 
20km of the City. Of the three sites that were within 20km of the Oxford, two 
were screened out, and an Appropriate Assessment was undertaken on the 
Oxford Meadows SAC.  
 

13. The HRA concluded that none of the policies in the Oxford 2026 Core 
Strategy were likely to have adverse effects on the integrity of the Oxford 
Meadows SAC with regard to the following environmental requirements of the 
site:  
 

• Maintenance of traditional hay cut and light aftermath grazing  
• Absence of direct fertilisation  
• Minimal air pollution  
• Absence of nutrient enrichment of waters; good water quality  
• Balanced hydrological regime  
• Recreational pressures  

 
Content of the Headington Neighbourhood Plan  

14. Headington Neighbourhood Plan provides a series of policies to: 
 

• Conserve and enhance public open spaces and biodiversity within 
Headington Neighbourhood Area;  

• Increase the amount of public open space provided within new 
developments;  

• Protect locally important views 
• Create innovatively designed developments  
• Protect important assets  
• Deliver key-worker housing  
• Reduce transport impacts in the area  

 
Other Plans and Projects  

15.  In compliance with Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive, the City Council must 
consider the implications of the Headington Neighbourhood Plan for relevant 
sites ‘in combination’ with other plans or projects that might have significant 
impacts for these sites.  The HRA for the Core Strategy, and more recently 
the HRA for the Northern Gateway, considered many of these documents, but 
since those assessments were made, some projects have progressed.  The 
following list updates those projects set out in the HRA for the Core Strategy 
and those in the HRA for the Northern Gateway.  
 

195



Table 2: Other plans and programmes with potential ‘in-combination’ impacts  
Policy, Plan, 
Strategy/ 
Initiative  

Proposals  Potential ‘in-combination’ impacts?  

Oxfordshire 
Minerals and 
Waste Core 
Strategy  

Varity of sites 
proposed for 
minerals and waste 
throughout the 
County  

The HRA concluded that a conclusion of no 
likely significant effects on the Oxford 
Meadows SAC could not be reached in 
respect of land in the Eynsham/ 
Cassington/ Yarton area with respect to 
hydrological impacts (groundwater flow to 
the SAC) 

Oxford’s Local 
Plan (includes 
Core Strategy/ 
Barton AAP/ / 
Northern 
Gateway AAP/ 
West End AAP/ 
Sites and 
Housing Plan 

8,000 new homes 
and between 11-
13,000 new jobs by 
2026  

HRA ruled out impact on Oxford Meadows 
SAC subject to further work, which was 
carried out as part of the Northern Gateway 
AAP process.  

Cherwell Local 
Plan  

Local Plan formally 
adopted in July 
2015.  22,840 
additional homes 
and 120 ha of 
additional 
employment 
floorspace.  

Revised HRA predicts that Cherwell Local 
Plan is unlikely to have an impact on the 
Oxford Meadows SAC.   

South 
Oxfordshire 
Core Strategy 
(Adopted)  

5,000 new jobs and 
11,487 homes by 
2027.  In process of 
reviewing Core 
Strategy to provide 
for additional homes 
over and above 
those allocated.   

Current evidence shows unlikely to have 
an impact on Oxford Meadows SAC.  HRA 
will need to be updated as the Core 
Strategy review comes forward.  

Vale of White 
Horse Local 
Plan  

Plan submitted with 
additional proposed 
housing allocation 
as suggested by the 
SHMA 

Current evidence shows that the Local 
Plan is unlikely to have an adverse impact 
on the Oxford Meadows SAC.  

West 
Oxfordshire 
Local Plan  

Plan submitted for 
examination.  10,500 
homes to be 
delivered by 2031 

Current evidence shows that the Local 
Plan is unlikely to have an adverse impact 
on the Oxford Meadows SAC in terms of 
recreational pressure and air quality 

Chiltern 
Railways 
Evergreen 3 
Rail project  

Rail project  Scheme results in the permanent loss of 
13m2 from the margins of Oxford Meadows 
SAC.  This loss is not predicted to affect 
the integrity of the SAC.   
 
Air emissions may affect habitats including 
those within the Oxford Meadows.  An 
approach involving the monitoring of 
vegetation has been agreed with Natural 

196



England, to identify any habitat changes, 
and to ensure that timely measures can be 
taken, if necessary to prevent adverse 
effects on the integrity of the Oxford 
Meadows SAC. 5 

Oxford Flood 
Risk 
Management 
Strategy  

Flooding 
improvements 
across Oxford  and 
surrounds.  

Report suggests that there may be impacts 
on Oxford Meadows SAC from flood risk 
management and water resource plans. 
There are some uncertainties regarding 
operation of a flood storage area and 
potential impacts on Oxford Meadows 
SAC. To address these uncertainties, the 
Environment Agency is recommending 
further research. If this work shows that 
there would be significant impacts to 
designated nature conservation sites which 
could not be mitigated or compensated for, 
then the flood storage area will not be 
implemented. However there are no likely 
significant impacts on the SAC from current 
water abstraction activities. 6 

 
 
Headington Neighbourhood Plan  

16. The planning policies in the Headington Neighbourhood Plan have been 
assessed in Table 3.  The table shows that there are no policies within the 
Neighbourhoood Plan which are likely to have an adverse impact on the 
Oxford Meadows SAC.   
 

17. Table 3 shows that none of the policies within the Headington Neighbourhood 
Plan are likely to have an adverse impact on the Oxford Meadows SAC. 
 

18. Categorisation of the effects of elements of the Headington Neighbourhood 
Plan  
 
A – Policies or proposals cannot have any negative impact  
B – Effects will be addressed in assessments “down the line”, including 
project assessment under Regulation 48 
C – Could have an effect, but would not be likely to have a significant 
(negative) effect (alone or in combination with other plans or projects  
D – Likely to have a significant effect alone and would require an Appropriate 
Assessment  
E – Likely to have a significant effect in combination with other plans or 
projects and which require Appropriate Assessment of those combinations  
F – Likely to have a significant effect, alone or in combination with other plans 
or projects, but which would not adversely affect the integrity of a European 
site  

                                            
5 Chiltern Railways (Bicester to Oxford Improvements) Order Environmental Statement NTS January 
2010  
6 Page 39 of report and confirmed in Supporting Guidance: Habitat Directive: (Appendix 21) Proforma 
for Stage 3 of Assessment of Adverse Effect on Site Integrity – Review of Consents (EA, 11/07/05) 

197



G – Likely to have a significant effect, alone or in combination with other plans 
or projects, and for which it cannot be ascertained that they would not 
adversely affect the integrity of a European site 
 
 

198



Table 3 showing the likely key environmental considerations that are likely to give rise to significant effects as a result of the 
policies in the Headington Neighbourhood Plan  
 
Policy  Categorisation 

of the effects of 
elements of the 
Headington NP 

If policy has no effect, then reasons why Key environmental considerations likely to give rise to 
significant effects  

GSP1 – 
Conserving and 
enhancing Public 
Access Green 
Space 

A Policy seeking to protect and enhance green 
spaces within the Headington Neighbourhood 
Plan area.  

 

GSP2 –  
Provision of 
Green Space 
within 
developments   

A Policy setting out the amount and type of green 
space to be provided within developments in the 
Headington Neighbourhood Plan area.   

 

GSP3 – 
Preserving and 
enhancing 
biodiversity  

A Policy seeking to preserve and enhance 
biodiversity as part of development proposals 
within the Headington Neighbourhood Plan 
area.  

 

GSP4 – 
Protecting Tree 
Cover 

A  Policy seeking the protection of trees within the 
Headington Neighbourhood Plan area 

 

GSP5 – 
Protection of the 
Green Setting  

A  Policy seeking to protect the Green Setting of 
Headington 

 

GSP6 –  
Provision of 
Allotment Land  

A  Policy seeking to protect Allotments from 
development and encourage the creation of new 
allotments within the Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan area.  

 

AMP1 – 
Protecting and 
enhancing sports, 
leisure and 
community 
facilities 
  

A  Policy seeking the protection, enhancement 
and/ or suitable replacement of sports, leisure 
and community facilities within the Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan area.  

 

199



Policy  Categorisation 
of the effects of 
elements of the 
Headington NP 

If policy has no effect, then reasons why Key environmental considerations likely to give rise to 
significant effects  

CIP1 –  
Development to 
respect existing 
local character 

A Policy seeking new developments respect and 
enhance local character within the HNP area 

 

CIP2 –  
Protecting locally 
important views 

A  Policy seeking to minimise the visual impacts of 
development within the HNP area.  

 

CIP3 –  
Innovative 
Design 

A Policy seeking innovative and contemporary 
design as part of development proposals within 
the HNP area. 

 

CIP4 –  
Protecting 
important assets 

A Policy seeking to protect important assets as set 
out in the character appraisals and their 
surroundings within the HNP area.  

 

EDP1 – New 
Education 
Provision 

A Policy seeking to support new education 
premises for young people living or working in 
the HNP area.  

 

HGP1 –  
Affordable 
Homes for Key 
Workers from 
Large Housing 
Sites 

A Policy seeking to promote key worker housing 
as part of the affordable housing element of 
large housing schemes.  

 

TRP1 –  
Parking provision 
at major 
employment sites 

A Policy seeking to limit additional car parking 
places at major employment sites within the 
HNP area.  

 

TRP2 –  
Parking at Multi-
unit 
developments  

A Policy seeking to support parking spaces for 
car-clubs as part of large residential 
developments within the HNP area.  

 

TRP3 – 
Connectedness 

A Policy seeking to ensure that developments 
within Headington are linked for use by 
sustainable transport modes namely, walking 
and cycling.  

 

200



Policy  Categorisation 
of the effects of 
elements of the 
Headington NP 

If policy has no effect, then reasons why Key environmental considerations likely to give rise to 
significant effects  

TRP4 –  
Travel Plans 

A Policy seeking new business developments to 
produce travel plans within the HNP area.  

 

TRP5 –  
Provision for 
people with 
disabilities to use 
active forms of 
transport 

A Policy seeking “active transport provision” for 
people with disabilities within the HNP Area.  

 

TRP6 –  
Promotion of 
cycling and 
walking 

A Policy seeking to ensure that new development 
makes provision for cycle storage  

 

 
 

201



Environmental Requirements for European Sites  
 
Oxford Meadows SAC  

19. The citation for the Oxford Meadows SAC states that:  
 

 Oxford Meadows includes vegetation communities that are perhaps unique in 
 reflecting the influence of long-term grazing and hay-cutting on lowland hay 
 meadows.  The site has benefited from the survival of traditional 
management, which has been undertaken for several centuries, and so 
exhibits good conservation structure and function.  Port Meadow is the largest 
of only two known sites in the UK for creeping marshwort Apium repens. 
 
Qualifying habitats: The site is designated under article 4(4) of the Directive 
(92/43/EEC) as it hosts the following habitats listed in Annex I:  
 

• Lowland hay meadows (Aloperecurus pratensis, Sanguisorba 
officinalis) 

 
 Qualifying species: The site is designated under article 4(4) of the Directive 
(92/43/EEC) as it hosts the following species listed in Annex II:  
 

• Creeping marshwort Apium Repens  
 

20. Natural England’s report on the condition of Oxford Meadows notes that the 
most recent surveys took place in 2010 and 2011.  These report that the 
Oxford Meadows SAC is in a favourable condition.   
 

21. The following key environmental requirements to support the integrity of the 
Oxford Meadows SAC were agreed at a screening workshop for the South 
East Plan and are as follows:  
 
1. Minimal air pollution; 
2. Absence of nutrient enrichment of waters; good water quality;  
3. Balanced hydrological regime – alteration to adjacent rivers may alter 

flooding regime and reduce botanical diversity;  
4. Maintenance of traditional hay cut and light aftermath grazing; 
5. Absence of direct fertilisation.  
 

22. A further workshop on HRA for the Core Strategy raised the additional issue 
of ensuring that recreational pressures are maintained at a reasonable level.  
 

Screening Conclusions  
23. It is worth noting that the HRA for the Core Strategy screened out the two 

other European sites within 20km of Oxford.  These sites are Cothill Fen SAC 
and Little Wittenham SAC.  The screening conclusions from the Core Strategy 
HRA have been summarised below for completeness  

 
Cothill Fen SAC  

24. It is considered that the Oxford Core Strategy could not have an adverse 
impact on Cothill Fen SAC.  Cothill Fen is an alkaline fen dependent on a high 

202



water table and calcareous, base rich water supply.  As Cothill Fen is in the 
catchment of the River Ock, which is a different river catchment, the Oxford 
Core Strategy could not have an adverse impact on this Designated Site.  
Cothill Fen SAC is in a relatively remote location and can only be accessed by 
private car, or by local residents travelling on foot.  Recreational pressure is 
therefore likely to be slight as a result of the proposed new development in the 
Oxford Core Strategy.  Development within Oxford is likely to feature new 
green spaces which will ease recreational pressure recreational pressure on 
the Cothill Fen.   

 
Little Wittenham SAC  

25. Little Wittenham has been designated because it contains two ponds with 
large populations of great crested newts.  These areas have restricted access 
which is designed to prevent conflicts between the visiting public, the newts 
and their habitat.  As development in Oxford will not affect the habitat in the 
ponds or the newts foraging habitat around them, the Oxford Core Strategy 
could not have an adverse impact on this site.  The site has therefore been 
excluded from further assessment.  
 

Oxford Meadows SAC  
26. In the case of the HRA for the Headington Neighbourhood Plan it has been 

possible to screen out all of the impacts on the Oxford Meadows SAC.   
 

• Air Pollution; 
• Water Quality; 
• Balanced Hydrological Regime; 
• Increased Recreational Pressure; 
• Maintenance of traditional hay cut and light aftermath grazing* 
• Absence of direct fertilisation* 

 
* These conservation objectives have been screened out as they are related 
to activities directly at the site which the Headington Neighbourhood Plan will 
not affect  
 

Air Pollution  
27. The HRA for the Core Strategy referred to EA Interim advice note 61/05 

“Guidance for Undertaking Environmental Assessment of Air Quality for 
Sensitive Ecosystems in Internationally Designated Nature Conservation Sites 
and SSSIs”, which states:  
 
 “If there are no Designated Sites within 200m of an affected road, there 
 is no need to proceed any further with [the] air quality assessment.  If 
 there is a Designated Site within 2km of a scheme but there is no 
 significant change in emissions from roads within 200m of the site, then 
 the scheme will not result in a significant change in air quality and the 
 effects of change in air quality can be assumed to be negligible”  
 

28. The closest boundary of the Headington Neighbourhood Plan area is over 
2km away and as such this rules out any air quality impacts associated with 
the Plan on the air quality at the Oxford Meadows SAC.   

203



 
29. The Headington Neighbourhood Plan does not include any additional 

development that was not assessed as part of the HRA for the Core Strategy.   
 

30. Given this, and the fact that the closest boundary to of the Headington 
Neighbhourhood Plan area is over 2km away, this conservation objective has 
been screened out of the assessment.  
 

Balanced Hydrological Regime  
31. The HRA for the Core Strategy states that “Oxford Meadows SAC straddles 

the north western boundary of Oxford.  Most of it is therefore upstream of the 
large urban areas of Oxford”.  The Headington Neighbourhood Plan area lies 
over 2km to the east of the Oxford Meadows SAC.  The HRA for the Core 
Strategy continues, “… a study of ‘The Hydrology of the Oxford Meadows’ 
states that ‘[t]he Second Terrace Gravels (Summertown Radley Terrace) on 
which much of Oxford is built appears to be a source of groundwater recharge 
(Eyles, 1986) with groundwater/ surface water flowing south and west across 
Port Meadow to the Seacourt Stream.”  
 

32. The Headington Neighbourhood Plan area is situated primarily on a variety of 
different rock types including Beckley Sandstone and Wheatly Limestone7.  
The geology present under the area of the Headington Neighbourhood Plan 
area is not the type associated with groundwater recharge for the Oxford 
Meadows SAC.  As such this objective has been screened out from the 
assessment.  
 

Recreational Pressure  
33. The Core Strategy HRA assessed the impacts of recreational pressure from 

8,000 new homes on the Oxford Meadows SAC.  The HRA for the Core 
Strategy stated that “[p]ublic consultation carried out by Scott Wilson as part 
of their “Oxford City  Green Space Study” revealed that people are willing to 
walk approximately 1,900m to important green spaces such as Oxford 
Meadows SAC, which includes Port Meadow.”  The Headington 
Neighbhourhood Plan area is over 2km away from the Oxford Meadows SAC, 
and there are other large green spaces closer, such as Bury Knowle Park, 
South Park and Headington Hill Park which are much close to the Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan area.  Given this range of alternative recreational green 
spaces within and adjacent to the Headington Neighbourhood Plan area this 
conservation objective has been screened out of the assessment.  
 

Conclusion  
34. The Oxford Meadows SAC is currently judged by Natural England to be in 

favourable condition.  This Habitat Regulations Assessment has concluded 
that none of the policies within the Headington Neighbourhood Plan are likely 
to have adverse effects on the integrity of the Oxford Meadows SAC either 
‘alone or in combination’ with other plans, projects or programmes.  

  

                                            
7 Taken from the British Geological Survey 
http://www.bgs.ac.uk/discoveringGeology/geologyOfBritain/viewer.html  

204

http://www.bgs.ac.uk/discoveringGeology/geologyOfBritain/viewer.html


Appendix 4: Assessment of the likely significance of effects on the 
environment  
 

1. Characteristics of the plan, having regard to:  
(a) The degree to which 

the plan or programme 
sets a framework for 
projects and other 
activities, either with 
regard to the location, 
size and operating 
conditions or by 
allocating resources. 

The Headington Neighbourhood Plan would, if 
adopted, form part of the Statutory Development 
Plan and as such does contribute to the framework 
for future development consent of projects.  
However, the Plan sits within the wider framework 
set by the National Planning Policy Framework, 
Oxford’s Local Plan (including the saved policies 
within the Adopted Local Plan 2001-2016, the Core 
Strategy, Sites and Housing Plan and Area Action 
Plans).  The projects for which the Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan helps to set a framework are 
local in nature and have limited resource 
implications.  

(b) The degree to which 
the plan or programme 
influences other plans 
or programmes 
including those in a 
hierarchy.  

The Headington Neighbourhood Plan will be in 
conformity with the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  The policies within the document will 
conform with the Council’s strategic policies and 
compliment Oxford’s Local Plan.  The Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan is unlikely to influence other 
plans or programmes within the within the Statutory 
Development Plan.  

(c) The relevance of the 
plan or programme for 
the integration of 
environmental 
considerations in 
particular with a view 
to promoting 
sustainable 
development 

The Headington Neighbourhood Plan contains 
policies relating to environmental considerations 
such as biodiversity, the historic environment, 
housing and sustainable transport.  These policies 
will be in conformity with national and local policies 
as required by the basic conditions.  The 
Neighbourhood Plan will have to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development to be 
approved at examination and “made” by the City 
Council.  Development would also be subject to the 
policies in Oxford’s Local Plan and therefore all 
environmental considerations would be covered by 
policy.  

(d) Environmental 
problems relevant to 
the plan or programme 

The Neighbourhood Plan area contains three 
conservation areas – Old Headington; Headington 
Hill and Headington Quarry.  It also contains a 
number of Listed Buildings.  The whole of the 
Neighbourhood Plan area is within Flood Zone 1.  
The Headington Neighbourood Plan area contains 
two complete SSSIs (geological): Rock Edge; and 
Magdalen Quarry.  It also contains one of the SSSI 
units that makes up the Lye Valley SSSI.  There are 
several local nature sites including Rock Edge 
Nature Reserve and Lye Valley Local Wildlife Site.  
Both of the SSSI units at Lye Valley are in 

205



“unfavourable – recovering” condition according to 
the most recent assessment undertaken by Natural 
England in 2010.   
 
As Headington Neighbourhood Plan does not 
allocate sites it is unlikely that the policies in it will 
have a negative impact on any of the nature sites, in 
fact, the plan contains a policy on improving 
biodiversity so it is likely that there will be small-scale 
positive local impacts as a result.  

(e) The relevance of the 
plan or programme for 
the implementation of 
Community legislation 
on the environment 
(for example plans 
and programmes 
linked to waste 
management or water 
protection.  
 

The Headington Neighbourhood Plan is not directly 
relevant to any of these.  

2. Characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be affected, having 
regard, in particular to:  

a) The probability, 
duration, frequency 
and reversibility of the 
effects 

The Headington Neighbourhood Plan is likely to have 
some modest but enduring positive environmental 
effects, especially given its focus on green spaces, 
trees and biodiversity.  Any negative effects of the 
plan are not likely to be reversible however they will 
all be all be of a local scale.  

b) The cumulative nature 
of the effects 

Any cumulative impacts will result from the 
application of policies with the Headington 
Neighbourhood Plan and Oxford’s Local Plan, as 
well projects being delivered through Oxford’s Local 
Transport Plan.  It is likely that any cumulative effects 
will not be magnified in a negative manner given the 
positive and protective nature of the policies with 
Headington’s Neighbourhood Plan.  

c) The transboundary 
nature of the effects 

It is unlikely that the plan will have any 
transboundary impacts the plan does not allocate 
sites over and above those allocated through 
Oxford’s Local Plan.  Policies within the plan relate to 
the Headington Neighbourhood Plan area only.  

d) The risks to human 
health or the 
environment (for 
example, due to 
accidents)  

There are no significant risks to human health or the 
environment.  The plan is likely to improve human 
health through sustainable transport policies and its 
ambitions to improve the public access green space 
network within the Headington Neighbourhood Plan 
area.  

e) The magnitude and 
spatial extent of the 

The Headington Neighbourhood Plan relates to the 
area as shown in the map at Appendix 1.  The 

206



effects (geographical 
area and size of the 
population likely to be 
affected) 

magnitude and spatial extent of any effects of the 
plan are likely to be small.  As the plan does not 
allocate sites, it is not likely to attract additional 
development to the Headington area beyond that set 
out in Oxford’s Local Plan.   

f) The value and 
vulnerability of the 
area likely to be 
affected due to:  
(i) special natural 

characteristics or 
cultural heritage;  

(ii) exceeded 
environmental 
quality standards or 
limit values; or 

(iii) intensive land-
use  

The Headington Neighbourhood Plan does not 
allocate sites it is unlikely that any of the policies in 
the plan will impact in a negative manner, special 
natural characteristics or cultural heritage in the area; 
cause environmental quality standards or limit values 
to be exceeded or intensify land-use.  The majority of 
the policies are protection orientated and as such are 
likely to of benefit to such areas.  

g) The effects on areas 
or landscapes which 
have a recognised 
national, Community 
or international 
protection status  

There are no areas or landscapes with recognised 
national, Community or international protection 
status.  

 

207



This page is intentionally left blank



Year 
Month December Dec
Week 6 13 20 27 4 11 18 25 1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26 3 10 17 24 31 7 14 21 28 5 12 19 26 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 6 13 20 27 3 10 17 24 1 8 15 22 29 5 12 19 26 3 10 17 24 31 7 14 21 28 4 11 18 25 2 9 16 23 30 6 13 20 27 4 11

-2 -1 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39 40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52 53 54 55 56 57 58 59 60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 70 71 72 73 74 75 76 77
Neighbourhood Plan Submitted
Check all relevant info submitted
LPA to check that it is 'satisfied' 
Agree and Appoint Inspector 
Prepare CEB Report 
CEB Lead in Time (8 weeks) 
consultation preparation 
CEB Decision 
6 week consultation 
Get material ready to send to Examiner
Send material to Inspector
Examination (Writted Reps) 
Receive Inspector's Report 
Fact check 
Discuss and agree modifications with NF 
Lead in time to CEB (8 weeks) 
CEB Issues Decision Statement 
6 week legal challenge period 
Publiciity for Referendum  (6 weeks) 
Referendum 
6 week legal challenge period 
Draft Council Report 
Lead in time to Full Council (8 weeks)
Plan Made  (Estimated Council Meeting) 
6 week legal challenge period 

2017
January February March April May June July August September October November 

2016
June September August July October November 

209



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Title Risk description Opp/ threat Cause Consequence I P I P I P Control description Due date Status Progress % Action Owner

Examination Timetable assumes  that 
the Examination is 
undertaken by written 
representations and 
takes 6 weeks or less 

Threat External:  The 
Independent Examiner 
could request that the 
Examination takes place in 
the form of hearing 
sessions,  

Delay to project 
timetable 

July 2016 R&H (DE) 2 4 2 4 2 4 Reputational Risk n/a December 16 n/a n/a R&H (DE) 

Legal Challenge A legal challenge is 
submitted following one 
of the statutory stages. 

Threat External:  As with any 
planning document, there 
is a risk that a legal 
challenge could be 
submitted by a 3rd party. 

Delay to project 
timetable while the legal 
challenge is processed.  
Depending on the 
outcome of the legal 
challenge, it could resutl 
in the plan being 
quoshed. 

July 2016 R&H (DE) 2 4 2 4 2 4 Reputational Risk 
Financial Risk 

n/a March 17 and 
July 17

n/a n/a R&H (DE) 

Agree Modifications 
with Neighbourhood 
Forum

Timetable assumes that 
any modifications are 
agreed with the 
Neighbourhood Forum 
promptly. 

Threat External:  Modifications 
take longer to agree than 
anticipated with the 
Neighbourhood Forum 

Delay to project 
timetable 

July 2016 R&H (DE) 2 4 2 4 2 4 Reputational Risk n/a Nov/ Dec 16 n/a n/a R&H (DE) 

Plan found unsound The Independent 
examiner could find the 
Neighbourhood Plan 
'unsound'

Threat External:  Independent 
Examiner 

Process of production 
must begin again.  Plan 
must be revised and 
resubmitted to the LPA 

July 2016 R&H (DE) 2 4 2 4 2 4 Reputational Risk 
Financial Risk 

n/a Nov/ Dec 16 n/a n/a R&H (DE) 

Date Raised Owner Gross Current Residual Comments Controls

211



T
his page is intentionally left blank



.

To: City Executive Board
Date: 8 August 2016
Report of: Chief Executive
Title of Report: Further Loan Facility to Low Carbon Hub IPS

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To consider the approval of a loan to the Low Carbon Hub 

(IPS) to support the construction of the hydroelectric 
renewable energy scheme at Sandford and to mitigate the 
clawback risk around the Intelligent Energy Europe grant 
arrangements. .

Key decision: Yes 
Executive Board 
Member:

Councillor Ed Turner, Finance, Asset Management and 
Public Health

Corporate Priority: None.
Policy Framework: Corporate Plan

Recommendations: That the City Executive Board resolves to:

1. Agrees a loan to the Low Carbon Hub IPS of up to £100k at an interest rate 
of 1% for 3 years specifically to support the construction of the hydroelectric 
scheme at Sandford.  

2. Delegate the authority to enter into an appropriate loan agreement with the 
Low Carbon Hub (IPS) to the Section 151 Officer in consultation with the 
Monitoring Officer and Chief Executive.

Appendices
Appendix 1 Confidential – A State Aid Compliance

Introduction and background 
1. The Low Carbon Hub (Industrial Provident Society) (“ the Hub IPS”), is a not for 

profit social enterprise that works to lower carbon emissions across Oxfordshire by 
helping businesses, the public sector and communities to develop renewable 
energy projects and reduce energy demand. The organisation was set up in 
December 2011 and is registered with the Financial Services Authority (FSA).  The 
Hub IPS has no staff or costs other than maintenance contracts for each generation 
installation. 

213

Agenda Item 9



2. The manpower for implementation and management of the Hub IPS business is 
supplied under contract from the Low Carbon Hub Community Interest Company 
(“the CIC”). The CIC is a legal entity registered and regulated at companies house, 
having a status and structure similar to a company but where the organisation 
wishes to further social objectives and use their profits for the public good but do 
not require or who are not eligible for charity status.

3. Both the Low Carbon Hub (IPS) and the Low Carbon Hub (CIC) are forms of co-
operative and the Councils Executive Director (Community Services) is Oxford City 
Council’s nominee to the Hub Board.

4. The Hub partners with local business and the public sector to develop manage and 
finance renewable energy schemes under a ‘Community Benefit Model’. Funding is 
raised by the Hub and the renewable scheme managed on behalf of a host 
organisation in return for which the host gets discounted green electricity and CO2 
savings.

5. In June 2014 the Council agreed a loan facility of £2.3 million at 5% repayable by 
June 2017. A subsequent supplementary agreement made in November  2015 in 
respect of £1,623,210 of loans yet to be drawn down from the original facility 
extended the repayment period by a further 364 days to June 2018. .  So far 
projects with a generating capacity of 1.6MWh have been successfully delivered.  A 
total of £462k has been drawn down to date from the supplementary agreement 
leaving around £1,161,210. Still to be drawn down.

6. These projects count towards the Euro 23M of projects that the council along with 
the County Council in partnership with the Hub have contracted to deliver with the 
Intelligent Energy Europe Fund by November 2016.  We are getting close to this 
target but without the Sandford hydroelectric scheme we are likely to  fall 
significantly short of the target initiating a potential clawback in grant awarded to 
support the scheme.  The level of clawback for the City Council without the 
Sandford scheme is estimated to be Euro 227k. around £193,000 currently

7. In addition to the benefits of mitigating the clawback risk of supporting this scheme 
it should be recognised that a hydroelectric scheme of this scale on a UK river is 
innovative and its achievement would be a significant step in bringing forward this 
technology in the UK.

The Project
8. The project is to deliver a 440 kW hydroelectric scheme on the river Thames just 

south of Oxford at the Sandford weir.  All the necessary permissions are in place 
and this was one of the last projects in the UK to be pre accredited under the 
former Feed in Tariff rates.  To take advantage of that pre accreditation the project 
must be operational by September 2017.

9. The forecast annual generation of 1.6GWh is based on historical river flow 
information.  In the 13 year period analysed (from 2000 to 2013) the minimum 
generation would have been 0.8GWh and the maximum 2.5GWh.  It is this 
generating capacity and the associated income including feed in tariff that drive the 
business case for the project.

214



10. As the scheme is preaccredited for feed in tariff once the project is operational it 
has a guaranteed income stream linked to the retail prices index.  At that stage it is 
anticipated that it will be much easier to raise investor share capital for the scheme.

Financing the Project

11. The Sandford Hydro project will reach financial close based on successful 
conclusion of legal, technical and documentary due diligence on a £2m loan from 
the Charity Bank, and £1.2m of equity provided. The equity is made up of:

 £800k equity released by securing 5-year short-term debt funding against 
existing Low Carbon Hub solar projects. This funding is supplied by the 
Resonance Community Shares Underwriting Fund and the Finance South 
East Community Generation Fund

 £200k equity from the Low Carbon Hub IPS and CIC

 £200k equity raised from existing shareholders through a private placement 
in February 2016

12. Further information on the project and financing thereof can be found in the 
associated Share Offer document 
http://www.lowcarbonhub.org/news/2016/shareoffer2016.

13. Currently the share offer cannot reach financial close as there is a short fall in 
funding of around £100k.  This can be described as the additional cost of providing 
a fish pass for the turbine as required by the Environment Agency but not 
recognised as a cost in the feed in tariff mechanism.  The scheme can only 
currently progress if that funding is found at zero or as near as possible to zero cost 
to the scheme due to the requirements of the major lenders to the project.

14. Financial close is pressing as contracts have to be let imminently if the project is to 
proceed with managed risk towards being operational by the feed in tariff cut-off 
date.

15. Officers have considered a number of options for supporting the Hub in these 
circumstances.  Briefly these and the reasons not to pursue them are:-

 Grant from the Council - it was felt that it would be difficult to justify a one off 
grant of this scale for such a project

 Investment - This was difficult to support since the limited financial security 
offered by Low Carbon Hub for the placing of the investment would be 
considered contrary to the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.  The 
Hub are confident of finding alternative funding in the short to medium term 
either through grant applications which have been made or through share 
offers.  However, that cannot be guaranteed and therefore the Hub have 
asked that the Council consider a loan to cover that gap.

16. The loan would be repayable by June 2019 with interest at 1%. As with the existing 
loan agreement the Low Carbon Hub are at liberty to repay any or all of the loan 
before the due date with accrued interest without penalty. Security for the loan 
would be as per section 4 (a) of the existing supplementary agreement dated 

215



November 2015  against ‘the income stream and physical assets of the Borrower’s 
existing Community Energy Projects’

Financial Implications
17. The Council currently earns an average of 0.70% on its investments. The proposed 

loan to Low Carbon Hub will have a return of 1%. The Loan is short term repayable 
from the proceeds of the share offer.  In considering the rate to charge the Council 
has been mindful of the viability of the scheme as balanced against the return it 
currently receives from its own investments. Additionally the Council has sought to 
ensure that the loan facility did not constitute unlawful State Aid, which it has 
concluded to its satisfaction. Details of this are contained within the Confidential 
Appendix A.

18. In entering into the proposed loan arrangement, the Council can rely on the general 
power of competence created by s1 Localism Act 2011.   This allows the Council to 
“do anything that individuals generally may do”, and thus would provide 
authorisation for the making of a loan of this nature.  In addition, making the loan 
would help to facilitate the Council’s compliance with its IEE OxFutures contractual 
obligations, in regard to generating the required investment gearing from the IEE 
grant funds received

19. The Hub is contracted by the City Council and County Council to deliver the 
Intelligent Energy Europe grant funded OxFutures programme. The value of the 
contract from the City Council is £600k over three years to November 2016. The 
Hub also receives additional funding from the County Council for LCO projects and 
other funding secured from external investors. 

20. The IEE grant funded OxFutures programme is required to raise a minimum of c. 
Euro 23m investment in energy projects in Oxfordshire by the end Nov 2016. If the 
minimum investment target is not met, there is a possibility of claw back of part of 
the grant by the European Union. This project  which would be financed through 
this loan agreement, at a total cost of £3.2m will contribute significantly to meeting 
that target. 

Legal Implications
21. It is proposed this loan would be made by way of an addition to the existing loan 

agreement.  The key provisions of which seek to provide the Council with adequate 
security to protect its funds. These include a requirement that all loans be repaid 
immediately funds are received from scheme investors.  If the funds received prove 
to be insufficient and the Hub is unable to fund the repayment, the Council protects 
its interests in different ways.  In summary these are through the Council taking 
ownership of the relevant scheme equipment (eg the PV solar panels) and/or 
through obtaining rights to the FIT income generated. Consideration has also been 
given to the potential failure of the Low Carbon Hub IPS itself at a point when 
monies are outstanding.  These measures will reduce, but cannot entirely eliminate, 
the risk arising under the loan facility proposal.  

22. The proposed project is just outside the City Council boundary at the Sandford weir 
however should the City Executive Board wish to pursue this matter the general 
power of competence should enable the Council to provide this loan facility.

216



Risk Implications
23. The main risk to the granting of the loan would be that the share issue does not 

secure sufficient investment to repay the Council. Despite an impressive track 
record of raising finances from this vehicle by the Hub on other projects, past 
experience is not necessarily an indicator of what will happen in the future. The 
Council or the Hub has limited control of what will happen. Whilst there are some 
mechanisms to enable the Council to seek repayment of its loan via other routes, 
for instance selling the debt, these mechanisms are not straightforward but are 
reflected in the existing loan agreement. The mitigation is against existing Feed In 
Tariff income streams of the Hub.   

24. The financial case for making the loan is not strong since the return in cash terms is 
minimal, for the increased risks taken on, the greatest of which is the failure of the 
share issue to enable the return of the Councils loan in the specified period. 
However, this should not be seen as an income raising proposition.  The primary 
drivers are to deliver innovative renewable energy projects in and around the city 
and to mitigate the risk of EU grant clawback.  

25. In making a decision Members need to consider the risks against the benefit to the 
Community of Oxford and Oxfordshire at large in facilitating the renewable energy 
community projects and the mitigation of the grant clawback risk.

Report author Nigel Kennedy

Job title Head of Financial Services
Service area or department Financial Services
Telephone 01865 252708 
e-mail nkennedy@oxford.gov.uk

Background Papers: None

217



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF THE CITY EXECUTIVE BOARD

Thursday 14 July 2016

COUNCILLORS PRESENT: Councillors Price (Leader), Turner (Deputy 
Leader), Brown, Hollingsworth, Kennedy, Rowley, Simm, Smith, Sinclair and 
Tanner.

OTHER MEMBERS PRESENT:  Councillors Henwood (Chair of the Scrutiny 
Housing Panel), Wade 

OFFICERS PRESENT: Peter Sloman (Chief Executive), Caroline Green 
(Assistant Chief Executive), Nigel Kennedy (Head of Financial Services), 
Lindsay Cane (Legal Services Manager), Ian Brooke (Head of Community 
Services), Julia Tomkins (Grants & External Funding Officer), Dave Scholes 
(Housing Strategy & Needs Manager), David Rundle (Private Rented Team 
Leader), Ian Wright (Service Manager Environmental Health), Michael Browning 
(Private Sector Safety Team Leader) and Sarah Claridge (Committee Services 
Officer)

23. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies received from Cllr Gant, Chair of Scrutiny Committee.

24. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Cllr Simm declared an interest in item 9 Grant Allocations (minute 31) as she is a 
trustee on the Donnington Doorsteps Association.

25. PUBLIC QUESTIONS

Public questions on Item 8 - Fusion Lifestyle Annual Plan 2016/17 were received 
by Mr Nigel Gibson. 

The City Executive Board noted the questions and responses.

26. COUNCILLOR ADDRESSES ON ANY ITEM FOR DECISION ON THE 
BOARD'S AGENDA

Cllr Wade spoke to the Board. 

219

Agenda Item 10



Item 7:  Private Sector Housing Policy (refer minute 30)
Cllr Wade was concerned the policy could make life difficult for good landlords 
and felt the lack of responses from the consultation process did not provide a 
clear mandate for the Board to base its decision on.

Item 8: Fusion Lifestyle Annual Plan 2016/17 (refer minute 29)
Cllr Wade felt more scrutiny was needed to challenge the falling numbers in the 
over 60s swimming group. She would like to see Fusion commission a report on 
why there was a decline.

The Fusion’s Divisional Manager said that the decline in swimming was a 
national trend and it could be that people are just doing other forms of exercise. 
He highlighted that participation in group exercise classes was up and that the 
decline in swimming was a challenge for Fusion to reverse.

27. COUNCILLOR ADDRESSES ON NEIGHBOURHOOD ISSUES

There were no addresses on neighbourhood issues.

28. SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORTS

Private Sector Housing Policy (post-consultation)
Cllr Henwood, Chair of the Scrutiny Housing Panel presented the report and 
noted the Board’s positive responses to the recommendations. He had 
reservations about the consultation process and suggested that future 
consultation be advertised in places with a higher footfall eg Templar Square 
shopping centre, events and community centres.

Fusion Lifestyle’s 2016/17 Annual Service Plan
The Scrutiny Officer presented the report and thanked the Board for their 
responses. All recommendation had been agreed except recommendation 7. 

Grant Allocations – Monitoring Report
The Scrutiny Officer explained that the Committee had looked at the overarching 
view of the monitoring report rather than the grants themselves.  He appreciated 
the positive responses to the Committee’s two recommendations.

Cllr Simm, Board Member for Culture and Communities explained the increasing 
importance of measuring social value (recommendation 1). She explained that 
there were tools available but they required the co-operation of organisations 
and users of the services. She said she would look into how the Council could 
measure social value with the community grant recipients; however she did not 
want officers to spend too much time measuring social value when they could be 
spending time improving it.

220



In regards to linking the grants programme with service delivery, Cllr Simm 
explained she would look into what good practice existed and would duplicate 
them if appropriate.

Review of the Lord Mayor’s Deposit Guarantee Scheme.

Cllr Henwood, thanked the Board for the accepted recommendation. He stated 
he’d like to review the scheme after the pilot year.

Cllr Rowley, Board member for Housing agreed that the scrutiny 
recommendation was very sensible.  A report reviewing the scheme will come 
back to CEB in a year.

Report of the Equality and Diversity Review Group

The Scrutiny Officer presented the report and explained that this review was 
unique as it had a wholly internal focus. 
The report was made up of two parts:
1. Analysis of council workforce with minority groups underrepresented  in 
council workforce
2. Ideas to reduce barriers to minority groups. 

He explained that further information had been received regarding 
recommendation 15 and he wished to withdraw it so the Scrutiny Committee 
could re-consider it. The Board agreed that the Scrutiny Committee would review 
the new information and the recommendation would return to the Board at a later 
date.

Cllr Brown, Board member for Customer Services and Corporate Services 
thanked the review group for their work. She said workplace diversity was 
monitored regularly and she was constantly looking for ways to improve it.

Apprentices
The Scrutiny Officer presented the report and outlined the recommendations.

Cllr Brown, Board member for Customer Services and Corporate Services 
outlined the Human Resources risks of council not getting mitigation of the 
apprenticeship levy right.  She was seeking assurances before increasing 
apprenticeship numbers.

Cllr Kennedy explained that the Council’s apprentice wage rates were about mid-
range compared to other councils.  Good work was being done to advertise the 
scheme with local businesses and with schools.

Cllr Price mentioned the need to look into the effect of increasing apprenticeship 
numbers due to the government’s apprenticeship levy. As only training costs can 
be charged against the levy not wages.

221



29. FUSION LIFESTYLE'S 2016/ 2017 ANNUAL SERVICE PLAN

The Head of Community Services submitted a report which outlined Fusion 
Lifestyle’s Annual Service Plan for the management of the Council’s leisure 
facilities for 2016/17.

Cllr Smith, Board Member for Leisure, Parks and Sport presented the report. 
She highlighted the accessible and affordable leisure being offered, value for 
money and improved energy efficiency in the plan. The Council’s subsidy was 
due to be zero in 2017 and she hoped to agree a profit share arrangement with 
Fusion when it did reach zero. Monthly client performance meetings and the 
Scrutiny Committee’s involvement were really important in maintaining leisure 
standards.

The Head of Community Services said that usage has increased 54% since 
Fusion took the contract in 2009 and there were around 1.3M visits per year to 
the Council’s leisure centres in 2015/16.  He suspected swimming numbers are 
down because people are doing other forms of exercise as overall participation 
had increased.  

The Fusion Divisional Manager said that Fusion had a strong relationship with 
the Council.  Future plans included a new website and user monitoring system to 
record service and participation.

Cllr Price asked if there were any plans to extend the range of activities 
available. The Head of Community Services said the Council was constantly 
looking at what they offered people. Group exercises classes are really popular 
and the Council is always looking to increase the range. 

A list of concerns were raised by Councillors for the Fusion Manager to feedback 
to his staff, these included:
 Increasing the parking at the Leys leisure centre
 Strengthening enforcement and signage of shoe-free area in swimming zone.
 Fixing repairs in a timely manner
 Timetabling different sessions for different groups at Hinksey Pool
 Considering the introduction of an under 16 participation card.
 Extending the healthy food trial to all leisure centres.

The Fusion Divisional Manager said that all programmes were reviewed 
quarterly. 

The City Executive Board resolves to ENDORSE the Fusion Lifestyle Annual 
Service Plan for 2016/17. 
 

222



30. PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING POLICY (POST-CONSULTATION)

The Head of Planning and Regulatory Services submitted a report which detailed 
the results from the consultation exercise carried out for the draft Private Sector 
Housing Policy 2016-2019 and sought approval of the policy. The policy sets out 
the present baseline conditions of Oxford’s private rented sector housing and 
how Council services have been working to improve those conditions. It then 
sets out how the Council will address the complex issues that affect the sector 
from 2016-2019.

 Cllr Hollingsworth Board Member for Planning and Regulatory Services 
presented the report.   He explained that the policy set out the potential 
extension of a licensing scheme. But reiterated that there are many elements to 
overcome first ie legal matters, regulations, statement of intent and resource 
implications before the Council could consider an extension. Any future licensing 
scheme might be sector focus rather than a blanket approach.

Cllr Turner pointed out the issues with the bottom end of the private rental sector 
where tenants don’t have the option to pick and choose their homes as there are 
so few available.  

The Environmental Health Services Manager said that the consultation plan was 
broadly similar to the Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) licencing scheme’s 
one.  The poor response reflected the Council’s budget not that officers did not 
try hard to get the public to engage.

Cllr Brown said that many tenants were scared of raising housing issues for fear 
of being issued an eviction notice. The Council does not want to see the private 
rental sector shrink just better homes and landlords.

Cllr Sinclair asked whether there had been an increase in the rental sector in 
neighbouring authorities due to the City’s HMO licencing scheme.

The Environmental Health Services Manager said he had asked the district 
councils whether they had seen a change and had found it surprising that the 
councils had reported no significant increase in the private rental market.

The City Executive Board resolves to: 

1. CONSIDER the report of the consultation on the Private Sector Housing 
Policy 2016-2019 and NOTE the findings attached at Appendix 2; 

2. APPROVE the Private Sector Housing Policy 2016 – 2019 attached at 
Appendix 1.

 
 

223



31. MONITORING THE GRANT ALLOCATIONS TO COMMUNITY & 
VOLUNTARY ORGANISATIONS - REPORTED ACHIEVEMENTS 
2015/2016

The Head of Community Services submitted a report that informed members of 
the monitoring findings of the 2015/16 grants programme.

Cllr Simm, Board Member for Culture and Communities presented the report.  
She explained that we currently have an increased demand for community 
grants but a shrinking grants budget. People are aware that there is less money 
available and are collaborating ie joint bidding. She said that people in Oxford 
were very good at responding to need and there were lots of people across the 
city wanting to help which the Council needed to support.

The social and economic geography of Oxford is changing  with the County 
Council cutting services ie children centres closing have increased need in that 
area.

Cllr Simms explained that recommendation 2 was aspiration at the moment but 
officers are doing a lot of partnership work. However we need to get more 
strategic about it. 

Cllr Brown asked what would be the impact on the city of lost EU funding?  The 
Board agreed the need to record the organisations who receive EU funding and 
to remind the government of their promise to maintain funding. 

Cllr Tanner said it was important for Oxford to retain its international links and 
money should be put into twining associations and European groups. The 
Council should look at creating an Eastern European twin.
Cllr Simm replied that the Communities team was actively engaging with the 
polish community and making sure they had the services they need.

The City Executive Board resolves to: 

1. NOTE the results of the grant monitoring, the positive impact the community 
and voluntary sector is making in the city.

2. WORK with partners to understand the issues facing the community and 
voluntary sector in greater depth so we are better able to target our support 
where it is most needed and will have the greatest impact. 

32. REVIEW OF LORD MAYORS DEPOSIT GUARANTEE SCHEME

The Head of Housing and Property submitted a report which detailed changes to 
the Lord Mayor’s Deposit Guarantee Scheme in anticipation of legislative 
changes and to boost positive outcomes for vulnerable persons.

224



Cllr Rowley, Executive Member for Housing presented the report.  He said the 
scheme had been declining in effectiveness because of the increasing cost of 
housing. The deposit scheme is autonomous from the housing budget and has 
been increased so it can sustain itself. Loans are charged at 0% interest. The 
scheme will be advertised at Shelter but he encouraged members to let people 
know about it. 

The Private Rented Sector Team Leader said the pilot would show how the 
scheme goes, he had spoken to Premier estate agents and had been told that 
some landlords might take it but because of the housing demand, they do not 
need housing need tenants. 

The City Executive Board resolved to: 

1. AGREE the enhanced one year pilot offer to landlords, as set out in this 
report, to help increase the number of low income non-statutory homeless 
households to find property in the private rented sector.

2. DELEGATE any further minor changes to the scheme to the Head of Housing 
and Property, including whether to adopt the approach piloted in future, 
following an evaluation of the pilot. 

 

33. AWARD OF GOODS AND SERVICE CONTRACT: TO DELIVER CIVIL 
ENGINEERING PLANT & NRSWA QUALIFIED LABOUR HIRE

The Head of Direct Services has submitted a report which detailed that the City 
Executive Board delegated responsibility to the Executive Director, Community 
Services, to the award a new contract for the Civil Engineering Plant and 
NRSWA (New Roads and Streetworks Act) qualified labour hire to the Council.

Cllr Turner, Board Member for Finance, Asset Management and Public Health 
presented the report. He explained that the Council had found local contractors 
with the flexibility to cope with peaks and low periods. 

The Board asked for a report once the contract had been agreed

The City Executive Board resolved to GRANT delegated authority to the 
Executive Director, Community Service to award a new contract for the provision 
of Civil Engineering Plant and NRSWA qualified labour hire to the Council 
following the completion of a tender process. 
 

34. ITEMS RAISED BY BOARD MEMBER
None

35. MINUTES

225



The Board resolved to APPROVE the minutes of the meeting held on 16 June 
2016 as a true and accurate record.

The meeting started at 5.00 pm and ended at 6.30 pm

226



Document is Restricted

227

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	8 Headington Neighbourhood Plan
	Appendix 1 - Headington_Neighbourhood_Area
	Appendix 2-1 - Consultation Statement
	Appendix 2-1a HNF Consultation Statement
	Appendix 2-1b Consultation Statement - Annex 1 - Community Engagement Strategy
	Appendix 2-1c Consultation Statement - Annex 2 - I&O Consultation Report
	Appendix 2-1d Consultation Statement - Annex 3 - Draft Plan Consultation Responses
	Appendix 2-1d1 - email responses
	Appendix 2-1d2
	Appendix 2-1d3 - Online responses
	Appendix 2-1d4 Public events comments
	Appendix 2-1d5 - twitter
	Appendix 2-1d6 - character assessments

	Appendix 2-1e Consultation Statement - Annex 4 - SC Minutes
	Appendix 2-1f Consultation Statement - Annex 5
	OXFORD CITY COUNCIL – HEADINGTON DRAFT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN – RESPONSE ON BEHALF OF THAMES WATER UTILITIES LTD

	Appendix 2-1g Consultation Statement - Appendix 1 - Letter sent to stakeholders
	Appendix 2-1h Consultation Statement - Appendix 2 - List of Organisations

	Appendix 2-2 - Draft Plan
	Appendix 2-2a Draft Plan
	Appendix 2-2b Draft Plan - Appendix A - List of Green Spaces in Headington
	Appendix 2-2c Draft Plan - Appendix B - Biodiversity Enhancement Template

	Appendix 2-3 Basic Conditions Statement
	Appendix 2-3b Basic Conditions Statement - Annex A - SEA and HRA Screening Statement
	Appendix 3 Project Timetable HEADINGTON NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
	Neigh Plan Post Submission

	Appendix 4 Risk Register
	Headington Neighbourhood Plan 


	9 Further Loan Facility to Low Carbon Hub IPS
	10 Minutes
	12 Confidential Appendix_  Loan for the Carbon Hub



